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I GOMPANY PROFILE

TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. s.
(hereinafter “Tf¥inecké Zelezarny”,
“TZ” or the “Company”), was founded
in 1839 and for more than 180

years it has been a successor to

the long tradition of metallurgical
production in T&3in Silesia. The

sole shareholder of Tf¥inecké
Zelezarny today MORAVIA STEEL

a. s. (referred to as “MS”). Tfinecké
Zelezarny is the largest crude steel
producer with domestic capital and
since 2009, has held the largest
share of domestic steel production.
The corporate mission “Together
for the Generations to Come”
clearly describes the long-term
relationship of T¥inecké Zelezarny
with its surrounding region, the
co-responsibility for the continuous
improvement of the environment in
its vicinity and the effort to improve
the quality of life of its inhabitants.

Annual production of the ironworks
reaches around 2.5 million tonnes of
steel and the main product portfolio
consists of long rolled products —

wire rod, sections, special bar steel,
drawn steel, rails including railway
superstructure accessories, wide steel,
seamless tubes and semis. Additional
products include coke and by-products
resulting from production, further
artificial compact aggregates and
granulated slag.

Tfinecké Zelezdrny is an integrated
production plant that includes
operations from coke production to the
final hot-rolled steel product. The
coke-chemical production plant
includes two coke-oven batteries and
a pulverised coal injection (PCI) into
the blast furnace hearth. The produced
coke and the pulverised coal are used
in the plant’s own blast furnaces
together with the sinter charge, which
has been prepared in two sinter plants.
More than 98% of Tfinec steel is
produced in the BOF converter plant,
on the basis of oxygen refining of iron.

GENERAL SECTION 04



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

The BOF plant is equipped with
complete ladle metallurgy enabling
chemical and thermal homogenisation,
additional alloying as well as vacuum
treatment. The BOF steel is largely cast
in two machines for the continuous
casting of blooms and billets. Steel is
also produced in the EAF steel plant.
Blooms, billets and to a smaller extent
ingots from steel plants form a charge
for the rolling mill plants in T¥inec

— a rolling mill for blooms and heavy
profiles, medium section mill, rolling
mill for wire rod and light sections - as
well as for the tube mill in Ostrava, for
the universal strip mill in Bohumin, the
steel drawing plant in Staré Mésto or
for the billet mill located in Kladno. The
accompanying products, resulting from
metallurgical production, are processed
into artificial normal weight aggregate
and further construction material

at the secondary raw material plant.
Metalliferous waste goes back to the
closed metallurgical cycle.

Throughout its history, Tfinecké
Zelezdrny has produced more than
180 million tonnes of steel. Our
products have been placed on the
domestic market as well as bought by
customers all over the world. More
than half of the annual production of
high-quality steel products bearing
the trademark of T¥inecké Zelezarny —
three hammers in a circle — has been
directed to customers from more than
60 countries worldwide.

The Company's commitment to
sustainable development is reflected in
its social, economic and environmental
responsibility and is an integral part
of the company culture and strategy of
Tfinecké Zelezarny. In the long term,
the Company has devoted considerable
efforts to improve the state of the
environment in its surroundings.
Extensive Modernisation investment
projects aim not only to make
production more efficient, but also to
ecologise many production facilities.

I COMPANY PROFILE
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MATERIAL FLOWS AND TECHNOLOGY
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OUR STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK

TOGETHER FOR
THE GENERATIONS TO COME

PROGRESSIVE
COMPANY BASED ON
THE STEELMAKING

TRADITION W

S
S QUALITY
= THROUGH

THE AGES

® .
Client orientation \\\\\\\\\\
"Our customer is our partner” GITI
Alliance mind-set A
based on mutual trust Partnershlp Technology

"Create partner relations
inside as well 3s outside
our company”

communication, sharing knowledge and experience
"Every idea we keep for oursevelves is useless”

Iy,
/)
",

Z,

Awareness of common responsibility for the company success
"There is no whole without parts"

SUSTAINABLE

DEVELOPMENT OF PRODUCTS
AND SERVICES WHILE
APPLYING THE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY PRINCIPLES

Anticipation, innovation
"Think in advance, search
and use new solutions”

Continuous improvement of
processes and perfomances
"Always and everywhere, there
is something to improve"

COMPANY PROFILE

GENERAL SECTION
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The consolidation group (hereinafter referred to as "TZ Group") consists of
TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. s. together with the following subsidiaries and
associated companies:

- ENERGETIKA TRINEC, a. s. — supplier of the whole spectrum of energies
and energy services — electricity, process steam, heat, heating gases,
compressed and blown air, utility and potable water.

- Sléva’.rny Trinec, a. s. — manufacturer of castings from steel, cast iron
and non-ferrous metals.

- - VUHZ a.s. - special metallurgical production and supply of automation
'; technologies for the metallurgical industry.

(=]

= - Sroubarna Kyjov, spol. s r. 0. - manufacturer of fasteners - bolts, nuts,
: q 0 F | I_ E U F T H E special fasteners and forgings of a similar nature.

- Strojirny a stavby T¥inec, a. s. - custom engineering production of
technological units and weldments, including machining on CNC machines;

q 0 U P turnkey industrial and civil constructions, road construction.
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4 - ,2METALURGIA“ S. A. — manufacturer of drawn wire, which is further treated
by galvanizing and pickling.

- ,,D&D* Drdtaru Zrt. - manufacture of cold-drawn wire and strands for
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prestressed reinforcement for use mainly in the construction and mining
industries; manufacture of steel fibres for concrete floors.

Il PROFILE OF THE GONSOLIDATION GROUP i LR 08
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— ZDB DRATOVNA a. s. — drawing plant for unpatented and patented wire,
steel cords, rope mill, spring and wire production.

- HZP a. s. — manufacturer of helical, leaf and parabolic springs.
- SV servisni, s. r. 0. - energy services, construction and installation work.

- Ret&zdrna a. s. - production of a wide range of length chains for various
applications.

— REFRASIL, s. r. 0. — refractory materials for lining of metallurgical facilities
and refractory building materials.

— BOHEMIA RINGS s. r. 0. — precision engineering components, bearing rings
for wind power plants.

— VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, a. s. — isostatically pressed ceramics for

the control and protection of steel flow in the continuous casting process
in metallurgical plants.

GENERAL SECTION
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KEY
PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS
2017-2021

comPany INDICATORS

PIG IRON PRODUCTION

CRUDe STeeL PRODUCTION

OF WHICH coNTINuousS casTinGs

SaLes OF ROLLED PRODUCTS INGLUDING STEEL

TOTaL Revenues

InCome FROM SaLes OF PRODUCTS, GOODS ano SERVIGES

EXPORT SHaRe OF SaLes OF ROLLeD PRODUCTS, INCLUDING
Semi-FiniSHen PRODUCTS

TOTAL COSTS EHCLUDING INCOMeE TaH

NETPROFITOR LOSS

NETTOTaL aSSers

GROSS TanGisLe FIHeD aSSers

PROVISIONS aGaINST TANGIBLE FIHeD aSSers
EQUITY

CaPITaLInvesSTMents

OTHER GaPITAL INCLUDING OTHER LIABILITIES
EMPLOYEES - aVeRAGE RecaLCuLaTen Heancount
AVeRaGe monTHLY wacGe

uniT
RT
HT
HT
RT
CZK MIL.
CZK MIL.

%

CZK MIL.
CZK MIL.
CZK MIL.
CZK MIL.
CZK MIL.
CZK MIL.
CZK MIL.
CZK MIL.
PERSONS
CZK/PERson

2017
2099
2528
2424
2333

36 807
35859

66.2

35118
1424
35399
38497
23118
25796
2697
9643
7029
31043

2018
2108
2583
2471
2375
41750
40496

67.0

37673
3334
38943
39925
2424
27890
1710
11053
7115
39021

2019
2045
2508
2430
2395

40786
38405

66.2

40101
610
39690
41935
25442
28500
2195”
11190
7062
36184

2020 2021
2107 1943
258l 2400
2517 2294

2360 2288

39352 50953
3014 43715
674 67.7
38822 49340
469 1306
39487 41769
42908 44013
26573 27469
28969 30276

1275 1663
10617 11494
7010 6878

36778 38303

* WITHOUT SUBSIDIES

—

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2017-2021
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I
TZ GROUP INDICATORS UNIT

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
INGOme FRoOM SaLes OF PRODUCTS, GOODS anb SERVICES CZK ML, 45319 51820 49809 45700 56727
NETTOTaLassers CZKMIL. 40648 44868 45305 45357 48695
NETTanGiBLe FIKeD asSets CZKMiIL. 21922 23543 24413 24259 24205
EQuITY CZKMIL. 27935 30389 30990 31399 33595
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT OR LOSS BHCLUDING MINORITY INTERESTS CZKMIL. 1561 3666 646 436 2254
FOREIGN equITy INCLUDING aCCRUALS CZK MIL. 12324 14197 14027 13674 14792

—
lIl KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2017-2021 GENERAL SEGTION |
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CONSOLIDATED

UPERVISORY

- DIRECTORS

JARD AND BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

CHalrRman
1STVIGE-CHalRman
2nD vice-CHalRman
MemBeRr

MemBeR

MemBeRr

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHalRman
1STVIGE-CHalRman
2ND vice-CHalRman
MemBer

MemseR

TOMAS CHRENEH
Jan MODER
EVZEN BALHO
J0ZEF BLASKO
JanakanTorova
MARCEL PIELESZ

Jan CZUDex

CesLav Mare
IHENRYK HUCZALA
RADOMIRA PEHARHOVE
V0 ZIZHa

—
IV SUPERVISORY BOARD AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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To our customers, partners and
employees.

In evaluating the past year of 2021,

we must also take into account the
previous year, which caught us by
surprise with a series of unprecedented
measures caused by the SARS-CoV-2
pandemic. This has further complicated
an already difficult situation in the
steel industry that has persisted since
20109.

After five years of negotiations, the UK
has left the European Union, leading
to a series of official and logistical
problems despite careful preparation
by companies trading with the UK. The
biggest complications are currently
being experienced in Northern
Ireland, which is once again becoming
a neuralgic point. Fortunately,

our business with the UK has not
suffered any major shocks as we have
continuously modified our product
portfolio since the Brexit referendum
result was announced.

A significant phenomenon of the past
year has been the ongoing coronavirus
pandemic, which has had a major
impact on life and business in every
country in the world. The first quarter
of last year was marked by a rapid
increase in illnesses, hospitalisations
and, unfortunately, deaths caused by
the coronavirus. Companies in the
TZ-MS Group have not been
significantly affected by the pandemic,
thanks in particular to a number of
measures we have introduced above
and beyond government regulations.
In addition, we set up a company
vaccination centre for our employees,
which was in operation from April to
August last year and then for booster
dose re-vaccination from last November
until this February. I would therefore
like to thank the medical staff of AGEL
Tfinec-Podlesi Hospital, without whose
help we could not have succeeded.

—
U INTRODUCTORY WORD OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD CHAIRMAN
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The global economy was hit by

a chip shortage during the past year,
which brought complications in the
automotive industry, for example.
Another negative phenomenon was the
extreme increase in the prices of input
materials and raw materials, which rose
to several times what we were used to
in previous years. All this culminated
in a sharp rise in energy prices at the
end of the year, due to the steep rise in
the price of emission allowances, which
was one of the impetuses for the start
of inflation. Although we managed to

eliminate the unfavourable conditions
thanks to a sophisticated business
strategy, the company's performance
was undoubtedly affected.

During the past year, we invested
almost CZK 1.7 billion. The largest
investments were made at the turn of
last summer and autumn. We managed
to complete the reconstruction of

the Blast Furnace No. 6 several days
ahead of schedule. Another important
investment, the reconstruction of the
Continuous Casting Machine No. 1,

enabled us to cast round blocks of the
largest 600 mm diameter on all casting
streams. The joy of these achievements
was unfortunately dashed by the
failure of the hot blast stove in the Blast
Furnace No. 4, which resulted in steel

production falling below planned levels
at the end of the year.

Among the current events taking
place on the international scene, it is
necessary to mention the war conflict
in Ukraine and the related persistent
uncertainty regarding the supply of

—
U INTRODUGTORY WORD OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD CHRIRMAN
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raw materials, especially iron ore. We
have therefore immediately started
working on strengthening the spectrum
of ore suppliers and have adjusted our
production processes in order to react
promptly to the development of the war
conflict.

Dear friends,

despite the challenging conditions last
year, we continued to maintain our
position as the largest steel producer of
steel and rolled material in the Czech
Republic, with virtually every second
ton of Czech steel produced in T¥inec.

Furthermore, I am pleased to report
that TZ's after-tax profit reached CZK
1.306 billion. For the consolidated
result, the value is CZK 2.254 billion.
All of this proves that we have
appropriately chosen our product chain
strategy.

Dear customers, partners
and employees,

on behalf of the Supervisory Board

and the Board of Directors of our joint-
stock company, I would like to thank
you for the quality cooperation, work
commitment, inventiveness and loyalty,
as well as for the support we received
from all of you in the past financial
year. We were able to cope with the
difficult situation we faced during 2021
thanks to you. For this, I would like to
express my sincere thanks to all of you.
I believe that in the future, Tfinecké
Zelezarny will continue to be one of

the leading companies in the Czech
Republic and our products will continue
to be sought after by customers from all
over the world.

7

Tomas Chrenek

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

%_

U INTRODUGTORY WORD OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD CHRIRMAN
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
REPORT

DEVELOPMENT OF THE
MACROECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
AND COMPETITION

Gross domestic product in the Czech
Republic grew by 3.6% last year, driven
by the mitigation of the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic in the summer
period. Industrial production returned
to pre-2019 numbers, but problems
persist in the automotive industry,
mainly due to shortages of electronic
components.

Measures taken to combat the spread
of a new type of coronavirus known as
SARS-CoV-2 and their related effects
had less impact on the domestic
economy than in the previous year.
This was also due to the impact of
vaccination, as approximately 65%

of the country's population received
vaccines against COVID-19.

The overall economic situation in

the Czech Republic was also affected
by the situation in the financial
markets, where uncertainty about
future developments persisted and
asset prices fell. Towards the end of
the year, the Czech Republic was hit by

the energy crisis, with sharp increases
in the prices of electricity, gas and oil
products. This crisis was one of the
causes of the Czech crown's highest
inflation since 2008.

Crude steel production in the Czech
Republic rose by 7.9 percent year-
on-year to 4.82 million tonnes. Steel
production in the EU, this time
excluding the UK, which left the EU
on 1 January 2021, was 152.5 million
tonnes, an increase of 15.4 per cent
compared to 2020. Despite the decline
in crude steel production, Tf¥inecké
Zelezarny maintained its position as
the largest steel producer in the Czech
Republic, a position it has held since
20009.

Total foreign trade in metallurgical
products from all over the world in
relation to the Czech Republic recorded
an increase in imports last year. There
was also a slight increase in exports of
both long as well as flat products.

World crude steel production reached
1,950.5 million tonnes in 2021, with
a growth of 3.7% compared to 2020.

—

ul

BOARD OF DIREGTORS REPORT
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It increased in 2021 in all regions of
the world except China, Iran, Hungary,

Indonesia, Qatar, Malaysia and Belarus.

Asia's annual crude steel production
reached 1,375.6 million tonnes, up
0.8% from 2020. China produced
1,032.8 million tonnes, down 3.0% from
the previous year. China's share of
world production fell to 52.9%. India
produced 118.1 million tonnes of crude
steel in 2021, with an increase of 17.8%
compared to 2020, maintaining its
position as the world's second largest
steel producer. Production in Japan
reached 96.3 million tonnes in 2021,
up 15.8% year-on-year. South Korea
produced 70.6 million tonnes of crude
steel, up 5.2% from 2020.

Crude steel production in North
America reached 117.8 million tonnes
in 2021, 16.6% more than in 2020.
The US increased steel production

to 86.0 million tonnes, 18.3% more
than in 2020.

In 2021, the EU27 produced
152.5 million tonnes of crude steel, up
15.4% on 2020. The largest EU producer,

Germany, produced 40.1 million

tonnes, up 12.3%, while Italy produced
24.4 million tonnes, up 19.7% year-
on-year. Spain produced 14.0 million
tonnes, 27.7% more than the previous
year, while France produced 13.9 million
tonnes of crude steel, up 20.3% year-on-
year. The EU27's share of global crude
steel production increased from 7.0%

in 2020 to 7.8% today.

The CIS countries produced 105.6
million tonnes of crude steel in 2021, an
increase of 5.6% y-o0-y. Russia produced
76.0 million tonnes of crude steel,

up 6.1% y-o-y. Ukraine's production
progressed by 3.6% to 21.4 million
tonnes.

Annual crude steel production in South
America reached 45.6 million tonnes in
2021, with an increase of 17.8% relative
to 2020. Brazil reported a volume figure
of 36.0 million tonnes, up 14.7% over the
previous year.

The Middle East produced 41.2 million
tonnes in 2021, up 1.2% from the
previous year. Iran recorded a 1.8%
decline to 28.5 million tonnes.

—
Ul BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT
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The European industry showed a recovery
in production in all sectors in 2021,
despite the persistence of the COVID-19
pandemic and production cutbacks in

the automotive sector due to a shortage

of automotive parts. Thus, automotive
production showed a growth of only 2.7%
compared to a fall of 20.3% in the previous
year. The construction sector is one of

the main pillars of steel consumption

and recorded a growth of 6.7% in 2021.
The engineering sector had a more
progressive development of 11.4% and
tube manufacturing 12.3%.

PRODUCTION AND POSITION ON
THE MARKET

Despite all the adverse circumstances,
the outlook for the coming years is
positive, with a gradual recovery
expected in all key steel-using sectors.

Output growth in the EU steel industry
sectors is forecasted to reach 4.0% in 2022
and to continue to grow in 2023 (2.4%).
The high price of emission allowances, the
sharp increase in energy prices, the trade
war between China and the European
Union, and the war between Russia and
Ukraine are the main risk factors.

Ul BOARD OF DIREGTORS REPORT
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Crude steel production in the Czech
Republic reached 4.82 million tonnes
in 2021, up 7.9% on the previous year.
The volume of pig iron production
increased by 9.4% to 3.87 million
tonnes. The forecast for 2022 is for
production growth of up to 6%.

Tfinecké Zelezarny’s share of domestic
crude steel production fell to 50% in
2021. Production totalled 2.4 million
tonnes of crude steel and fell by 7.0%
year-on-year, mainly due to the repair
of blast furnace No 6.

TZ has modern technological equipment
and is preparing an integrated
transformation project based on the
use of renewable energy, a change

in steel production technology and

the greening of primary production.
The strengths of the company and

its subsidiaries include the high
expertise, knowledge and experience
of the employees, which has long been
capitalised in the entire production
and technological flow of the TZ Group.
In terms of quality, TZ ranks among
the leading European producers of
long steel products, especially in the

Ul BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

production of SBQ steel, wire rod, bright
steel and finished products. The high
quality of products and reliability of
supply find permanent application in
the European market, especially in

the automotive, engineering, railway
and construction industries. Tfinecké
zelezarny is the only producer of steel
products in the Czech Republic that

has expanded through acquisitions

in the last twenty years. A number of
trading companies belonging to the TZ
Group increase the value of the primary
produced long steel products by their
finishing in their own capacities, thus
significantly extending the Group's own
production chains.

The volume of sales of rolled goods
and semi-finished products reached
2.288 million tonnes last year, of
which 69.3% was exported and 30.7%
was delivered to domestic customers.
The most important export countries
are Germany, Italy, Slovakia and
Poland. Sales of steel products
finished in TZ subsidiaries increased
by 4.8% compared to the previous
year to 306 kt.

GENERAL SECTION
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The main product is wire rod, which
accounted for 42.1% of total sales in
2021. Total sales of wire rod last year
amounted to 962 kt, of which 71.6%
were placed on foreign markets. As

a result, the drop in pig iron production
associated with the shutdown of blast
furnace No. 6 was reflected in the full-
year decline in wire rod production.
Thanks to the investment in a new
drawing and phosphating line for wire
production, sales of higher value-added
products are increasing. TZ subsidiaries

L

processed and added value to a total of
249 kt of wire rod. Rolled and further
finished wire accounts for the largest
share of production in the TZ Group and
represents the largest customer and
product portfolio.

The sales volume in the bar and section
steel range reached 536 kt, of which
62.9% was exported. The sales of bright
steel increased from 80 kt to 91 kt
compared to the previous year and
contributed partly to the growth in

sales of higher value-added products.
The volume of sales of bar and section
steel processed by TZ subsidiaries
reached 35 kt. Bar and section steel is
mainly recovered in the form of flexible
parts used in the automotive industry.

Sales of semi-finished products fell to
320 kt last year, with lower sales related
to the shutdown and modernisation

of the continuous casting machine.

The portfolio of semifinished products
comprised 63% of cast blooms, 16% of

—
BOARD OF DIREGTORS REPORT
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rolled blooms and 21% of rolled
billets. Sales of ingots and rolled
slabs accounted for a negligible 0.2%
of semi-finished sales. Exports of

180 kt accounted for 56 % of total
sales of semi-finished products. In
2021, the TZ Group further processed
20 kt of semi-finished products, most
of which were round blooms for the
subsequent production of rolled steel
rings. The largest volume of steel
rings goes to the wind energy and
engineering segments. The TZ Group
is thus partly contributing to meeting
climate targets that lead to an increase
in the share of electricity generated
from renewable sources.

TRINECKE ZELEZARNY IS
THE ONLY MANUFACTURER
OF RAILS AND RAILWAY
ACCESSORIES IN THE CZECH
REPUBLIC

Ul BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

Tfinecké Zelezarny is the only
manufacturer of rails and railway
accessories in the Czech Republic. Last
year, it supplied 41 kt of these products
to the domestic market. Of the total
production of 235 kt, a total of 124 kt
of rails and railway accessories were
exported to the European Union and
70 kt to other countries. They were
exported to the USA, Canada, Egypt,
Israel and other export destinations.
Total exports for the evaluation period
reached 83%.

Sales of seamless tubes recorded a slight
increase to 92.8 kt (5.6%). Seamless tube
exports reached 81 kt last year, 90% of
which went to the European Union mar-
ket. The domestic market accounted for
12.6% of total sales. Seamless tubes are
used in the construction, engineering,
oil and energy industries.

Sales of the wide flat steel produced by
the universal strip mill in Bohumin
showed a volume of 43 kt in 2021,
mainly in the range of structural steels,
of which 36.4 kt was exported to EU
countries. Deliveries to the domestic
market amounted to 5.5 kt.
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SALES OF LONG PRODUCTS 20193-2021

SaLes (ronnes)

2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021
WIRE ROD 316 205 293612 273154 675054 723 351 689204 991259 1016 963 962 358
semis 170537 159333 139836 191746 201688 180412 362283 361021 320248
PROFILES & SecTions 204422 181985 198 852 318339 360003 337442 52276l 541988 536294
RaiLS* 41527 54618 41158 219468 170935 194044 260995 225553 235202
TuBes 8 24| 10703 1713 84935 77128 81065 93176 8783l 92768
WibDe STeeL 4485 4600 5450 37533 37149 37491 42018 41749 42941
DRAWN STeeL 25190 22529 28946 50328 57052 62427 75518 7958l 91373
DRAWN WIRES 3684 2874 238l 3121 2791 4361 6805 5665 6742
T0TalL 774291 730254 701490 1580524 1630097 1586 436 2354815 2360351 2287926

*SaLe OF RAILS INCLUDING RAILWAY SUPERSTRUCTURE ACCESSORIES
TRINECKE ZELEZARNY EXPORT TERRITORIES

EUROPEAn union 91.7 96.2 90.6
- OF THIS GeRMany 27.2 31.3 26.3
- OF THIS SLOVaAKIa 15.] 13.7 14.9
-OFTHIS ITALY 14.6 16.2 16.0
-OFTHIS POLAND 1.6 10.7 12.0
RESTOF EUROPE 0.5 0.6 43
AMmeRica 70 2.7 4]
AFRICA & AUSTRaLIa 0.1 0. 0.3
ASla 0.7 0.4 0.7
TOTAL 100.0 100.0 100.0
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INVESTMENTS AND MODERNISATION
The technical development project

plan for 2021 is a part of the business
programme of Tfinecké Zelezdrny. Our
investments were focused on the resto-
ration and modernisation of existing pro-
duction facilities, environmental projects,
cost reduction projects of robotisation
and automation of production processes.

A total of CZK 1,697 million was
invested, of which CZK 34 million were
subsidies for environmental projects.

In 2021, 28 running projects were

ongoing. The most significant were:

— Reconstruction of Blast Furnace No. 6,

— Restoration of the guiding stool
frames of the continuous casting
plant 1 + 600 mm diameter,

— Modernisation of Hot Blast Stove
No. 62,

— Scrap yard crane No. 1,

— New peeling line,

— STAKU line No. 2,

— Modernisation of pre-rolling and
middle order of the casting line,

— Screwdriving machine,

— Reconstruction of surface defect
measurement on a quadrate line,

— Quadrate line blasting machine.

A total of 25 new investment projects

have been launched. The most

significant of them are:

— Renewal of 270 t pouring crane
converters,

— Renewal of hydraulic stations 1 and 2
of Continuous Casting Machine No. 2,

— Renewal of the stool converters of the
Continuous Casting Machine No. 1,

— Blast Furnace drilling and plugging
machine of Blast Furnace No. 4,

— INNOFREIGHT stationary unloading
equipment,

— Renewal of ASC stools of the
continuous light section mill,

— Modernisation and reconstruction of
the milling cutter line,

— Heat treatment of rails,

— Automated vertical storage system-
2nd and 3rd stage,

— Quality assurance of the Great
Mannesmann.

In 2021, two ecological projects were
continued using grants from the
State Environmental Fund of the
Czech Republic and ecological action
was launched within the operational
program Enterprise and Innovation
for Competitiveness (energy saving).
In total, CZK 132 million was invested

into environmental actions in 2021, of

which CZK 98 million comprised the

investment funds of Tfinecké Zelezarny
and CZK 34 million were from subsidies.

These most significant actions are:

— De-dusting equipment for the
collection and processing the mixture
for blast furnace sinter production,

— Modernisation of media preheating,

— Desorbers of continuous light section
mill.

INVESTMENTS AND MODERNISATION
- THE TZ GROUP COMPANIES

Each company in the TZ Group provides
a Technical Development Plan, which

is an integral part of its Business
Programme. The investment funds

are directed mainly to the fields of
further modernisation and expansion
of production capacities, ecology,
minimisation of manual labour by the
form of robotics — automation as well
as increasing the level of occupational
health and safety at workplaces.

Investments of the TZ Group companies
reached CZK 633 million in 2021.

—
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TECHNOLOGY AND RESEARCH
Technological activities in T¥inecké
Zelezarny are focused on the realisation
of the strategic goals of the Company
leading to satisfying demanding
customer requirements. It means
that by controlling the technological
process throughout the production
flow, the require quality parameters
of manufactured semi-finished
products are ensured.

An important factor is the continuous
monitoring of customer requirements
and process parameters, validation,
integration and implementation of
modern technologies and procedures,
which not only significantly reduce
production and processing costs or the
potential environmental burden, but
also significantly increase the added
value of final products, which make
Tfinecké Zelezdrny a major producer
in Central Europe.

The field of technology is governed

by internal technological regulations
and measures. It includes the entire
material production flow from pig iron

and steel production and its processing

.
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in rolling mills, to a high level of
mechanical or hot final treatment

of the product. The technological
regulations and measures mentioned
above are continuously updated

with regard to modernisation of
technological processes or innovation
of production facilities.

We continually guarantee to our clients
the product quality through established
quality management tools such as the
"Quality Plan" and the "Continuous
Improvement Programme" driven by
the "Quality Objective". With the help of
these special-purpose tools and close
cooperation with the customer, not
only the percentage of non-conforming
production is reduced, but also the
quality parameters of the final products
are increased, which ultimately leads

to mutual satisfaction. The close
cooperation with key customers is then
professionally managed by technical
"Quality Services".

Technological activities are also
focused on improving the quality of
products and semi-finished products,
also in cooperation with other

companies in the TZ-MS Group; the aim
is also new top products.

One of the key tools of permanent
production quality control in conjunc-
tion with customer requirements are
the principal production programs for
which a comprehensive report is pre-
pared and that are negotiated every
year:

— Steel grades for Billet Mill in Kladno,

— Tube production,

— Steel grades from EAF,

— Steel bars from Continuous Light
Section Mill and Medium Section Mill
for the automotive industry,

— Screw steel,

— Spring steel,

— Drawn steel,

— Chain steel,

— Bearing steel,

— Continuously cast semis for direct
deliveries and axle steel,

— Rails,

— Wire rod from Continuous Wire
Rod Mill,

— Waste management and by-products.
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Research and development in T¥inecké
Zelezarny are very closely connected
with production technology and focuses
on continuous innovative solutions of
technological processes within indi-
vidual plants and facilities. The goal

of individual solutions is to constantly
increase the quality parameters of steel
products, develop new technological
processes, develop the product portfolio
and increase productivity. Given to the
global trend, due attention is currently
being paid to environmental aspects,
especially the energy intensity reduc-
tion of metallurgical production and
the reduction of the carbon footprint.
An important part of the research and
development department activities is
also the development of cooperation
with universities in the form of pro-
jects, such as long-term intersectoral
cooperation and the national compe-
tence centre. Long-term cooperation
has been established with the subsid-
iary company MATERIAL AND MET-
ALLURGICAL RESEARCH s.r.0., which
provides Tfinecké Zelezarny with
significant assistance, e. g. in modelling
metallurgical and forming processes.

In 2021, a total of 23 projects were
completed, of which 3 were solved in
accordance with the conditions of the
IATF 16949 automotive industry. A total
of 5 projects focused on the following
topics were completed:
— Development of the use of
metallurgical by-products,
— Development of quality indicators
and product portfolio of
screwdriving brands,
— Research on the formation of
structural changes and micro-purity
of steel along metallurgical processes.

In 2021, a total of 5 new projects

were implemented.

Currently solved projects specialise

in the following areas:

Rently solved projects specialise in the

following areas:

— Secondary raw materials processing,

— Sinter plants productivity,

— Development of heat treatment
procedures of steel products,

— Development of special steels at
electric arc furnaces,

— Detection of surface defects of casting
and rolling products,

— Development of coal charge
evaluation methodology,

— Initiation of surface defects during
the punching process,

— Implementation of the new
production process of products for the
automotive industry,

— Biomass utilisation during sinter
plant and blast furnace processes,

— Development of alternative charging
materials for blast furnaces,

— Development of technological nodes
for casting new types of ingots,

— Research on the initiation of internal
defects of product forming.

ENVIRONMENT

Changing and tightening
environmental legislation has
placed increased requirements on
the TZ Group in the evaluated year
2021 for its implementation into
practice. Despite the increase of the
administrative burden, the TZ Group
was able to successfully implement
the new legislative requirements
into its practice.

—
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Tfinecké Zelezarny provided
methodological guidance according
to the needs of the individual TZ
Group companies and consultancy
in the whole field of environmental
protection.

Air protection

Regular monitoring of all indicators
was carried out throughout the TZ
Group in the field of air protection in
accordance with the requirements of
legislation and valid permits.

Compared to 2020, there was a slight
year-on-year decrease in emissions of
solid pollutants, nitrogen oxides, sul-
phur dioxide and carbon monoxide.
This decrease is due to a year-on-year
decrease in the total volume of metal-
lurgical production.

EMISSIONS IN 2021 COMPARED T0 2020

The TZ Group pays great attention to
the impact on climate change and the
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions.

In 2021, greenhouse gas emissions
amounted to 2,532,658 tonnes of carbon
dioxide for the company's operations

in Tfinec and 43,832 tonnes of carbon
dioxide for the Billet Mill in Kladno.
The total amount of greenhouse gas
emissions from Tfinecké Zelezarny

in 2021 is 2,576,490 tonnes of carbon
dioxide, which represents a year-on-
year decrease of about 11% due to lower
year-on-year production, especially that
of pig iron.

The impact on climate change and

the search for and implementation of
measures to reduce or capture green-
house gases is given great attention in

Tfinecké Zelezarny. Tfinecké Zelezarny
is also an active participant in the
European greenhouse gas emissions
trading system, in accordance with
Directive 2003/87/EC of the European
Parliament and of the Council, and is
certified by the World Steel Association
as a contributing member in its efforts
to reduce CO, emissions.

Since 2016, the company has imple-
mented an energy management sys-
tem in accordance with the EN ISO
50001:2011 standard. The achieved
energy savings for the period 2016-
2021 represent a 144,964 t saving in CO,
emissions. Other measures to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions also include,
for example, the annual planting of
greenery or the maintenance of exten-
sive existing greenery, in which about

Year SOLID POLLUTANTS SULPHUR DIOKIDE NITROGEN ORIDES CarBON monoxine CarBON DIOKIDE
(T/9edR) (T/9edR) (T/9edR) (T/9edR) (T/9edR)

2020 2978 2176 708613 2868 242
2021 18 2842 1842 67393 2576 490
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100,000 tonnes of CO, are bound in the
long-term, as well as the purchase of
"green” electricity or the preparation
of projects for the production of elec-
tricity from renewable energy sources.
A challenging steel production tech-
nology transformation project is also
being prepared with the aim of further
significant decrease in CO, emissions
by 2030.

Water protection

The water purity protection is another
field that required meeting demanding
environmental requirements.

The amount of industrial wastewater
discharged into the OlSe watercourse
and its quality in 2021 shows a slight
increase compared to 2020. However,
the state of water management at
Tfinecké Zelezarny has stabilised in
the long run. The level of wastewater
pollution reaches a sustainable level
and meets the set limits of permitted
pollution.

During 2021, Tfinecké Zelezarny did
not cause any emergency situation that
would result in deterioration or threat
to the quality of groundwater or surface

Throughout the TZ Group, emphasis is water.
placed on the economic management of

water and the operation of closed water

circuits ensuring the recirculation of

industrial water.

POLLUTION DISCHARGED INTO WATER FLOWS IN 2021 COMPARED T0 2020

voLume OF waste UnDISSOLVeD C,-Cy DISSOLVED CHemicaL oryGen ToTaL
WareR susstance HYDROCARBONS INORGANIC SALTS | CONSUMPTION USING IRON
[m3/4YeaRl (T/YeaR) (T/9€eaR) (T/9€aR) | DICHROMATIC METHOD (T/9€eaR)
(T/9eaR)
2020 3761015 29.7 0.40 2066 64.2 3.2
2021 3693491 215 0.19 2089 62.5 3.0

GENERAL SECTION 28

Ul BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

Waste management

Waste management in the TZ Group

in 2021 was also carried out in full
compliance with the legislation in
force. Emphasis was placed not only on
the hierarchy of waste management
priorities, but also on the application of
the principles of circular economy.

Compared to the year 2020, which can
be considered a record year in terms of
long-term reduction of the amount of
waste in TZ, there was a 22% increase

in the production of waste of the "Other"

category in the assessed year 2021. The
hazardous waste production remained
at around 2020 levels.

Specifically, a total of 71,594 tonnes of
waste was generated in the evaluated
year in T¥inecké Zelezarny, of which
56,735 tonnes of waste in the “Other”
category and 14,859 tonnes of
hazardous waste.

The significant increase in waste

of “Other” category is related to

waste linings and refractories of

the metallurgical cycle or by non-
metallurgical processes. The reason of
the increase regarding this waste was
because of the higher rate of repairs of
production units associated with their
production.

VOLUME OF WASTE IN 2021 COMPARED T0 2020

YeaR STeeL PRODUCTION
(T/Yean)

PRODUCTION OF WasTe CaTeGORY “OTHERS”

PRODUCTION OF WasTe CaTeGORY “HaZarDouUS”

(T/984aR) (T/4eaR)
2020 2581443 14291
2021 2399872 14859
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Ecological investment projects
The following ecological investment
projects were completed in 2021:

— Modernisation of Hot Blast Stove
No. 62
Total costs: CZK 249 million
Environmental benefits: Reducing
CO2 emissions and achieving higher
heating efficiency,

— De-dusting equipment for the
collection and processing the
mixture for blast furnace sinter
production
Total costs: CZK 358 million
Environmental benefit: Reduction
of fugitive dust emissions,

— Modernisation of media
preheating
Total costs: CZK 89 million
Environmental benefit: Reduction
of noise pollution, reduction of coke
consumption,

— Desorbers of continuous light
section mill
Total costs: CZK 7 million
Environmental benefit: Reduce
energy consumption.

The total cost of completed and ongoing

environmental projects in 2021
amounted to CZK 290 million.

The following environmental projects
are planned to be launched in 2022
within the investment projects of
Tfinecké Zelezarny:

— Processing of secondary de-
dusting of the converter
steelworks
Planned total costs: CZK 10 million
Environmental benefit: Reduction of
waste production,

— Overburden de-dusting N4/
Aumund - Sinter Plant no. 1
Planned total costs: CZK 30 million
Environmental benefit:

Dust reduction of emissions

— De-dusting of bell-less charger of
Blast Furnaces 4 and 6
Planned total costs: CZK 38 million
Environmental benefit: Reduction
of fugitive dust emissions from both
blast furnaces,

— Iron-ore briquetting line
Planned total costs:

CZK 950 million

Environmental benefit: Blast Furnace
charge cold production without CO2
emissions and other pollutants,

— Modernisation and reconstruction
of the milling line
Planned total costs: CZK 170 million
Environmental benefit: The risk
of cooling liquid and contamination
of subsoil and groundwater to
be eliminate,

— Benzol station — heat exchanger
II. Stage
Planned total costs: CZK 26 million
Environmental benefit: Thermal
energy savings,

— Photovoltaics in Drawing
Mill Plant
Planned total costs: CZK 15 million
Environmental benefit: the
Earth’s climate protection by
generating electricity from
a renewable source.

Other ecological investment projects
with a positive impact on the
environment have been or are being
implemented also in companies of the
Tfinecké Zelezadrny Group.

—
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—

EMPLOYEES

The relationship between employees and
Tfinecké Zelezarny is based on openness
and mutual respect. Tfinecké Zelezarny
supports the development of its
employees and their career growth. The
basic principles of behaviour of Tfinecké
Zelezdrny, including the relationship

to employees, principles of corporate
culture and basic principles of Corporate
Social Responsibility (CSR) are set out

in the Code of Conduct of TRINECKE
ZELEZARNY, a. s., Social Responsibility
Policy. These principles are followed by
the Labour Code, which regulates the
obligations of employees, the Company
Collective Agreement, which enshrines
the legal and above-standard benefits of
employees, and other internal company
documentation that employees follow
when performing work duties and using
the benefits provided.

In order to ensure generational change
and address employee turnover,

as in previous years, attention was
paid to the acquisition of technically
qualified job seekers, not only among
graduates of technical high schools

Ul BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

and universities. However, recruitment
and promotion activities in 2021 were,

unfortunately, affected by the COVID-19
pandemic. As a result of measures
against the spread of the disease

taken by public authorities and private
entities, including T¥inecké Zelezarny,
recruitment and promotion activities
were reduced and many of them could
not take place at all.

Graduates of the technical fields of the
Secondary Vocational School of T¥i-
necké Zelezdrny found a job in T¥inecké
Zelezarny this year as well. The 19th run
of the trainee program for university
graduates was successfully completed
already in the previous year. Consid-
ering the current staff situation of the
individual departments, we decided to
postpone the start of the next run of
the trainee program to 2022. Coopera-
tion with schools of all levels, which is
traditionally focused primarily on the
support and promotion of technology,
technical and natural sciences, was also
affected by the ongoing epidemiological
situation and the impact of government
measures on education.
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As in previous years, emphasis was also
placed on employee training. Corporate
education is based on the principles of
personnel strategy, which is focused on
achieving the goals set by the overall
business strategy of Tfinecké Zelezarny.
With regard to demographic develop-
ment, securing a prepared and highly
qualified workforce will continue to play
a key role in ensuring the future devel-
opment of Tfinecké Zelezarny. Therefore,
the education policy is also integrated
into the company's personnel strategy.
In this context, the mission of educa-
tion is to ensure the qualification level
of employees in the whole spectrum of
professions. Training is an indefinite
process, where employees are trained

to maintain qualifications and further
develop in order to deepen and expand
their professional knowledge and skills,
which brings the company increased
efficiency and competitiveness.

Staff training in 2021 was again af-
fected by measures taken to prevent
the spread of COVID-19, which limited
the number of participants in training
sessions and prevented some training
events from taking place at all, which

resulted in a decrease in the percent-
age of qualification requirements. The
online form of training was used more
than in previous years, but it is cur-
rently not possible to apply it to most
courses in the field of vocational edu-
cation.

THE PLATFORM OF CORPORATE
ACADEMY ALLOWS
EMPLOYEES TO SHARE
KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERIENGE
WITH EACH OTHER

In spite of above-mentioned limitations,
the company managed draw resources
from European funds for selected
training courses. Within the project
of the Regional Chamber of Commerce
of the Moravian-Silesian Region,
which T¥inecké Zelezdrny joined in
mid-2020, two cycles of training were
implemented in 2021 to meet the
qualification requirements of "Future
Prosperity Manager" and "Future
Prosperity Master". Support for this

project is drawn on a de minimis basis,
which represents fully covered eligible
training costs. The project will be
completed in October 2022.

The Corporate Academy application

in the Lotus (IBM) Notes environment

is commonly used to provide internal
training for employees (on-the-job
training). The application is used by
lecturers for the preparation and
organisation of training, through which
records of past educational events and
acquired qualifications of employees
are systematically stored. This platform
also allows employees to share
knowledge and experience with each
other and discuss various topics.

The development of the planned
number of employees in 2021 was
influenced by minor organisational
changes in order to ensure production
of the required quality while
continuously increasing labour
productivity. On the other hand,

the actual number of employees

was negatively affected mainly by
turnover and absence, which resulted
in understaffing at some plants. In

—
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addition, the occupancy of individual
units was affected by sickness and
quarantine due to the SARS-CoV-2
virus.

Thus, in 2021, Tfinecké Zelezarny
achieved an actual annual recalculated
headcount of 6,878 employees.

The growth in average earnings for
2021 was agreed upon in the Enterprise
Collective Agreement at 1.6% of the
base growth and 4.0% for meeting the
projected result of the financial plan.
The achievement of the 2021 financial
result allowed for the fulfilment of this
defined growth and actual average
earnings of CZK 38,227, including on-
call pay of CZK 38,353, was achieved.

In addition to the statutory health
protection, T¥inecké Zelezarny also
provided a number of health prevention
activities in cooperation with the Czech
Industrial Health Insurance Company
in 2021 to support the health of
employees and adhere to the principles
of a healthy lifestyle. However, due

to the measures taken to prevent the
spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, these

activities took place to a lesser extent
than planned. These were mainly
rehabilitation reconditioning stays

in spas, outpatient rehabilitation and
additional reconditioning relaxation
care, including physical activities,
massages, relaxation procedures

and nutritional counselling. Vitamin
packages were provided to employees
at all workplaces. Employees could also
take advantage of free flu vaccinations.

Tfinecké Zelezarny Group companies,
as independent legal entities, are fully
responsible for their employees and for
the provision of all human resources.
For this purpose, they have appointed
their human resources representatives.
These representatives communicate
with the employees of TZ's Human
Resources and Compensation
Department, with whom they are able
to agree on the scope of cooperation,
particularly in the form of services
provided by Tfinecké Zelezarny

they can provide in this area. The
provision of such services to a mutually
agreed extent brings synergies to

TZ's subsidiaries, including savings for
its own employees.

In 2021, Tf¥inecké Zelezdrny recorded
a total of 30 occupational accidents
with incapacity for work longer than
3 calendar days. The frequency of
accidents at work was 0.44 accidents

at work per 100 employees per year.
Tfinecké Zelezdrny holds the "Safe
Company" award, which is granted by
the State Labour Inspection Office.

The health and safety management
systems implemented in individual
companies of the TZ Group are in most
cases identical to those in T¥inecké
Zelezarny, or show the same basic prin-
ciples, which stem, at the very least,
from the principle of full compatibility
with the requirements of Czech legisla-
tion in this area.

—
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MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

In order to pursue a business strategy
aimed at gradually increasing the share
of high-grade steel products, creating
and developing product chains, and
intensively exploiting assets while
increasing profitability, it is important
that the management system is of
critical importance. The efforts of

all employees are focused primarily
on increasing the added value of

long rolled products, which form the
majority of our production.

The basic management rules include

a linear organisational structure,
process and project management,

and a call for risk analyses in all
management subsystems. None of the
principles is applied independently,

the management is based on their
thoughtful combination. A performance
indicator system and regular reporting
system are set up to provide the
necessary feedback to define and
control the fulfilment of strategic goals.

In 2021 as well, we adopted a number of
measures in support of strategic goals
in all sectors of the Tfinecké Zelezarny
strategic framework (Partnership,
Technology, People, Management).

In 2021, the management system,
including information systems, did not
fundamentally change. SAP, Lotus (IBM)
Notes, ELVIS and Werkportal continue
to be the information base in Tfinecké
Zelezarny.

All trading companies in the TZ

Group have separately implemented
and certified management systems,
including the appointment of
representatives for these systems. All
companies have defended all system
certificates in 2021 and confirmed the
high and continuously developing level
of their management systems.

In the area of quality management,

in 2021 Tfinecké Zelezarny obtained

an extension of its qualification

for deliveries to the chains of the
automotive, railway and oil industries,
power engineering and to the regulated
sphere in the area of construction
products. Production sites in Tfinec,
Staré Mésto and Kladno were separately
recertified for the automotive industry
in accordance with requirements of the
IATF 16949 Automotive Standard.

ALL COMPANIES IN THE TZ
GROUP HAVE SEPARATELY
IMPLEMENTED AND CERTIFIED
MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

—
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As part of the corporate social
responsibility of Tfinecké Zelezarny
towards the environment and
stakeholders in the region, the

energy management system has been
recertified within the scope of EN

ISO 50001 (certified by a third party)
for production sites in Tf¥inec and in
remote production units in Kladno,
Ostrava, and Staré Mé&sto. In the area
of social responsibility, cooperation
with an external company — evaluator
continued in 2021, which independently
evaluated the CSR level in Tfinecké
Zelezarny. In this evaluation (of the
Ecovadis system) Tfinecké Zelezarny
achieved an improvement compared to
previous years, resulting in a "silver"
evaluation.

We paid increased attention to the
data protection system in order to
continue meeting the requirements
of Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of

the European Parliament and of
the Council on the protection of
individuals with regard to the
processing of personal data and

on the free movement of such

data and repealing Directive

95/46/EC (General Data Protection
Regulation “GDPR”). The internal
legislation, which was implemented

in the company's management

system in 2018, was revised in

2021 in accordance with current
interpretations and practical
knowledge so that the requirements of
the GDPR continue to be met.

In 2021, we continued our pro-
ecological activities such as cleaning
the riverbed of the Ol3e River,
planting of new greenery or support
of biodiversity in the area of Tfinecké
Zelezdrny, where owl boxes were
installed. The boxes were made by
pupils of the Secondary Technical
School of Tfinecké Zelezarny and were
installed in the park in Tfinec and at
the premises of Tfinecké Zelezarny
with the participation of pupils from
the Slezskd Primary School in T¥inec.
Two boxes were also donated to the
Statutory City of Tfinec for placement
at its discretion.

In connection with the "Agreement
aimed at reducing the burden on the
environment", which was concluded

between the Czech Ministry of the
Environment, the Moravian-Silesian
Region and Tfinecké Zelezdrny, curative
stays for 128 children from elementary
schools in Tfinec took place in the Tatra
Mountains in Slovakia in autumn 2021.
Tfinecké Zelezarny set out an amount
of CZK 1,025 thousand for these stays.

Tfinecké Zelezarny does not have
a branch or other part of the business
abroad.

Tfinecké Zelezarny holds ownership
interests in 30 companies, whether

with controlling, substantial or
minority influence. Most of these
companies focus on activities directly
or indirectly related to the metallurgy
business and this focus is in line

with our long-term business strategy.
These are mainly companies finishing
products in the steel industry, in the
machining of aluminium components or
manufacturers of refractory materials.
They also include trading companies
providing services, in particular energy
supply, design services, transport,
security and asset protection and
employment agencies.

—
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FINANCIAL SITUATION
Profit before tax for 2021 reached
CZK 1,613 million.

Compared to the previous year, the pre-
tax profit is higher by CZK 1,083 million.
This is mainly due to the favourable
development of sales prices of rolled
products and steel, which rose faster
than the prices of raw materials.
Consolidated profit before tax for 2021
amounted to CZK 2,681 million CZK.

Revenues of Tfinecké Zelezarny reached
the level of CZK 43,715 million. The year-
on-year increase of CZK 8,601 million

is due to an increase in the average

DEVELOPMENT OF REVENUES
INDICATOR (IN GZK THOUSANDS)
ROLLED GOODS INCLUDING STEeL
OTHER PRODUCTS
$aLes OF OWN PRODUCTS
$aLes OF SERVICES
$aLes OF OWN PRODUCTS anD SERVICES

consoLipaTep SaLes OF OWN PRODUCTS anb SERVICES

selling price of rolled goods and also
due to higher sales of other products
and services. Sales of the consolidated
TZ Group in 2021 amounted to

CZK 56,423 thousand and increased by
24% year-on-year.

The production consumption was higher
by CZK 8,664 million compared to 2020.
The most significant effect on its year-
on-year increase was the increase in
the prices of key input commodities

and higher processing costs. Within

the consolidated figures, there was an
increase of CZK 10,016 million for the
same reasons.

339l 42107
793 1141
34664 43248
450 467
35114 43715
45520 06 423

Added value reached the level of

CZK 6,794 million in 2021, which is

CZK 1,163 million more than in 2020;
in terms of the consolidated TZ Group,
this represents an increase of CZK
2,680 million year-on-year. Labour
productivity from value added per
employee in 2020 amounted to CZK 988
thousand (CZK 803 thousand in 2020).

Operating profit increased by

CZK 1,217million year-on-year. In terms
of the consolidated TZ Group, it is an
increase of CZK 2,161 million.

The company's financial result was
lower by CZK 134 million than in 2020
due to an increase of the provision for
long-term financial assets, while the
consolidated financial result increased
by CZK 8 million year-on-year.

As of 31 December 2021, Tf¥inecké
Zelezdrny reported assets in the total
amount of CZK 41,769 million, which

is CZK 2,283 million more than as of

31 December 2020. Consolidated assets
in 2021 total CZK 48,695 million. This is
an increase of CZK 3,338 million year-
on-year.

—
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The year-on-year increase was due to a rise
in current assets by CZK 3,410 million,
while consolidated current assets
increased by CZK 4,503 million.

The increase in the company's inventories
by CZK 2,644 million was due to an
increase in materials and self-produced
semi-finished products in stock.

Short-term receivables of the company
increased by CZK 1,399 million due to
an increase in trade receivables. Cash
decreased by CZK 602 million.

10%

In the area of liabilities, equity increased
by CZK 1,306 million compared to

31 December 2020. Total consolidated
equity increased by CZK 2,220 million to
CZK 33,595 million.

Liabilities of the company increased
by CZK 976 million year-on-year (in
consolidated terms, they increased by
CZK 1,119 million) mainly due to an
increase in trade payables, payables
to credit institutions and provisions.

The company's indebtedness as of
31 December 2021 was 27.5% (26.6% at

0
31 December 2020). 10%
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

In 2021, the steel industry faced the
negative impact of the COVID-19
pandemic. The recession has begun in
2019 and was gradually deepened by
other threats such as Brexit, the trade
war between China and the US, the

fall in production in the automotive
sector, the huge increase in the prices
of raw materials, energy and emission
allowances. These difficulties were
partly eliminated by the opportunities
in the form of the recovery of the steel
market and the increase in demand

for steel products. At the same time,
the prices of steel products have been
increasing. For selected long steel
products, demand outweighed supply
on the EU market. The recovery and
stronger demand had a positive impact
on the growth of global crude steel
production. Nevertheless, global crude
steel production in 2021 reached 1,950.5
million tonnes, which is 3.7% more
than in 2020. Most countries, except
for China and a few others, experienced
production growth. EU countries
produced 15.4% more steel in 2021 than
in the previous year. We expect steel
production to increase further in 2022,

driven by a recovery in demand in key
steel-consuming sectors.

Thanks to timely and effective
measures, Tfinecké Zelezarny has
successfully managed the persistent
COVID-19 pandemic and, despite

the difficult conditions in supply
chains, made an investment in the
reconstruction of Blast Furnace No. 6
in record time. In 2021, the Continuous
Casting Plant No. 1 was upgraded with
the ability to cast 600 mm bars on the
remaining three casting streams. In
the area of product finishing, a new
line for electrolytic phosphating and
wire drawing, the so-called STAKU, was
acquired and put into operation.

Over the last twenty years, Tfinecké
Zelezdrny has been expanding the
capacity for the final processing

of its long steel products through
acquisitions. The area of processing
and finishing is constantly being
developed and the companies belonging
to the TZ Group are making significant
investments in this area in order to
create added value, expand know-how
and human potential.

In 2022, the company will start

the investment in the stationary
unloading facility INNOFREIGHT, the
implementation of which will continue
in 2023. The investment of rails heat
treatment will be started, while the
completion is planned for 2023. In the
second half of 2022, we will put into
operation a new peeling line and the
bright bar finishing line No. 2.

Within the primary production, the
company will carry out the preparatory
work for investment actions with the
aim of transforming the production
process leading to a significant
reduction in CO2 emissions. All
subsidiaries in TZ Group have the same
objective. All these steps are aimed at
carbon neutrality in the long term.

-
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Deloitte.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder of
TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, 3. .

Hawing its registered office at: Prdrmyovs 1000, 51308 ki, 729 61 Toine

Opiriten on the Financial and © lidated Finandcial

We have audited the accompanying Financial Statements of TRINECKE FELEZARNY, a. s [Rercinafer alss
the “Campany”] prapared on the basis of accounting regulatons applicable ia the Croch Republic, which oarmprise
the b2 lare shesat ¢ of 31 December 2021, #nd Lhe profit and Boss artount, slatement of changes in equsty and cashe
flows staternent fow the year then ended, and nales T the Fiegngial Statements, ‘ncluding @ summarny of ssgrificant
A counting policies and other eaplanatory inlormation.

We have auclied the accampanying Lonse'idated Finane @l Statements of the TRIMECKE JELEZARNY, a. 5. consalidaion

group (hereinafter alzo the "Group™) prepared o bhe Basis ol accaunting regulatior. applicab®: inthe Ciech Bepublic,

, whith compride the con solidated balance sheet 35 0f 31 Becomber 2021, 2nd the consoleddated profst and loss aocouat,
aonselidared satement of changes in wguity and consolidated cash llaw statement For the year then ended, and nates.
1o the {onzolidated Financial 3tatements, including a sumemary of s'gnificane accovnting polecles and other explanateny
‘nformation.
In ur opifean:
T agearmpanying Favantial 51ate st gree o true and fair view of the finarcial position of TRINECKE 2ELEZARKY, a. 5.
a5 of 21 Becember 2021, and of its financiz| pedormance and Its cash flows far the vear shen ended in accordance with
accauning regulations applscable in the Czech Republic.

The accormpanying Consalicated Financal Statemenrs give a woe aad fair wicw of the cansolidared linaeial position
afthe TRIMECKE JELEZARNY, a. 5. consqlidation graup as of 31 December 2021, and of its conselidazed financial
performance and ity consolidated cash Nowes Foo the year then ended in sccordance with accounting, regulations
applicable in the Czech Repullic.

Basls for Opinlon

We cobucted our audit i accordEnce wirh Hhe AT oo Puditgrs and Auditing Stancdards of the Chamber oF Audilers
of Lhe Czech Aepublic, wh'eh are Inlernational Standards on Auditing (1545), a: amended by the relates applcation
guidalines. Cur respons bilstles under He (3w and regulation are forthes descnibied in Lhe Roditae's Regpansibilites lor
whe 2udin of Ehe Finandclal and G d Flnancial o af Bud repet . We and indepgend ot
ef Ve Coanpany in weardantd with the A an Aaditard and the Code ol Ethics adopted by the Chamber of Auditars
of the Crech Republic id we haee fulfilted gus o1 hee ot hical redponsibalitics in dccérdanoe with 1hese requiremants. YWe
ircléeve 1hat the audit evideace we have obtained is sufficiert and appropriste 1o provide 2 basis far aur epision.

Emphasic ol Matter

We draw attention ta Note 2.16 ta the financial statements and Note O to the consoldated inandizl siatem ents, which
describe the impact arisiag from the Aussizn-Ukralnian canflact. Cur oplalos is net madifizd nrespect of ibis atier.

il slom T 1L phils
rtan fa
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Other Informatien = the O i d Annual Report

in eeenpliarice with Section 2(b) of the At on Aediters, 1the other infarmation carmprises the information included in
the Consolidated Anaual Repost other thar the Finaneial Staterngraz aad the Consalidated Financia! Statenrenes and
auditer's report therson. The Board of Directors is responsible fos the other information,

Qur opinion on the Financial Staterments znd the Consolidated Finzrcizl Statements does nob cover the other
infarenarlon. In eamection with oae audit of the Finaneiat Staternents and the Consabdated Finandial Saaterments, aui
Pesgaondibility i$ b read Hee gthes inlormation and, s Going s, conséder whethes the ather infoemastion is materially
inconsistent with the Fingacial Statements and the Consolidated Fingneia! Statements or owr knowledge obtained in
the audit or oihervise appears to be materially misslated. In addition, we assess whether the ather information has
been prepared, Inall mazetial respects, i accasdance with applieable law o regulagion, In panscular, wheshes the other
imformarion comles with law or regulation I terms of formal requlrements and procedure for prepafing the other
inbaremanion in the ¢omtext of rigterizlity, ie, whethes any roncompliancs with these regquirgrients could influeede
jutlgrmenes made on the Basis of 1he other infarm atien.

Based on the procedures perfermed, to the extent we are able to assess it, we report that:

# The athes information des<riting the tzcts that are alse presented in Lhe Finencia! Batermeats and the Consalidated
Finaneial Staterments ig, in all maneital respegks, cpnsistent with the Financial Statemenns and the Gonsglidated
Financial Statements; and

#  The other infonneation s prepared in comptiznce with applicable law or regulation.

i additian, our responsitilivy is oo report, based oo the krowledge and wnderstanding of the Cormpany ehtained in
the gudit, on wihether thie gther infgrmatian Goataing any material misiatement of 1366, Based ¢n 1he pracederes we
have perfermed om the ather infarmation oblained, we have novidertified any material misstatement of lact,

the Corsalidated Finandial Staverrents

The Board of Diredlors is responsible for the preperation and fair prescniation ol tThe Finangial Statoments and
Consob'dated Finangial Statements in aocosdance with accaunting regulations applicabile in the Czech Repugtic and for
suchintesnal cantrol as the Board of Dlrectors devermines s necessary to enable the preparation of Financal Statements
and the Consolldared Financlal Staterments that are free fram material misstatement, whether due ta frawd or enroz.

I pieparing 1he Financial Statements and rhe Consolldated Faacial Staternenns, the Board of Dlrectors is respoansibbe
For asiessing 1he Company's abilty ta continue &5 a going cancenn, discloting, as Jpplicanle, matiers related to going
concern and usirg the going concern basis of atcounting unléss the Board of Direttors either intends 0 lkquidale
the COmpany or 10 oease operanions, or has no red'istic aliernative bat 1o do 50,

The Susenisory Board is responsible [ owverseeing the Company's financiz! reporting process.

Budido:s Responsbilties for the sudit of 1he Financeal Staterents aad rthe Consolidated Findncial 51atetens

Cur obicctives are to obtain reasoralle aourancd gt whelhgr Thie Financisl Sraierments and 1he Consolidated
Financeal Statements as awhole are freg from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issee
an auditor's report that includes nur opanien, Reasonable assurance is a high level of asiurance, bt # not a guarantee
titar an audit Londwcles anoaccordance with 1545 will ahways detect a rmateral misstabement when it exists.
Mhss1aterments can arice Trom Fraud or errar and e consideced raterial if, individoatly or In the aggregate, they could
reastnably b expeied to influence e econemi decisions of users raken on the basis of these Financial $taternents
aangd Comsolicined Finangi 31 S1alemants.

B parl of an audit in accordande with the abour law Or reguidtion, wir exivcine professional judgment and maintain
professinngl skepticism throughout the audit. 'We alss:

= [duntify and 2555 Thee risks of mareiial misgiatenrent of the Fingncial Starements and the Conso'idaned Findiial
Staterments, whether due o fraud o7 eqror, design and perform audit procedures responsive te those risks, and
Dbtain awrdit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate i provide  basis for our epinien, The risk of not detecting
3 material misstatement resubting from fraud is higher than fior ore restlting from errar, a5 fraud may involve
collusign, forgery, Intentional omissiens, micreprecentations, or the override of internal conitrol.

Ull AUDITORS’ REPORT

*  Obtain an undersznding of istere! cantral felevant to the audit in arder Lo design audit procedures that are
appropnate in the dirfumstanees, but not foe Lhe purpose of eapressing an opirion an he effectlveness
of the Company’s and Group’s internal cantrol.

& Evaluate the appropriateacsy of accounting policies wsed and the reassonableness of acceunteng eshimares and
refgted disclésures made by the Board of Directors.

& Langlode on the appropristensss of the Board of Directors” use of the gaing concern basis of accounting and, based
an the sudit evidence obrtained, whether a malesial uncertainty exists relared o svents or Conditiong that rron ¢ast
sigrificant doubt on the Company’s and Graup's 3hifity to continue as 3 golig concera Fwe contluda that a material
uncert ainky exicts, we are require d to 8raw 2ttentionn gur auditor's repart to the related disclosures inthe Fanancial
Sraternents s thi Consslidated Financial Staternents or. if such distlosures are inadeguate, ta madify gur gpinikon.
Chri orklusions are based on Lhe awdil ewidence obtalned vp ta the date of our audlegr's repon. Howes, Trure
evenls of canditions may cause the Company 2nd the Grawp o ceace (o LanTinge &6 & going toacerm,

= Evaluate thi aweesll presentation, steucure and content of the Finarcial Staternents and the Consolidaced Fingnial
Statements, including the distlosres, and whether the Floandial Statenmals ded the Consolidated Financial
Statements represent Whe udedying transaoions and events in a maner thal ackicaes faie presentation

= Ghain suHficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financlal smformarlan oF tee Frginies or business aclivities
within the Group to ekpress an omnion on the Consol d Fimancial We are ri ible far
the directien, supervsson and perftimance of the group aodin. We remain selely responsible for our audit epinion
on the Censatidated Financial Siareinents.

WE COmirtunitate with Lhe Board of Directors and the Superviseny Board regarding. amang other matrers, the planned
srape and timsng of the audst and ¢lgnifucant andn fndmgs, sclodiog any sigrficant Eefiiencies in internal cortrol that
wie sdantify dering our audit.

I Frague an 29 Apeil 2022

Audit firm- SLavutory auditar:

Deloitte Audit 5.r.0. Wiclav Lfubek
registratwon no. 079 registrgticn na. 2037
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NAME OF THE COMPANY: TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, 8.S.
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BaLance SHeer
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NOTES TO THE FINanclaL STaTements

THESE FINanClaL STAaTEMENTS WERE PREPARED 0N 28 January 2022.
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BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - ASSETS INCZKTHOUSAND)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
GROSS ApJustment NeT Net
TOTAL ASSETS 70888271 -29118 982 41769289 39486761
B. FIRED aSSers 53018875 -28440038 24578 837 25706 226
B.l. INTanGIBLE FIKED aSSers 304795 -241665 63130 1126 528
B.LI. DeveLopment 4553 -4553
B.l.2. VaLuaBLe RIGHTS 288 807 -231791 57016 58505
B.l.2.l. SOFTWaRe 194253 -196 044 38209 33675
B.l2.2. OTHER VaLU@BLE RIGHTS 94554 -15747 18 807 24830
B.I4. OTHER INTANGIBLE FIKED @SSETS 532l -532I 1060463
B.L5. PREPaYMents FORINTANGIBLE FIKED aSSETS anb INTaneiBLe FIKED aSSeTs UNDeR CoNSTRUCTION 6114 6114 7560
B..5.2. INTANGIBLE FIKED @SSETS UNDER CONSTRUCTION 6114 6114 7560
B.II. TanGIBLE FIKED asSeTs 44012879 -27487 531 16 525348 16 316 520
B.ILL. Lanoano STRUCTURES 11152 312 -5706299 5446013 5540546
B.ILLL Lano 526 824 526 824 522953
B.LL.2. STRUCTURES 10625488 -5706299 4919189 5017593
B.IL.2. TaNGIBLE MOvaBLE aSSETS and SETS OF TanGIBLE MOVABLE 8SSETS 32 335807 -21776139 10559 668 9642 351
B.Il4. OTHER TaNGIBLE FIHED asSers 6885 6885 6884
B.I1.43.  SUNDRYTANGIBLE FIKED ASSETS 6885 6885 6884
B.IL5. PREPAYMENTS FOR TANGIBLE FIKED aSSETS anb TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS UNDER CONSTRUCTION 517875 -5093 512782 1126739
B.ILG.I. PREPAYMENTS FOR TANGIBLE FIKED dSSETS 112 415 112 415 82090
B..5.2.  TanGIBLE FIHED aSSETS UNDER CONSTRUCTION 405460 -5093 400367 1044649

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

—
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - ASSETS

(IN CZK THOUSAND)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

GROSS ApJustment NeT Net

B.IIL. NON-CURRENT FINanciaL assers 8701201 -710 842 7990359 8263178
B.IILI. EQUITY INVESTMENTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING ENTITY 8648204 -693 445 7954759 8228119
B.IIL.3. EQUITY INVESTMENTS IN 8SSOCIATES 50995 -17397 33698 33097
B.IILS. OTHER NON-CURRENT SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS 2002 2002 2002
C. CURRENT aSSets 17869 396 -678 944 17190 452 13780535
C.. InvenToRies 13 808 122 -644114 13164 008 10520489
C.LI. MaTeriaL 6368739 -402 95 5965788 4579026
C.l2. WORK IN PROGRESS anb SEMIFINISHED GOODS 4522942 -169 473 4353469 3636543
C.l3. PRODUCTS ano Goobs 2911807 -71690 2840117 2402847
C..3.. PRODUCTS 2911792 -71690 2840102 2402835
C.l.3.2. G0ODS 15 19 12
C.L5. PREPAYMENTS FOR INVENTORIES 4634 4634 2073
C.lI. RecelvasLes 3803689 -31796 3771893 2403749
C.ILI. LONG-TeRM REceIVaBLeS 14708 14708 17110
C.ILLE. ReCceIvaBLes - 0THER 14708 14708 17110
CIlL5.2.  LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS MaDe 652 652 652
C...5.4.  SUNDRY RECEIVABLES 14056 14056 16 458
C..2. SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES 3647016 -31796 3615220 2216031
C.ll.2.1. TRaDE RECEIVaBLES 32552569 -12126 3243133 1730164

@ 74BLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

—
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - ASSETS INCZKTHOUSAND)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020
GROSS ApJustment NeT Net
Cll.2.2. RECEIVABLES - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING €NTITY 13185 13185 8016
C.ll.24. RECEIVaBLES - OTHER 378572 -19670 358902 477 851
C.ll.2.43. STale-TaK RECEIVaBLES 262062 262062 429449
C.Il.2.4.4.  SHORT-TERM PREPAYMENTS MaDe 4345 4345 2232
C.Il.2.45.  ESTIMATED RECEIVABLES 59229 59229 23455
C..2.4.6.  SUNDRYRECEIVABLES 92 936 -19670 33266 22715
C.I.3. OTHeR aSSeTs 141965 141965 170 608
C.I13.1. DEFERRED EHPENSES 50 841 50841 50083
C.l.3.2. COMPLEH DEFERRED EXPENSES 90719 90719 115952
C..3.3.  ACCRueDIncome 405 405 4573
C.IIL CURRENT FinanciaL assers 3034 -3034
C.li.2. OTHER CURRENT FINANClaL asSets 3034 -3034
C.IV. CasH 254 551 254 551 856297
C.IV.1. CasSHOn Hano 1427 1427 1689
C.v.2. CaSHaT BanK 293124 293124 854608

—
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BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - LIABILITIES & EQUITY

(IN CZK THOUSAND)

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 41769 289 39486761
A. EQUITY 30275505 28969425
Al SHaRe CaPITal 8109863 8109863
ALL SHARe CaPITaL 8109863 8109863
Al SHARe PReMIUM anb caPITaL FUNDS 103743 103743
All2. CariialL Funos 103743 103743
All2.l. OTHBR CaPITAL FUNDS 103787 103787
All2.2. GAINS OR LOSSES FROM THE RevaLuation OF @SSEeTS anb LIaBILITIES (+/-) -44 -44
AL FUNDS FROM PROFIT 2858219 2858219
AIILL OTHBR RESBRVE FUNDS 2858219 2858219
AV, RETaINeD 6arNINGS (+/-) 17897 600 17428 277
AV ACCUMULATED PROFITS OR LOSSBS BROUGHT FORWARD (+/-) 17897600 17428277
AV. PROFITOR LOSS FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD (+/-) 1306 080 469 323
B.+C. LIaBILITIES 11493784 10517 336
B. RESERVes 575421 321607
B.III. RBSBRVES UNDER SPECIAL LeGISLATION 1123 17
B.IV. OTHBR RESBRVES 574298 320490
C. PayaBLES 10918 363 10195729
C.l. LONG-TeRM PaYyaBLeS 3704554 3289304
C.l.2. PayaBLES T0 CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 2447946 2094582
C.L4. TRADE PayYaBLeS 37522 30260
C..8. DBFERRED TAK LIABILITY 1219086 1164 462

e TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

—
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - LIABILITIES & EQUITY

(IN CZK THOUSAND)

C.II. SHORT-TERM PaYaBLES 7211281 6905172
C.II.2. PayaBLES T0 CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 1285370 1027204
C.II.3. SHORT-TBRM PREPAYMENTS RECEIVED 77

C.Il.4. TRaDe PayaBLeS 4855747 4037908
C.IL.8. OTHER PAYaBLES 1070087 1840060
C.11.8.3. PayaBLES T0 BMPLOYEES 445845 422024
C.l.8.4. SOCIaL SeCURITY AnD HEALTH INSURANCE PAyaBLeS 145595 145471
C.11.8.5. STATe - TaK PAYaBLES AND SUBSIDIBS 199352 1105028
C.I1.8.6. ESTIMATED PAYaBLES 215434 121223
C.I1.8.7. SUNDRY PayaBLES 63 861 46314
C.lII. OTHER LIaBILITIES 2528 1253
C.lIL1. ACCRUED BHPENSES 2527 1263
C.lIl.2. DBFERRED INCOME I
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT STRUCTURED BY THE NATURE OF EXPENSE METHOD

(IN CZK THOUSAND)

YeaRr enoeo 31.12.2021 Year ennen 31.12.2020

l SaLes OF PRODUCTS anb SERvICesS 43715225 35114272
. SaLes OF GOODS 17 29
A PURCHASED CONSUMABLES anb SERVICES 38805572 30141328
Al COSTS OF GOODS SOLD 19 22
A2. CONSUmMeD materiaL anb ENERGY 35631024 27435745
A3. SERvICeS 3174533 2705 561
B. CHanGe ININTERNALLY PRODUCED INVENTORY (+/-) -1072582 -188 225
C. OWNWORK CaPITaLISeD (- -811972 -469533
D. STaFF COSTS 4792690 4617117
D.l. PAYROLL COSTS 3368489 3233765
D.2. SOCIaL SECURITY anD HEALTH INSURANCE COSTS anb OTHER CHARGES 1424 201 1383 352
D2l SOCIAL SECURITY anD HEALTH INSURANCE COSTS 1257158 1214182
D.2.2. 0THER CHAaRGES 167043 169170
E. ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES IN OPERATING aCTIVITIES 1312709 1403777
EL ADJUSTMENTS TO VaLUes OF INTaNGIBLE anb TanGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 1449333 1426171
ELL ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES OF INTANGIBLE anD TanGIBLE FIHED aSSETS - PERMANENT 1448193 1427476
El2. ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES OF INTaNGIBLE anD TanGIBLE FIKED aSSETS - TEMPORARY 1140 -1305
E2. ADJUSTMENTS TO VaLUES OF INVENTORIES -135 467 -22 429
E.3. ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES OF RECEIVABLES -1157 39
IIl. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 6788 865 3883570
IIL1. SAaLes OF FIKeD aSSets 62 565 15896
lIL.2. SaLes OF MaTeRlaL 134130 81007
M1L.3. SUNDRY OPERATING INCOME 6592170 3786667

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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e CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT STRUCTURED BY THE NATURE OF EXPENSE METHOD (N GZK THOUSAND)
k. 0THER OPBRATING XPENSES 5939472 3172241
El. NETBOOK VaLU€ OF SOLD FIKBD ASSETS 9077 7090
F.2. MaTeRIaL SOLD 123 151 73598
F.3. TaXes anb CHARGEeS 28725 41176
F4. RESERVES RBLATING TO OPERATING aCTIVITIES anD COMPLER DEFERRED BHPENSES 278933 61807
F.5. SUNDRY OPERATING BHPENSEeS 5499586 2988570
* OPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS (+/-) 1538218 321162
V. INCOMe FROM noN-CURRENT FINANCIaL aSSeTs - QUITY INVESTMEeNTS 341510 308529
IV.I. INCOME FROM BQUITY INVBSTMENTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING BNTITY 309327 292673
Iv.2. OTHER INCOME FROM EQUITY INVESTMENTS 32183 15856
VI, INTEREST INCOME ano SIMILaR Income 76 116
VLI, INTBRESTINCOMe anb SiImILaR INCOMe - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING ENTITY 76 17
Vi.2. OTHEBR INTERESTINCome anp SImILar INCOMe 39
l. ADJUSTMEeNTS T0 vaLues anb RESeRVES ReLaTING T0 FIn@nclaL acTIvITIeS 312990 55610
J. INTEREST BHPENSES anb SIMILaR BHPENSeS 25311 40704
J.2. OTHER INTEREST BKPENSES and SIMILAR BHPENSES 253l 40704
Vil. OTHER FInanciaL Income 106 827 45392
K. OTHEeR FInanclaL eXPENSes 35405 49282
* FInanciaL PROFIT ORLOSS (+/-) 74707 208 441
* PROFIT OR LOSS BEFORE TaH (+/-) 1612 925 529603
L. INcCome TaH 306 845 60280
L.l Due Income TaH 252 221 23568
L.2. DEFERRED INCOMEe Tak (+/-) 94 624 36712
* PROFIT ORLOSS NET OF TaH (+/-) 1306 080 469 323
PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD (+/-) 1306 080 469 323
* NETTURNOVER FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD 50952520 39351904

—
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SHaRe CaPITaL

CaPITaLFunDS  FUNDS FROM PROFIT, AcCumuLaren
PROFITS ORLOSSES

BROUGHT FORWARD

RESERve FunD

(IN CZK THOUSAND)

PROFITORLOSS
FOR THE GURRENT
PERIOD

TOTAL EQUITY

BaLance ar 310ecemBeRr 2019 8109 863 103743 2858219 16 818 334 609943 28500102
DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT OR LOSS 609943 -609943

PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD 469 323 469 323
BaLance ar 310ecemser 2020 8109 863 103743 2858219 17428277 469323 28969425
DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT OR LOSS 469 323 -469 323

PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD 1306080 1306080
BaLance ar 310ecemaeR 2021 8109863 103743 2858219 17897600 1306080 30275505
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

YeaRr enoen 31.12.2021

(IN CZK THOUSAND)

Year ennen 31.12.2020

P. 0PeninG BaLance OF CasH ano CasH equivaLents 852265 202065
CasH FLOWS FROM ORDINGRY aCTIVITIES (OPERATING ACTIVITIES]
L PROFIT OR LOSS BEFORE TaK 1612925 529603
Al ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON-CaSH TRANSACTIONS 1464 95 1244517
AL DEPRECIATION OF FIKED @SSETS 1448193 1427476
Al2. CHanGe In PROVISIONS anb RESERVES 456439 93718
Al3. PROFIT/(LOSS) ON THE SALE OF FIRED aSSETS -53488 -8806
Ald. REVENUES FROM PROFIT SHARES -341510 -308 529
AlLb. INTEREST EKPENSE anD INTEREST INCOME 25236 40588
AlLG. ADJUSTMENTS FOR OTHER NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS -69918 70
Ar NETOPeRartinG casH FLOW BEFORE CHanGes In WORRING CaPITaL 3077876 1774120
A2. CHanGe IN WORKING CaPITaL -3131830 403507
A2l CHanGe In OPERATING RECEIVABLES anb 0THER aSSETS -1552 464 170047
A22. CHAanGe In OPERATING PAYaBLES anD OTHER LIABILITIES 928533 438571
A2.3. CHanGe ININVenToRIES -2508102 -204 988
A24. CHanGe In CURRENT FInanclaL aSSets 203 -123
A NeT CasH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE TaH -53 954 2177627
A3. INTEREST PalD -25060 -40946
A4 INTERESTRECEIVED 7l 169
AS. (NCOME TaH PalD FROM ORDINGRY OPERATIONS 70915 64282
AG. RECEIVED PROFIT SHARES 341510 308529

@ 74BLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE

—
UlIl FINANGIAL STRTEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 FINANGIAL SECTION ol



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

GASH FI.UW STATEMENT (INCZK THOUSAND)

A NeT0PeRatinG GasH FLOWS 333482 2509 661
CasH FLOWS FROM INVESTING acTiviTies

B.I. FIKBD aSSETS eHPENDITURES -1685819 -1436779

B.2. PROCEeDS FROM FIKED aSSeTs SOLD 67039 23630

B.3. L0ansS anb BORROWINGS TO RELATED PARTIBS -5164 1000

B NeTinvesTment GasH FLOWS -1623944 -1412149
CasH FLOW FROM FinanciaL acTiviTies

C.l. CHaNGe In Pa4yaBLEeS FROM FINANCING 688 919 -447 312

c. NeTFinanciaL CaSH FLOWS 688919 -447 312

F. NeTINGRease OR DecrRease In GasH anb GasH equivaLents -601543 650200

R. CLOSING BaLance OF CasH anb CasH equivaLents 250722 852265

—
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|. GENERAL INFORMATION

L.1. INCORPORATION anD DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPaNy

TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. s. (hereinafter the “Company”) was formed by the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic and was incorporated following
its registration in the Register of Companies of the Regional Court in Ostrava on 21 March 1991. The Company is primarily engaged in metallurgy with
a closed metallurgical cycle. In addition to the production of coke, pig iron and steel, the range of principal products provided by the Company involves the
products of rolling mills, namely blooms, slabs, billets, wires, and thin, medium and heavy sections, rails including the production of plates, clamps and
jumpers for rails, steel tubes and drawing-quality steel.

The Company’s registered office is located at Pramyslova 1000, Staré Mé&sto, 739 61 Tfinec.

The Company’s issued share capital is CZK 8,109,863 thousand.

The sole shareholder of the Company is MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

1.2. ORGANISationaL STRUCTURE OF THe comPany

Bodies of the Company are as follows:
— General Meeting;

— Supervisory Board; and

— Board of Directors.

The Company’s organisational structure is divided into individual levels, specifically the Chief Executive Officer and professional directors including
HR and External Relations Director, Finance Director, Production Director, Technical Director and Director for Investments. Each professional
director’s division is further structured into professional sections and departments.

There were no significant organisational changes during 2021.

—
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1.3. GROUP IDENTIFIGATION

For the purposes of these notes to the financial statements, the Group includes (i) the Company, (ii) the entity controlling the Company (hereinafter the
“controlling entity”) or entity holding an equity investment in the Company that is treated as part of ‘Equity investments in associates’, (iii) entities in
which the controlling entity, the Company or other entities controlled by them have an equity investment that is treated as part of ‘Equity investments in
associates’.

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s., having its registered office at Primyslova 1000, Staré Mésto,
739 61 Ttinec, as the sole shareholder.

MORAVIA STEEL a.s. prepares the consolidated financial statements for the broadest group of reporting entities. These financial statements can be
obtained at MORAVIA STEEL a.s.’s registered office.

The Company prepares the consolidated financial statements of the narrowest group of reporting entities. These financial statements can be obtained at
the Company’s registered office.

1.4. BOARD OF DIRECTORS anD SUPERVISORY BOARD @S OF 31 DeGEMmBER 2021

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CHalRman Jan CzZuex
ISTVICE CHaIRman CesLav Marex
2NDVICe CHAIRMan HENRYK HUCZaLa
MEMBER V0 Z1ZHa
MemBeR RADOMIRA PERARKOVA

SUPERVISORY BOARD CHalRman TOMA4S CHRENex
ISTVICE CHaIRman Jan MODER
2nDVICe CHAIRMan EVZen BaLKo
MEMBER JOZEF BLASKO
MemBeR Janakantorovd
MEMBER MaRCEL PIeLeSZ

During 2021, no changes were made in the composition of the Company’s Board of Directors and Supervisory Board.

—
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2. BASIS OF ACGOUNTING AND GENERAL ACCOUNTING PRINGIPLES

The Company’s accounting books and records are maintained, and the financial statements were prepared in accordance with Accounting Act 563/1991
Coll.,, Regulation 500/2002 Coll. which provides implementation guidance on certain provisions of the Accounting Act for reporting entities that are
businesses maintaining double-entry accounting records, and Czech Accounting Standards for Businesses.

The accounting records are maintained in compliance with general accounting principles, specifically the historical cost valuation basis, the accruals
principle, the prudence concept and the going concern assumption.

The financial statements were prepared on 28 January 2022. These financial statements are presented in thousands of Czech crowns (“CZK").

2.1. RePORTING PERIOD

The Company’s financial statements as of 31 December 2021 have been prepared as follows:

— The balance sheet includes comparative figures as of 31 December 2020;

— The profit and loss account includes comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2020;
— The statement of changes in equity includes comparative figures as of 31 December 2020; and
— The cash flow statement includes comparative figures as of 31 December 2020.

2.2.TANGIBLE aND INTaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS

Valuation
Tangible fixed assets include assets with a cost greater than CZK 40 thousand on an individual basis and an estimated useful life greater than one year.

Intangible fixed assets include assets (such as software, valuable rights, and intangible results of research and development) with a cost greater than
CZK 60 thousand on an individual basis and an estimated useful life greater than one year.

Tangible and intangible assets with an estimated useful life greater than one year and a cost equal to or lower than CZK 40 thousand and CZK 60
thousand, respectively, are not treated as fixed assets. Such tangible assets are accounted for as inventory and when brought into use they are charged
to ‘Consumed material and energy’ in the profit and loss account. Intangible assets costing CZK 60 thousand and less are expensed through the account
‘Services’ upon acquisition.

The cost of tangible fixed asset improvements exceeding CZK 40 thousand on an individual basis increases the cost of the related tangible fixed asset
for the fiscal period.

The cost of intangible asset improvements exceeding CZK 60 thousand on an individual basis increases the cost of the related intangible fixed asset for
the fiscal period.
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Starting from the reporting period beginning on 1 January 2022:

— Tangible and intangible fixed assets will include assets with a cost greater than CZK 80 thousand on an individual basis and an estimated useful life
greater than one year; and

— The cost of tangible and intangible fixed asset improvements exceeding CZK 80 thousand on an individual basis will increase the cost of the related
fixed asset for the fiscal period.

Purchased tangible and intangible fixed assets are valued at cost. Tangible and intangible fixed assets developed internally are valued at direct costs,
incidental costs directly attributable to the internal production of assets (production overheads) and to the production period. Production overheads also
comprise costs for engineering activities. Costs of sale are not included.

The following tangible and intangible fixed assets are stated at replacement cost: tangible and intangible fixed assets acquired through donation,
intangible fixed assets internally generated, assets recently entered in the accounting records and an investment of intangible and tangible fixed assets,
except for cases where the investment is valued differently pursuant to a Memorandum of Association or a Foundation Deed.

The replacement cost is also applied to tangible fixed assets acquired under finance lease arrangements with an original cost exceeding CZK 1 million.
These assets are carried at replacement cost and recorded in the books as fully depreciated. Replacement cost is determined by an expert appraiser or
through an estimate performed under the Company’s internal regulations.

The intangible results of the Company’s research and development activities, if designed for trading or resale, are recognised through the balance sheet
line ‘Development’. Development results designed for internal purposes are not classified as intangible fixed assets for financial reporting purposes and
are held in off balance sheet records at internal costs of production.

Greenhouse emission allowances (hereinafter the “allowances”) are recognised as non-depreciable intangible fixed assets and are stated at cost, or
replacement cost when acquired free of charge. The use of emission allowances is accounted for at the balance sheet date as a minimum, depending upon
the level of greenhouse emissions produced by the Company in the relevant calendar year. Any difference arising during the verification of emissions
by a verifier is accounted for in the reporting period in which the verification is performed. An initial free-of-charge acquisition of the allowances is
recognised as a subsidy not reducing the carrying amount of the intangible fixed assets. This ‘subsidy’ is released into income on a systematic basis as
the allowances are used and charged to expenses. The sale of free allowances is recorded as a component of ‘Other operating income’ in the profit or loss
account. In case of sale of purchased allowances, such sale is recorded as a component of ‘Sales of fixed assets’ in the profit or loss account. The exchange
of CER credits for allowances is recognised as a component of ‘Other intangible fixed assets’ against ‘Sundry operating expenses’ and ‘Sundry operating
income’.

As of the balance sheet date, emission allowances are valued according to the EUROPEAN ENERGY EXCHANGE rate. The decrease in the valuation of
emission allowances acquired on a free-of-charge basis as of the balance sheet date is recognised in the balance sheet lines ‘Other intangible fixed assets’
and ‘State — tax payables and subsidies’. The Company does not recognise an upward revaluation of the allowances. If there is a lack of allowances at the
balance sheet date, the Company recognises a reserve presented in the balance sheet as part of ‘Other reserves’ and in the profit and loss account as part
of ‘Reserves and provisions relating to operating activities and complex deferred expenses’. The reserve for the purchase of allowances is released in the
following accounting period when the missing allowances are purchased or used from the free of charge allocation of the following period.

—
VIl NOTES TO THE FINANGIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEGEMBER 2021 FINANGIAL SECTION 98



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

Due to the mergers completed in prior reporting periods, emission allowances are reported on standalone ETS Registry accounts depending on the
locally-defined operation facility. For the purposes of reporting, the EUA allowances are recorded in a single sub-ledger account; in reporting the disposal
of emission allowances, the FIFO valuation method is applied.

Depreciation for Accounting Purposes
Depreciation of fixed assets, other than land and assets under construction, is recorded on a straight line basis over the depreciation period indicated below:

CATeGORY OF aSSETS DePRecIation PERIOD IN Years

STRUCTURES 2-71
MaCHINERY ano equiPment 2-42
VEHICLES 3-40
FURNITURE @nD FIHTURES 6-15
SOFTWaRe 3-7

The depreciation period in years is established in terms of the estimated useful life of the fixed assets taking into account the operational conditions.

If the inventory count indicates that the estimated useful life of assets has changed, the Company appropriately adjusts the depreciation period of the
related asset.

The bulk of buildings and structures are depreciated over 45-60 years. The shorter depreciation period is applied to temporary structures and short-
term structures (lighting, fencing, energy grids, pipelines, etc.). A depreciation period over 60 years is applied to structures with a long useful life, such as
railway and road bridges, conveying tunnels, and production and administrative buildings.

The bulk of machinery and equipment is depreciated over 15-25 years. The shorter depreciation period is primarily applied to IT systems, management
systems, devices, etc.; the longer depreciation period is applied in exceptional cases to agglomeration equipment.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the net book value of
the asset at the sale date and is recognised through the profit and loss account.

Provisioning
Provisions against fixed assets are recognised in circumstances where their carrying value is greater than value in use, which is equal to the present
value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of fixed assets/expected proceeds from the intended sale.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).
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2.3. NON-CURRENT FinanclaL ASSeTS

Non-current financial assets principally consist of equity investments in controlled entities, equity investments in associates, securities and equity
investments available for sale.

Valuation
Securities and equity investments are carried at cost upon acquisition. The cost of securities or equity investments includes direct costs of acquisition,
such as fees and commissions paid to brokers, advisors and stock exchanges.

At the balance sheet date, the Company records:
Equity investments are measured at cost less any provisions.

Available-for-sale securities are valued pursuant to the Accounting Act (Section 27) at fair value, determined by reference to the market value or
a reasonable estimate. If the determination of fair value is not practicable, the securities are valued at their cost.

At the balance sheet date, changes in the fair value of available-for-sale securities are recorded through balance sheet lines ‘Other securities and
investments’ and ‘Gains or losses from the revaluation of assets and liabilities’. A deferred tax is determined in respect of the revaluation difference where
the value of available-for-sale securities increases, and is recorded through accounts ‘Gains or losses from the revaluation of assets and liabilities’ and
‘Deferred tax liability’.

Upon sale or any other disposal, securities of the same type are valued on the basis of the weighted average of acquisition costs.

Investments in enterprises in which the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating processes so as to obtain benefits from their
activities are treated as ‘Equity investments — controlled or controlling entity’.

Investments in enterprises in which the Company is in a position to exercise significant influence over their financial and operating processes so as to
obtain benefits from their activities are treated as ‘Equity investments in associates’.

Provisioning against Equity Investments
Investments are provisioned if there is a risk that the fair value of a non-current financial asset is lower than its carrying value.

In charging provisions against equity securities that are not fair valued, the Company refers to its detailed knowledge of the relevant entity, the
entity’s anticipated cash flows and the results of the entity’s operations and reflects its interest in the entity’s equity.

2.4. CURRENT FinancliaL ASSeTs ano CasH

Current financial assets principally consist of short-term debt securities with a maturity of less than one year and other securities available for sale.
Current financial assets are carried at cost upon acquisition.
Cash consists of cash on hand and cash at bank.
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2.9.INVenToRY

Valuation
Purchased inventory is valued at acquisition costs. Acquisition costs include the purchase cost and indirect acquisition costs such as customs fees, freight
costs and storage fees during transportation, commissions and insurance charges.

Inventory is issued out of stock at costs determined using the weighted arithmetic average method.

Internally produced inventory is valued at cost using a costing formula in which the pure charge is valued at the actual cost and processing costs are
valued at planned rates of the particular year.

At the balance sheet date, the Company assesses the actual costs of the charge and the difference between the actual costs of the charge and the
valuation of the charge from the prior month is reflected only in the financial accounting records. In respect of processing costs, the difference between
the value of processing costs of the planned operations valued at planned rates of the particular year and the value of the actually completed operations
valued at planned rates of the particular year is reflected in the financial accounting accounts.

Provisioning
Provisions against the inventory of material are made in respect of inventory with low or no movement and a very low likelihood for processing following
an individual analysis.

Provisions against the inventory of finished products and semi-finished products are charged based on their realisability.

2.6. RecelvaBLes

Upon origination, receivables are stated at their nominal value as subsequently reduced by appropriate provisions for doubtful and bad amounts.

Provisioning
The Company recognises provisions against receivables, the recoverability of which is doubtful.

Tax deductible provisions against receivables are made pursuant to Act No. 586/1992 Coll,, the Income Taxes Act, and Act No. 593/1992 Coll,, the
Provisioning Act.

Non-tax deductible provisions (other than intercompany) are created as follows:
a) Receivables past due by 1 year and more are provisioned in full; and
b) Receivables past due over six months but less than one year are provisioned at 50%.

In addition, provisions are recognised against receivables based on an individual assessment of their collectability.
The Company also creates provisions against interest-free long-term receivables. This provisioning charge is calculated as equal to the difference
between the nominal value and the discounted value of these receivables.
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2.1. PayaBLEesS

Trade payables and other payables are stated at their nominal value. Long-term bills of exchange to be settled are recorded at nominal value. Interest on
these bills is accrued over their maturity period.

2.8. PdyaBLesS T0 CReDIT INSTITUTIONS

Payables to credit institutions are reported at nominal value. The portion of long-term payables to credit institutions maturing within one year from the
balance sheet date and revolving payables to credit institutions which are regularly rolled over to the following period are included in short-term payables
to credit institutions.

2.9. RBSERVES

The Company creates other reserves to provide for future risks known at the balance sheet date. In addition, the Company records a reserve for restoration
and maintenance of a dump site and clean-up after termination of the operation of the site in accordance with Regulation No. 294/2005 Coll., on Conditions
for Storing Waste in Dump Sites.

2.10. ACCRUALS anD DEFeRRALS

Accrual and deferral accounts include deferred and accrued income and expenses. Deferred expenses include deferrals of only such items which are very
likely, or certain, to bring a specific measurable effect in the form of income or other economic benefits in the following years over which they are deferred.
Immaterial and regular expenses or income of less than CZK 20 thousand are not deferred. Comprehensive deferred expenses include the costs of research
and development and implementation of projects relating to software acquisition.

2.11. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies conducted during the year are translated using the exchange rate of the Czech National Bank prevailing
as of the date preceding the transaction date.

During the period, cash denominated in foreign currencies (foreign currency cash) is translated into Czech crowns using the fixed monthly exchange
rate as notified by the Czech National Bank as of the first day of the month in which the assets were recorded.

At the balance sheet date, the relevant assets and liabilities are translated at the Czech National Bank’s exchange rate prevailing as of that date.

Prepayments for tangible and intangible fixed assets received after 31 December 2020, if such prepayments are non-refundable, are considered as
part of the purchase price of the specific fixed asset at the balance sheet date and are not translated at the Czech National Bank’s exchange rate as of the
balance sheet date. Prepayments for fixed assets received before 1 January 2021, reported in a foreign currency at the balance sheet date, are translated at
the Czech National Bank’s exchange rate applicable at the balance sheet date.
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Exchange rate differences on provisions for newly created foreign currency receivables exceeding CZK 1 million are recognised individually through
financial profit or loss (account 563 foreign exchange losses or 663 foreign exchange gains). Below this amount, foreign exchange gains or losses on
provisions for foreign currency receivables continue to be reported in the operating profit or loss as the recognition or a release of the provision for
receivables.

2.12. Tararion
2.12.1. DEPRECIATION OF FIED ASSETS FOR TaH PURPOSES

Depreciation of fixed assets is recorded on an accelerated basis for tax purposes under Section 32 of Act No. 586/1992 Coll., on Income Taxes, with the
exception of assets used in the Tube Rolling Mill (the VT operation), VZ — Billet Rolling Mill, and the Universal Track and Track Fastenings Plant which are
depreciated using the straight line and accelerated methods.

2.12.2. CURRENT TaH PayaBLe

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the reporting period. The taxable profit differs from the net profit as reported in the profit and loss
account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using the tax rate that has been enacted by the balance sheet date.

2.12.3. DEFeRRED TaH
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Under the liability method, deferred tax is calculated at the income tax rate that is expected to apply in the period when the tax liability is settled.

The balance sheet liability method focuses on temporary differences which are differences between the tax base of an asset or liability and its carrying
amount in the balance sheet. The tax base of an asset or liability is the amount that will be deductible for tax purposes in the future.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the profit and loss account, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

2.13. BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs arising from payables to credit institutions are directly expensed regardless of the purpose for which the loans were drawn.
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2.14. COSTS RELATING TO EMPLOYEES HIRED THROUGH al EMPLOYMENT AGeNncY

The staff costs of employees hired through an employment agency who are temporarily assigned to perform work under an agreement with the
employment agency (the “agency employees”) are reported as part of social costs (‘Other expenses’ in the profit and loss account) which include the
actually paid salaries including social security and health insurance costs. The costs of other aids and protective drinks for agency employees are
reported under ‘Consumed material and energy’. Other payments for the services of the employment agency, such as mediation fees or the employment
agency’s overheads, are reported under ‘Services’.

2.15. Revenue rRecoanition

Revenues are recognised when goods are delivered and accepted by the customer or when services are rendered and are reported net of discounts and VAT.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Profit share income is recognised when the Company’s General Meeting, i.e. the sole shareholder acting in the capacity thereof, adopts a decision on
profit distribution.

Insurance claims received are credited to income of the reporting period in which the amount of the claim is recognised by the insurer. If the claim has
not been recognised, an estimated receivable for claims received is made only for the actual expenses incurred to recover the consequences of the claim
in the relevant reporting period.

2.16. USE OF ESTIMATes

The presentation of financial statements requires making estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of

the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company has made these estimates and
assumptions on the basis of all the relevant information available to it. Nevertheless, pursuant to the nature of estimates, the actual results and outcomes
in the future may differ from these estimates.

2.17.ReSedRCH anb DeveLOPMeNnT EXPENDITURE

Research and development expenditure is capitalised as part of the cost and posted to the acquisition of tangible or intangible fixed assets if the research
and development projects result in fixed assets (tangible and intangible). The output of a research and development project is capitalised on the basis of the
results of opponent proceedings. A detailed analysis of the projects in progress is undertaken at the balance sheet date and the costs incurred are charged
to expenses or recognised as complex deferred expenses in the event that there is doubt over the completion, or future utilisation, of the project.

Permanent development is posted directly to expenses, taking into account repeatability and materiality. The materiality criterion is defined as follows:
“If the expenses on permanent development for the relevant reporting period do not exceed on average more than 50% of the expenses on permanent
development for the previous 2 reporting periods, all such expenses are posted to expenses in the relevant reporting period. If the abovementioned
threshold is exceeded, the entity will select the projects responsible for the materiality threshold being exceeded and, after analysis, capitalises them in
the complex deferred expenses”.
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2.18. SUBSIDIES

The subsidies received are credited to income on an accruals basis.

In accordance with Government Regulation No. 565/2020 Coll., on Conditions for the Provision of Compensations for Indirect Costs for Industrial Sectors
in which a Significant Risk of Carbon Leakage was Identified, as a Result of the Effect of the Costs relating to Greenhouse Gas Emissions on Electricity
Prices, these compensations are recognised in the reporting period in which the Ministry of Industry and Trade issues a resolution regarding the provision
of compensation.

Subsidies to fund the acquisition of fixed assets reduce the cost of the related assets.

2.19. GaSH FLOW Starement

The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method.

For cash flow reporting purposes, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and duty stamps, cash at bank except for deposits with maturity
longer than three months, and current liquid assets easily convertible into cash in an amount agreed in advance where no significant changes in the value
of these assets are expected over time.

Cash and cash equivalents can be analysed as follows: (CZK THOUSAND)
CaSH 0N Hano 1427 1689
CdSH aT Bank 253124 854608
OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL aSSETS 3034 3034
PROVISIONS @GaINST OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS -3034 -3034
TOTaL CURRENT FinanciaL assers anb CasH 254551 856297
CdSH ano CasH eQuIvVaLeENTS NOT INCLUDED IN THE CasSH FLOW -3829 -4032
TOTaL GaSH anb CasH equivaLents 250722 852265

The difference between cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 reported in the cash flow statement as opposed to the current
financial assets and cash disclosed in the balance sheet represents blocked deposits that are restricted with regard to the free handling of the funds.

—
Il NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 FINANGIAL SECTION 65



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

3. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

3.1. FIHeD ASSEeTS
3..1. INTANGIBLE FIHED ASSETS

Cost (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance at 31Dec 2020 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS BaLance at 31Dec 2021
peveLoPment 4553 0 0 4553
VaLUaBLe RIGHTS 274 921 13886 0 288807
OTHER INTANGIBLE FA 1065784 74135 1134598 5321
INTANGIBLE FAUNDER CONSTRUCTION 7560 12 667 14113 6114
ToTaL 1352818 100688 1148711 304795

Accumulated Amortisation (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance at 31Dec 2020 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS BaLance at 31Dec 2021
peveLoPment 4553 0 0 4553
VaLUaBLe RIGHTS 216 416 15375 0 231791
OTHER INTANGIBLE FA 532l 0 0 5321
T0TaL 226290 15375 0 241665

Net Book Value (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLanceat 31DeC 2020 BaLanceat 31Dec 2021
VaLUaBLE RIGHTS 585056 57016
OTHER INTANGIBLE FA 1060463 0
INTANGIBLE FA UNDER CONSTRUCTION 7560 6114
T0Tal 1126 528 63130
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Amortisation of Intangible Fixed Assets Charged to Expenses
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets amounted to CZK 15,375 thousand and CZK 12,671 thousand as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Other intangible fixed assets primarily include emission allowances.

In 2021, the Company acquired 38,934 allowances for 2021 in the amount of CZK 61,767 thousand free of charge. At the same time, the Company acquired
10,750 CER credits in the amount of CZK 227 thousand and exchanged this volume of CER credits for EUA allowances. At the balance sheet date, the
Company recognised the use of allowances for 2020 in the amount of CZK 299 thousand and the use of allowances for 2021 in the amount of CZK 4,128,680
thousand.

As of 31 December 2021, the total volume of allowances for 2021 has not been allocated to the Company. In April 2022 at the latest, the Company expects
to receive another 3,375,076 free allowances for 2021 based on the approval of the European Commission and the subsequent decision of the Ministry of
the Environment of the Czech Republic. For this reason, the Company does not create a reserve for the missing allowances as of 31 December 2021. The
Company reported the use of allowances and the use of subsidy for the missing allowances in the amount of CZK 3,645,754 thousand in the corresponding
account of other operating expenses and other operating income based on estimated amounts only in the profit and loss account.

The Company sold 1,090,000 allowances in 2021. The effect of the sale of the allowances was CZK 1,490,081 thousand.

In the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company acquired 3,404,499 emission allowances for 2020 in the amount of CZK 2,033,785 thousand free of
charge. As of the balance sheet date of 31 December 2020, based on the performed verification, the Company recognised a disposal of emission allowances
for 2019 of CZK 2 thousand and a disposal of emission allowances for 2020 of CZK 1,658,786 thousand.

In 2020, the Company sold 1,726,000 allowances. The effect of the sale of the allowances was CZK 1,121,362 thousand.

Aggregate Balance of Low Value Intangible Assets not Reported on the Face of the Balance Sheet
The aggregate cost of low value intangible assets not reported on the face of the balance sheet was CZK 29,769 thousand and CZK 26,440 thousand as
of 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

—
VIl NOTES TO THE FINANGIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DEGEMBER 2021 FINANCIAL SEGTION 67



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

3.1.2. TANGIBLE FIRED ASSETS

Cost (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance ar 310ec 2020 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS BaLance at 31DeC 2021
Lanp 522953 4838 967 526 824
STRUCTURES 10490176 155080 19768 10625488
TANGIBLE MOVABLE @SSETS and SeTS THeREOF 30758255 2101480 523928 32335807
OTHER TANGIBLE FA 6884 | 0 6885
PREPAYMENTS FORTANGIBLE FA 82090 99060 68735 112415
TanGIBLE FA UNDER CONSTRUCTION 1047318 1619808 2261666 405460
T0TaL 42907676 3980267 2875064 44012879

Accumulated Depreciation (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance ar 31Dec 2020 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS BaLance at 31Dec 2021
STRUCTURES 545878l 264 497 19767 56935l
TanGIBLE MOVaBLE aSSETS anb SeTS THeREOF 21114715 1184433 523928 21775220
T0TaL 26573496 1438930 543695 27468731

Provisions (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance ar 310ec 2020 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS BaLance at 31Dec 2021
STRUCTURBS 13802 0 1014 12788
TANGIBLE MOVABLE ASSETS anb SeTS THEREOF 1189 0 270 919
TANGIBLE FA UNDER CONSTRUCTION 2669 4013 1589 5093
T0TaL 17660 4013 2873 18800
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Net Book Value (CZKTHOUSAND)
Lano 522953 526 824
STRUCTURES 5017593 4919189
TdNGIBLE MOVABLE 8SSETS anD SETS THEREOF 9642 351 10559 668
OTHER TANGIBLE FA 6884 6885
PREPAYMENTS FOR TANGIBLE FA 82090 112415
TaNGIBLE FA UNDER CONSTRUCTION 1044649 400367
T0TaL 16 316 520 16 525 348

Principal additions to tangible fixed assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows: (CZK THOUSAND)
RECONSTRUCTION OF BLAST FURNGCE NO. 6 563477
RESTORATION OF ZPO 275201
HOT BLaSTRECUPERATOR NO. 62 FOR BLAST FURNACE NO. 6 249166

Principal additions to tangible fixed assets under construction for the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows: (CZKTHOUSAND)
NEW PEELING LINE INTHE VJ - WIRES @ND THIN SECTIONS ROLLING MILL PLANT 68 671
DEVICE FOR MEASURING RAIL DIMENSIONS WHEN COLD 12491
STaTIONdRY UNLOADING BQUIPMENT INNOFREIGHT 10123

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the disposals of tangible fixed assets included assets with an aggregate net book value of CZK 32,582 thousand.
Major disposals principally comprised partial liquidation of blast furnace no. 6 due to reconstruction, complete liquidation of preheating of combustion of
air and gas and partial liquidation of the automated management system of blast furnace no. 6 due to reconstruction.

Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets Charged to Expenses
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets amounted to CZK 1,432,818 thousand and CZK 1,414,805 thousand as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Aggregate Balance of Low Value Tangible Assets not Reported on the Face of the Balance Sheet
The aggregate costs of low value tangible assets not reported on the face of the balance sheet were CZK 620,528 thousand and CZK 596,179 thousand as of
31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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3.1.3.ASSETS HeLD unner 0PEraTIiNG Lease AGReements
In the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company made lease payments of CZK 56,981 thousand and CZK 56,145 thousand, respectively.

3.1.4.PLeDGeD FIKeD ASSeTsS

31 December 2021

(CZKTHOUSAND)

DESCRIPTION OF aSSETS NeTBOOKVaLue PLEDGE/CREeDITOR

TanGIBLE FA 546578  L0AN FROM CESHA SPORITELN, a..

BUILDINGS 108 891

Lano 3458

TanGIBLE FA 2058 L0an FROM CESHOSLOVENSHA 0BCHODNI BanKa, a.S.
Lanp 39986

TanGIBLE FA 629944  L0an FROM CESHOSLOVENSHA 0BCHODNI BanHa, a.S.
TanGIBLE FA 713296  L0AN FROM CESHOSLOVENSHa 0BCHODNI BANKA, a.S.
TanGIBLE FA 446908  L0&N FROM CESHOSLOVENSHA OBCHODNI BanKa, a.S.
Lanp 96 223

TanGIBLE FA 423718  L0AN FROM ING BANKN. V.

Lanpb 11988

TanGIBLE FA 143603  LOGN FROMING BANKN.V.

TanGIBLE FA 1194887  L0@N FROM RalFFEISENBanK a.s.

Lanp 185638

ToTaL 4380076
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31 December 2020 (CZK THOUSAND)

DESCRIPTION OF aSSETS NETBOOK vaLue PLeDGE/CREDITOR

TanGIBLE FA 556192  L0AN FROM CESKA SPORITELNA, A.S.

BUILDINGS 118323

Lano 3458

TANGIBLE FA 2194  L0AN FROM CESKOSLOVENSKA 0BCHODNI BanKa, a.S.
Lano 39986

TanGIBLE FA 692199  L0AN FROM CESKOSLOVENSKA 0BCHODNI BaNKA, .S.
TANGIBLE FA 764853  L0AN FROM CESHOSLOVENSKA 0BCHODNI BanKa, ..
TANGIBLE FA 513658  LOAN FROM CESKOSLOVENSHA 0BCHODNI BaNKa, a.s.
Lano 106 893

TanGIBLE FA 464716 L0AN FROM ING BANK N.\V.

Lano 10465

ToTaL 3272937

3.2. NON-CURRENT FinanclaL ASSeTs

Cost (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance ar 310ec 2020 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS BaLance at 31Dec 2021
EQUITY INVESTMENTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING BNTITY 8608034 40170 0 8648204
EQUITY INVESTMENTS -aSSOCIATES 50995 0 0 50995
OTHERNON-CURRENT SECURITIES AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS 2002 0 0 2002
T0TaL 866103l 40170 0 8701201
Provisions (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance ar 310ec 2020 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS BaLance at 31Dec 2021
EQUITY INVESTMENTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING BNTITY 379915 313530 0 693445
EQUITY INVESTMENTS -aSSOCIATES 17938 0 94 17397
T0TaL 397853 313530 541 710842
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3.2.1. EQUITY INVeSTMEeNTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING enTiTy

31 December 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
COmPany name anb ReGISTERED OFFICE EQuITY EQuITY PROFIT/LOSS PROVISION  FInanciaL income
INVeSTMENT % FOR THE PERIOD
ZDB DRATOVNA @.8., PUDLOV, BOHUMIN 100.00 2247571 188 500 0 43000
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, 8.5., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 639493 43238 0 32000
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, 8.S., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 2732256 49437 0 9500
SLAVARNY TRINEC, 8.S., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 565590 -20 951 -185069 0
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL. S R.0., KYJOV 100.00 685774 24665 -198 866 24000
HZPa.S., PROSTEJOV 100.00 620496 44549 0 30000
,D&D” DROTARU ZRT., 3527 MISHOLC, S8JOSZIGETI UTCA 4 (HUN) 100.00 586 746 249916 -195532 0
,METALURGIA“ SPOLKA AKCYJNA, RaDOMSKO (POL) 100.00 301638 91258 0 0
VUHZa.S., DOBRA 100.00 411363 48603 0 45000
RETEZ4RNA A.S., CBSHA Ves 51.00 628419 46697 0 5100
REFRASIL, S.R.0., KONSK4, TRINEC 100.00 233872 8087 0 18000
TRINECHE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0., STARE MASTO, TRINEC 100.00 40773 -1887 0 0
DOPRAVATZ, a.S., TRINEC-STARE MESTO 100.00 47067 3206 0 10000
TRIALFA, S.R.0., TRINEC - Kanana 100.00 21089 461 0 0
MORAVIa SECURITY, a.S., KONSKA, TRINEC 100.00 40727 257 0 5000
MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM S.R.0., VITHOVICE, 0STRaVa 90.00 50276 1455 0 0
TRINECKA PROJEKCE, 8.5., Kanana, TRINEC 84.54 32223 2702 0 1727
,ZAMECZEK BtOGOCICE“ SPOLHA Z 0GRANICZON] ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA, CIESZYN (POL) 88.00 42303 370 -12522 0
TRISIA, 8.S., LYZBICE, TRINEC 66.00 40164 534 -15785 0
IMOPRA S.R.0., NIVNICE 100.00 113636 4810 -8567 6000
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0., ZAMRSK 100.00 916 881 55579 0 80000
EKOSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, 8.S., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 20940 -9642 0 0
ENEZA, S.R.0, STaRE MESTO, TRINEC* 52.50 92174 14227 0 0
TOTAL -693445 309327

Note: italics — preliminary results as of 31 December 2021
* economic results for the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 (fiscal year from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022)
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31 December 2020

(CZKTHOUSAND)

COmPany name ano REGISTERED OFFICE EQuITY EQUITY  PROFIT/LOSS FOR PROVISION  FINanciaLincome
INVESTMENT % THE PERIOD
ZDB DRATOVNA 8.., PUDLOV, BOHUMIN 100.00 2102070 46888 0 15000
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, 8.5., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 628 255 35375 0 35000
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, .5, STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 2692318 9557 0 50000
SLEVARNY TRINEC, 8.S., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 586 540 -33 651 -42196 0
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL. S R.0., KYJOV 100.00 685109 25547 0 35000
HZP .., PROSTEJOV 100.00 605 947 38286 0 29500
,DED” DROTARU ZRT., 3527 MISHOLC, S8JOSZIGETI UTCA 4 (HUN) 100.00 376 471 17036 -290860 0
,METALURGIA“ SPOLKA AKCYJNA, RADOMSHO (POL) 100.00 207526 23000 0 0
VUHZ a.5.,DOBRA 100.00 407760 46 255 0 40000
RETéZ4RNa a.s., CeSHA Ves 51.00 589 222 18632 0 9180
REFRASIL, S.R.0., KONSHA, TRINEC 100.00 243785 13147 0 25000
TRINECKE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 42660 -14787 0 0
DOPRAVA TZ,a.S., TRINBC-STARE MESTO 100.00 53 861 23l 0 0
TRIALFA, S.R.0., TRINEC - Kanana 100.00 20629 683 0 0
MORAVIA SECURITY, 8.S., KONSHA, TRINEC 100.00 43430 2603 0 1000
MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM S.R.0., VITROVICE, 0STRAVA 90.00 48820 1098 0 0
TRINECKA PROJEKCE, 8.5., Kanana, TRINEC 84.54 31563 2043 0 2993
,ZAMECZEK BLOGOCICE* SPOLHA Z 0GRANICZONG ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA, CIESZYN (POL) 88.00 44645 495 -10547 0
TRISIA, 8.5., LYZBICE, TRINEC 66.00 39630 -15323 -15658 0
IMOPRA S.R.0., NIVNICE 100.00 114826 4851 -20654 0
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0., ZdMRSH 100.00 941302 109426 0 50000
EKOSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, 8.5., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 30583 -19417 0 0
TOTAL -379915 292673
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3.2.2. EQUITY InVeSTMenTS - ASSOCIaTes

31 December 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
comPany name, REGISTERED OFFICE EQUITY EQUITY  PROFIT/LOSS FOR PROVISION  FInanciaLincome
INVESTMENT IN % THE PERIOD
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.5., KONSHA, TRINEC 40.00 436160 107178 0 32183
0CELARSHA UnIe a.s., NOVe MESTO, PRAGUE | 39.94 42875 -919 -17397 0
HRAT, S.R.0., STARE MESTO, TRINEC* 23.26 3693 1533 0 0
TOTAL -17397 32183

Note: italics — preliminary results as of 31 December 2021
* economic results for the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 (fiscal year from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022)

31 December 2020 (CZKTHOUSAND)
COMPany name, REGISTERED OFFICE EQuITY EQUITY  PROFIT/LOSS FOR PROVISION  FINanciaLincome
INVESTMENT IN % THE PERIOD
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.5., KONSH4, TRINEC 40.00 409440 80458 0 15856
0CELARSHA UNIe a.5., NOVE MESTO, PRAGUE | 39.94 43171 -684 -17938 0
HRAT, S.R.0., STARE MESTO, TRINGC* 23.26 2159 761 0 0
TOTAL -17938 15856

Note: * economic results for the period from 1 April 2020 - 31 March 2021

3.2.3.NON-CURRENT FInanciaL ASSeTS PLeDGeD as CoLLaTeRal

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company had non-current financial assets pledged as collateral in the nominal value of CZK 1,144,302 thousand and
CZK 1,144,302 thousand, respectively.
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3.3. ReGEIVaBLeS
3.3.1. SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded short-term trade receivables past their due dates in the gross amount of CZK 38,943 thousand and
CZK 30,012 thousand (net CZK 26,409 thousand and CZK 16,503 thousand), respectively.

Other Receivables
Short-term prepayments made principally involve prepayments for supplied services.

As of 31 December 2021, State — tax receivables predominantly included a receivable arising from value added tax and prepayments for fees under Act
No. 201/2012 Coll., the Air Protection Act.

As of 31 December 2020, this item predominantly included a receivable arising from value added tax, prepayments for the corporate income tax and
prepayments for fees under Act No. 201/2012 Coll., the Air Protection Act.

As of 31 December 2021, sundry receivables principally include a receivable arising from an indisputable claim for a subsidy, receivables from
individuals, a receivable arising from an unused donation and a receivable from a contribution under the employment protection programme “Antivirus”.
As of 31 December 2020, this item principally included a receivable arising from an indisputable claim for a subsidy, receivables from individuals,

a receivable arising from the group registration for VAT and a receivable from a contribution under the employment protection programme “Antivirus”.

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, estimated receivables principally included amounts due from anticipated insurance proceeds, from utilising an
operating subsidy and from the refund of the value added tax paid abroad.

Receivables typically mature within 30 days.
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3.3.2. INTERCOMPaANY RecelvaBLes

Short-Term Receivables (CZK THOUSAND)
comPany name ReLatIon 10 THe comPany BaLancear31Dec2021  BaLance ar 31DEC 2020
- TRADE RECEIVABLES
DOPRAVATZ a.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 3329 2256
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED entITy 208893 17240
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL. SR.0. CONTROLLED entITy 672 444
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED enTITy 16757 8689
MORAVIA STEELA.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 2837635 1590712
REFRASIL, S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 56 544
RETBZA4RNAA.S. CONTROLLED entITy 644 0
SLEVARNY TRINEC, &.S. CONTROLLED entITy 84032 47915
TRIALFA, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 6119 1008
TRINECKA PROJEKCE, 8.S. CONTROLLED entITy 94 87
TRINECHE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITy 998 8l
TRISIA, 8.5. CONTROLLED enTITY 107 85
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.S. Assoclate 455 401
BESHYDSHA GOLFOVA, a.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 0 13
VUHZAs. CONTROLLED enTITy 383 1323
MORAVIA SECURITY, .. CONTROLLED enTITY 77 66
MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM S.R.0. CONTROLLED eNTITY 12 10
MORAVSHOSLEZSKY KOVOSROT, a.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 217 139
,METALURGIA“ SPOLKA AKCYJNA CONTROLLED enTITY 577 532
HZPa.s. CONTROLLED enTITY 424 225
M STEEL PROJECTS A.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 8 15
,NEOMET*SP.Z0.0. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 29 I8

e TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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e CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

comPany name ReLaTIon 10 THe comPany BaLancear3iDec2021  BaLance ar 31Dec 2020
ZDB DRATOVNA 3.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 1648 1425
BARRANDOV STUDIOA.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 230 242
KOVARNAVIVAQ.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 88 86
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 2038 2197
SECURITY MORaVa S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 2 2
EKOSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, .S. CONTROLLED eNTITY 68 48
MINERFIN, 8.S. RELATEeD PARTY | |
ENEZA, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 283 0
ToTaL 3165886 1676524
- RECEIVABLES - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING BNTITY

EKOSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED eNTITY 5666 0
TRINECKE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0 CONTROLLED enTITY 7518 8016
ToTaL 13184 8016
- 0THER RECEIVaBLES

ENERGETIKA TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 3312
MORAVIA STEELA.S. CONTROLLING eNTITY 40 0
ToTaL 40 3312
-ACCRUED Income

ENERGETIKA TRINEC, a.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 4474
ToTaL 0 4474
T0TaL SHORT-TERM INTERCOMPANY RECEIVABLES 3179110 1692326
OTHER THan INTERCOMPANY RECEIVaBLES 438110 523705
T0TaL SHORT-TERM RECEIVaBLeS 3615220 2216031

As of the balance sheet date, the Company records no long-term receivables past their due dates by more than 5 years.
As of 31 December 2021, the Company records no receivables secured with material guarantees.
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3.4.EQUITY

Valuation differences include profit/loss from the revaluation of securities available for sale net of a deferred tax liability.
The sole shareholder of the Company decided to distribute the net profit after tax generated by the Company in 2020 in the amount of CZK 469,323
thousand as follows: the entire amount was transferred to retained earnings brought forward.

3.4.1. SHaRe CaPITaL

The Company’s share capital is composed of 8,109,863 ordinary registered shares in the certificate form, fully subscribed and paid up, with a nominal value
of CZK 1 thousand per share.

3.4.2. PROPOSAL FOR THE ALLOCGATION OF PROFIT FOR 2021

In 2021, the Company generated net profit after tax of CZK 1,306,080 thousand. It is proposed to be distributed as follows:
— Share of profit assigned to the sole shareholder: CZK 500,000 thousand,
— Retained earnings brought forward: CZK 806,080 thousand.

3.9. RBSERVES

Other reserves principally consist of reserves for employee bonuses and risks arising from business relations, including warranty claims.

3.6. PaYaBLES
3.6.1.LONG-TERM PAyaBLeS

Long-term trade payables as of 31 December 2021 include payables arising from retentions from suppliers under concluded contracts.

As of 31 December 2021, the Company records no long-term payables secured with material guarantees.

As of 31 December 2021, the Company records long-term trade payables with maturity longer than five years in the amount of CZK 750 thousand. As of
31 December 2020, the Company did not record trade payables with maturity longer than five years.
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3.6.2. DEFERRED INCOMe Tax

The deferred tax liability is analysed as follows: (CZK THOUSAND)
DEFERRED TaK aRISING FROM
DIFFBRENCE BETWEEN TAK anD aCCOUNTING CARRYING VALUBS OF FIKED aSSETS -7869125 -7 361460
RevaLuation OF avalLaBLEe-FOR-SALE SECURITIES 54 b4
ACCOUNTING RBSBRVES 574243 320435
PROVISIONS 662 961 799433
EXPENSES THAT aRe TaK DEDUCTIBLE IN THE FOLLOWING PERIODS 215624 12792
T0TalL -6416 243 -6128746
TaX RATE (IN %) 19 19
DEFerReD TaK LIaBILITY -1219086 -1164 462

(CZK THOUSAND)
ANaLYsSIS OF movemenTts
31Dec 2020 -1164 462
CURRENT CHANGES CHARGED aGalNST THE PROFITanD LOSS account -b4 624
31Dec 2021 -1219086
3.6.3.InCome Tay (CZK THOUSAND)
PROFIT BEFORE TaK 1612925 529603
Tax aT THe DOMESTIC INCome TaK RaTe OF 19% 306 456 100625
TaX BFFECT OF EKPENSES THAT aRE NOT DEDUCTIBLE IN DETERMINING TARABLE PROFIT 389 -40345
TOTaLIncome Tax FOR THE PERIOD - ReCOGNISED IN DeFERRED Tak and INCOMeE Tak PayaBLe 306 845 60280
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3.6.4. SHORT-TERM PaYaBLES

As of 31 December 2021, the Company records no short-term trade payables past their due dates. As of 31 December 2020, the Company recorded short-term
trade payables past their due dates of CZK 483 thousand.
Payables typically fall due for settlement within 60 days.

Other Payables

In the year ended 2021, the category ‘State — tax payables and subsidies’ principally comprised a payable arising from corporate and personal income tax.
In the year ended 31 December 2020, the category principally comprised received subsidies for emission allowances and a payable arising from personal
income tax.

In 2021 and 2020, estimated payables mainly consisted of an estimated payable intended to cover all so far unrecognised payments relating to staff
costs, an estimated payable for fees under Act No. 201/2012 Coll,, on Air Protection, and an estimated payable arising from unbilled inventory including
services.

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, sundry payables primarily include payables arising from the group registration for value added tax and
contributions to employees.

3.6.5. INTERCOMPaANY PayaBLeS

Long-Term Payables (CZK THOUSAND)
company name RELATION T0 THE GOmPany BaLance ar 31Dec 2021 BaLance at 31Dec 2020
LONG-TeRM PayaBLeS
-TRaDe PayaBLeS
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC.A.S. CONTROLLED ENTITY 966 404
T0TaL 966 404
TOTAL LONG-TERM INTERCOMPANY PayaBLES 966 404
OTHER THaN INTERCOMPaNy PayaBLES 3703588 3288900
TOTAL LONG-TERM PayaBLeS 3704554 3289304

Other than intercompany long-term payables as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 primarily included a deferred tax liability of CZK 1,219,086 thousand and
CZK 1,164,462 thousand, respectively, and payables to credit institutions of CZK 2,447,946 thousand and CZK 2,094,582 thousand, respectively.
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Short-Term Payables

(CZKTHOUSAND)

company name ReLation 10 THe comPany BaLancear3iDec2021  BaLance at 31Dec 2020
- TRADE PAYaBLES

DOPRAVATZ a.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 12256 13041
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED eNTITY 853446 462 465
OCELARSHA UNIe a.s. Assoclare 835 832
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL.SR.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 3813 2191
MORAVIA STEELA.S. CONTROLLING €NTITY 2226500 1959169
REFRASIL, S.R.0. CONTROLLED eNTITY 12073 21276
RET8ZAaRNAA.S. CONTROLLED eNTITY 8il 403
SLEVARNY TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED enTITy 3768 1476
TRIALFA, S.R.0. CONTROLLED eNTITY 13955 16721
TRISIA, 8.5. CONTROLLED eNnTITY 384 1067
TRINECKA PROJEKCE, 8.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 3234 2929
TRINECKE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 6998 9372
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.S. Assoclare 8196 19395
BESHYDSKA GOLFOVA, a.. FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 3630 4598
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, 8.5. CONTROLLED enTITY 128133 118084
VUHZA.s. CONTROLLED eNTITY 60 559
MOR@VIa SECURITY, a.S. CONTROLLED enTITy 9056 916l
MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 170 1773
MORAVSHOSLEZSHY KOVOSROT, .. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 161700 139125
,ZAMECZEK BOGOCICE“ SP.Z 0.0. CONTROLLED eNTITY 9l 97
ZDB DRATOVNA@.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 1714 2204
“DED” DROTARU ZRT. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 2348
“METALURGIA” SPOEKA AHCYJNA CONTROLLED enTITY 0 105

@ 14BLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

comeany name ReLartion 10 THe company BalLancear3ipec2021  BaLance at 31Dec 2020
“NEOMET” SP.Z 0.0. FELLOW SUBSIDIaRY 94400 98240
SECURITY MORaVa, S.R.0. conTroLLED ENTITY 1508 1498
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. conTroLLeD ENTITY 6190 4053
ENEZA,SR.0. CONTROLLED ENTITY 2300 0
ToTaL 3555221 2892182
+ ACCRUED EHPENSES

MORAVIASTEEL@.S. CONTROLLING ENTITY 1373

ToTaL 1373 0
- ESTIMATen PayaBLES

MORAVIASTEEL@.S. CONTROLLING €NTITY 260 2720
ToTaL 260 2720
- SUNDRY PayaBLES

ENERGETIKA TRINEG, a.S. CONnTROLLED ENTITY 6019 0
MORAVIA STEEL @.S. CONTROLLING eNTITY 45375 33691
ToTaL 51394 33691
TOTaL SHORT-TERM INTERCOMPaANY PayaBLES 3608248 2928593
OTHER THan INTERCOMPaNY PayaBLES 3603033 3976579
TOTAL SHORT-TERM PayaBLES 7211281 6905172

Other than intercompany short-term payables as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 predominantly include payables to credit institutions of CZK 1,285,370
thousand and CZK 1,027,204 thousand, respectively, and tax payables and subsidies of CZK 199,352 thousand and CZK 1,105,028 thousand, respectively.
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3.6.6. PAYaBLES TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS

Long-Term Payables to Credit Institutions (CZK THOUSAND)

TYPe OF PayaBLe CURRENCY  BaLanceatr BaLancear FORM OF COLLATERaL at
dipec2021  31Dec2020 3iDec202i

(nvesTment EUR 7952 25184  HERMES GUaRanTee INSURER
Investment EUR 0 14544  0DLGUARaNTEE INSURER
Investment CZK 60000 240000 ImmovaBLe anD MOVaBLe aSSeTS, NSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
(nvesTment CZK 400000 628571 IMMOVABLE anD MOVABLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
(nvesTment EUR 775694 880091 ImmovaBLe anD MOVaBLe aSSeTs, NSURANCE RECEIVABLES
InvesTment CZK 1080000 0 ImmovaBLe and mOvaBLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
ACOUISITION EUR 124300 306192  SBCURITIES, PROMISSORY NOTE
ToTaL 2447946 2094582

The Company records repayments of long-term payables to credit institutions over five years in the amount of CZK 120,000 thousand.

Short-Term Payables to Credit Institutions (CZK THOUSAND)

TYPe OF PayaBLE CURRENCY  BalLanceatr BaLancear FORM OF COLLATEeRaL at
3iDec2021  31Dec2020 3iDec 2021

Investment EUR 15904 16790 HERMES GuaranTee INSUREeR
Investment EUR 13776 29087 0DLGU@RANTee INSURER
Investment CZK 0 240000 ImmovaBLe anD mOvaBLe aSSeTs, NSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
Investment CZK 180000 240000 ImmovaBLe anD mOvaBLe aSSeTs, INSURANCE RECEIVaBLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
InvesTment CZK 228571 228572  ImmOvaBLE anD MOVaBLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
InvesTment EUR 221627 97788 IMMOVaBLE anb MOVaBLE @SSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES
Investment CZK 120000 0 ImmovaBLe and movaBLe aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
ACQuISITION EUR 165733 174967  SECURITIES, PROMISSORY NOTE

e TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

TYPE OF PayaBLe CURRENcY BaLancear BaLancear FORM OF COLLAaTeRaLar
31Dec2021 31Dec2020 31Dec 2021
0VERDRAFT CZK 65937 0 PROMISSORY NOTE
0VERDRAFT CZK 65805 0 WITHOUT GU@ranTee
OVERDRAFT CZK 66 124 0 PROMISSORY NOTE
0VERDRaFT CZK 71043 0 PROMISSORY NOTE
0VERDRAFT 0ZK 70841 0 PROMISSORY NOTE
0VERDRAFT CZK 0 0 PROMISSORY NOTE
SHORT-TERM LO@N CZK 9 0 NOCOLLaTeRaL
TOTalL 1285370 1027204
3.7.DETalLS OF INCome FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES (GZK THOUSAND)
PROCEEDS OF THE SaLe OF GOODS 17 25
PROCEEDS OF THE SaLe OF PRODUCTS anb SERVICES 43715225 35114 272
-PRODUCTS 43248202 34 664240
- SBRVICES 467003 450032
TOTaL SaLes OF GOODS, PRODUCTS anb SERVICES 43715242 35114 297

99.77% of the Company’s sales of goods, products and services are generated in the Czech Republic.
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3.8. 0THER ERPENSes ano Income

As of 31 December 2021, other operating income of the Company mainly involves the use of the subsidy related to emission allowances, including the
income from the sale of allowances, of CZK 6,270,205 thousand (2020: CZK 3,747,733 thousand)

Other financial income as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 predominantly included foreign exchange rate gains of CZK 106,827 thousand and CZK 45,390
thousand, respectively.

As of 31 December 2021, other operating expenses primarily reflect the use of emission allowances, including the costs of the sale of allowances,
of CZK 4,780,352 thousand; as of 31 December 2020, in the amount of CZK 2,626,373 thousand.

Other financial expenses as of 31 December 2021 predominantly include foreign exchange rate losses of CZK 31,980 thousand (2020: CZK 46,443
thousand).

Financial gifts are reported in operating expenses. The total amount of gifts provided in 2021 amounted to CZK 19,641 thousand (2020: CZK 26,561
thousand).

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company received and reported the compensation for the indirect costs associated with greenhouse gas
emissions reflected in the price of electricity for the calendar year of 2020 in the amount of CZK 203,891 thousand.

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company drew a contribution under the “Antivirus” employment protection programme as a partial
compensation for payroll costs in the amount of CZK 10,728 thousand (2020: CZK 4,579 thousand).

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company drew a contribution under the self-sampling COVID-19 test programme in the amount of CZK 5,356
thousand.

3.9. SUBSIDIES

Subsidies for operating purposes of CZK 5,703 thousand utilised for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: CZK 4,273) include subsidies for research and
development, a subsidy for museum operations, and a subsidy for environmental projects.
In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company drew a subsidy for the acquisition of environmental and other investments of CZK 34,002 thousand.
In the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company drew a subsidy for the acquisition of environmental and other investments of CZK 145,969 thousand.

3.10. ReéSeaRCH anb DeveLoPment COSTS (GZK THOUSAND)

RESEARCH anb DEVELOPMENT COSTS (NET OF SUBSIDIES) 18758 15656
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3.1l. ReLAaTeD PARTY TRANSACTIONS
3.11.1.INCOMe Generaren WITH ReLaTeD PaRTIeS

Income from intercompany transactions amounted to CZK 44,505,758 thousand and CZK 35,843,393 thousand in the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, respectively. All intercompany transactions were at arm’s length.

The following table shows the income generated with the controlling entity and other entities in the consolidation group for the year ended

31 December 2021: (CZK THOUSAND)

ENTITY ReLaTion 10 THe FIReD aSSers INVENTORY OF I OTHeR Income ToTaL

company mareriaL, PRODUCTS

ano Gooos
MORAVIA STEELA.S. CONTROLLING eNTITY 0 41861764 173963 356 42036083
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, a.S. CONTROLLED enTITY *1490 08I 174739 43357 55 1708 232
REFRASIL, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 1930 5723 16 7669
ReT8ZarRNaa.s. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 364 46 0 410
SLEVARNY TRINEC, .. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 328209 20648 52 348909
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.S. AssocIaTe 0 7 9029 5 9041
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL. SR.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 652 5202 0 5854
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, .. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 189 968 40798 56 230822
VUHZa.s. CONTROLLED enTITy 0 5564 2102 [ 7667
HZPa.s. CONTROLLED enTITy 0 0 3055 0 3055
,METALURGIA“ SPOLHA AKCYJNA CONTROLLED enTITy 0 0 2316 0 2316
ZDB DRATOVNAA.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 27 16132 10 16169
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 94 1856 5 1955
TOTAL 1490081 42563318 324227 556 44378182

Note: * including the sale of allowances

The income arising from intercompany profit shares for the year ended 31 December 2021 is disclosed in Note 3.2.
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The following table shows the income generated with the controlling entity and other entities in the consolidation group for the year ended

31 December 2020:

(CZKTHOUSAND)

ENTITY ReLaTIon 10 THe FIRED asSSers INVENTORY OF SeRvices OTHeRIncome
company marteriaL, PRODUCTS
anD Goons
MORAVIA STEELA.S. CONTROLLING ENTITY 0 33806585 171174 487 33978246
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED enTITY *125835 180 847 40737 47 1347466
REFRASIL, S.R.0. CONTROLLED ENTITY 0 1335 5353 26 6714
ReTézarRnaas. CONTROLLED NTITY 0 0 10 0 0
SLEVARNY TRINEC, .. CONTROLLED eNnTITY 0 218 829 19936 27 238792
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.S. AssocIaTe 0 7 8479 0 8486
SROUB&RNA KYJOV, SPOL. S R.0. CONTROLLED eNTITY 0 0 4515 0 4515
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, .. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 132108 39883 30 172021
VUHZAs. CONTROLLED enTITy 0 3888 1982 | 587l
HZPas. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 0 2875 0 2875
,METALURGIA“ SPOLHA AKCYJNA CONTROLLED enTITy 0 0 2137 0 2137
ZDB DRATOVNA.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 63 14886 6 14 955
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 0 22 2137 2 216l
TOTAL 1125835 34343684 314104 626 35784249

Note: * including the sale of allowances

The income arising from intercompany profit shares for the year ended 31 December 2020 is disclosed in Note 3.2.
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3.11.2. PURCH@SES FROM ReLaTeD PARTIES
Total purchases from related parties amounted to CZK 34,385,770 thousand and CZK 25,280,199 thousand in the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

All related party transactions were at arm’s length.

The following table shows purchases from the controlling entity and other entities included in the consolidation group in the year ended

31 December 2021:

(CZKTHOUSAND)

ENTITY TYPe OF enTITY FIHeD asSers INVENTORY OF SERviCces OTHER exPenses
mareriaL, PRODUCTS
anon Goons
MORAVIA STEEL@.S. CONTROLLING ENTITY 298 24980320 233780 110 25214468
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, @.S. CONTROLLED ENTITY 364 3162440 85288 569293 3807385
REFRASIL, S.R.0. CONTROLLED ENTITY 0 1135 141086 0 142 22|
ReTézarnaa.s. CONnTROLLED ENTITY 0 10172 0 10172
SLAVARNY TRINEC, a.S. CONTROLLED ENTITY 5356 106 994 783 0 113133
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, .S. ASSOCIaTe 0 0 90116 0 90116
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL.SR.0. CONTROLLED ENTITY 0 23405 0 0 23405
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, a.S. CONTROLLED ENTITY 139150 343304 540893 4819 1028166
VUHZa.s. CONTROLLED ENTITY 7243 1293 3048 11584
,METALURGIA“ SPOH@ AHCYJNA CONTROLLED ENTITY 0 43 0 0 43
,DED” DROTARU ZRT.* conTroLLeD ENTITY 0 12474 0 0 12474
ZDB DRATOVNA@.S. CONTROLLED ENTITY 0 5324 5954 0 11278
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. CONTROLLED ENTITY 0 30997 0 0 30997
TOTAL 152 371 28 667901 1100 948 574222 30495442

Note: * The translation was made using the average value of the foreign exchange rate
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The following table shows purchases from the controlling entity and other entities included in the consolidation group in the year ended

31 December 2020: (CZK THOUSAND)
ENTITY TYPE OF enTITY FIRED asSSers INVENTORY OF SEeRvices OTHER BXPENSes
marteriaL, PRODUCTS
ano Gooos
MORAVIA STEELA.S. CONTROLLING eNTITY 9l 18617591 226 391 32l 18844 394
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 2367338 86418 233847 2687603
REFRASIL, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 786 159 694 0 160480
ReT8zarNaa.s. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 6700 0 0 6700
SLEVARNY TRINEC, .. CONTROLLED eNnTITY 4260 69 945 818 0 75023
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.S. AssociaTe 0 40 91440 0 91480
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL.SR.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 0 13076 0 0 13076
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, 8.5. CONTROLLED enTITY 60771 313426 487553 0 861750
VUHZAs. CONTROLLED enTITy 0 4924 954 0 5878
,METALURGIA“ SPOLHA AKCYJNA CONTROLLED enTITY 0 105 0 0 105
,DED” DROTARU ZRT.* CONTROLLED enTITY 0 12687 0 0 12687
ZDB DRATOVNA.S. CONTROLLED enTITy 0 6758 4494 0 11252
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 0 7152 0 0 7152
TOTAL 65122 21430528 1057762 234168 22787580

Note: * The translation was made using the average value of the foreign exchange rate

3.12. GOVID-19

When preparing the financial statements as of 31 December 2021, the Company considered the impact of the coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2). The impact is not
significant and does not pose a threat to the Company’s going concern.
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3.13. EMPLOYEes, ManaGgement anb SUPERVISORY BOARD

Staff Costs and Number of Employees

31 December 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
EMPLOYEES 685l 4628909
management 38 163781
T0TaL 6889 4792690

31 December 2020 (CZKTHOUSAND)
EMPLOYEES 6983 4530502
management 38 86615
T0TaL 7021 4617117

For the purposes of these financial statements, the category of management includes the members of the Supervisory Board, the members of the Board of
Directors, the Investment Director, managers of operations and specialised units and the plant director.
The number of employees is based on the average recalculated headcount during the reporting period.

3.14. L0ans, BORROWINGS, anb OTHER BENEFITS PROVIDED

31 December 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
COmPany CaRs USED FOR BOTH BUSINESS and PRIVATE PURPOSES (THE FIGURE INCREASES THE TaH BASE OF EMPLOYEES) 3653
LIABILITY INSURANCE 536

31 December 2020 (CZK THOUSAND)
COmPany Cars USen FOR BOTH BUSINESS anD PRIVATE PURPOSES (THE FIGURE INCRBASES THE TaK BaSe OF EMPLOYEES) 3506

LIGBILITY INSURANCE 548
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3.15. CONTINGENT LiaBILITIES anD ASSETS anD OFF BaLance SHEEeT COmMITMenTs, LeGaL DISPUTES

Provided Guarantees

31 December 2021
TYPe ToTaL amount BaLance at 31Dec 2021
GUaRranrees
TOOTHER ENTITIES EUR 3,449 THOUSAND CZK 85,749 THOUSAND
31 December 2020
TYPe ToTaL amount BaLance at 31Dec 2020
GUaRranrees
TO OTHER eNntiTIes EUR 3,249 THOUSAND CZK 85,277 THOUSAND

Received Guarantees

31 December 2021
TYPe ToTaL amount BaLance at 31Dec 2021
GlUaRranrees
FROM OTHBR ENTITIES USD 52 THOUSanD CZK 1,131 THOUSanD
EUR 5,709 THOUSAND CZK 141,915 THOUSanD
CZK 86,937 THOUSAND CZK 86,937 THOUSAND
31 December 2020
TYPe ToTaLamount BaLance at 31 Dec 2020
GlUaRanrees
FROM OTHBR BNTITIES USD 103 THOUSanD CZK 2,204 THOUSAND
EUR 4,007 THOUSAND CZK 105,158 THOUSAND
CZK 120,697 THOUSAND CZK 120,697 THOUSAND

As of 31 December 2021, the Company records in off-balance sheet records both promissory notes issued by the Company in favour of credit institutions
and promissory notes received, issued in favour of the Company to collateralise financial payables under the Revolving Credit Agreements.

As of 31 December 2021, the Company records in its favour a pledge on receivables as a means of collateralising financial debts under the Credit
Agreement.
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Legal Disputes

Dispute initiated by certain former shareholders of the Company for reviewing the adequacy of the payments, provided by MORAVIA STEEL a.s., that belong
to former shareholders according to the resolution of the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 31 July 2013, on the transfer of the shares
of the Company owned by other shareholders to MORAVIA STEEL, a.s., as the majority shareholder. The Company is referred to as another participant in
the proceedings. Through its ruling of 8 June 2018, the Regional Court in Ostrava determined that the amount of an adequate payment per each share with
the nominal value of CZK 1,000 thousand issued by the Company is CZK 2,284. The High Court in Olomouc confirmed the above ruling on 11 September
2019 in appeal proceedings and the ruling is final and conclusive. The Supreme Court rejected the appeal. A constitutional complaint is pending before the
Constitutional Court.

Dispute initiated by the insolvency trustee of the debtor VITKOVICE GEARWORKS a.s., regarding the ineffectiveness of the agreement on
the extinguishment of mutual obligations concluded between the Company, Strojirny a stavby Tfinec, a.s., and this debtor, based on which the
Company’s obligation to pay an amount to this debtor, the settlement of which is now being sought by the plaintiff, ceased to exist. The Regional Court
in Ostrava rejected the lawsuit. On 23 May 2018, the Head Court in Olomouc revoked the ruling of the Regional Court in Ostrava and referred the matter
back to the court for additional proceedings. Following the completion of the debtor’s restructuring, the dispute is ongoing after the insolvency trustee of
VITKOVICE POWER ENGINEERING a.s. became the new plaintiff. The Regional Court in Ostrava rejected the legal action again on 17 April 2019. The High
Court in Olomouc cancelled the judgement of the Regional Court in Ostrava on 17 December 2019 and referred the matter back to the court for further
proceedings. By the ruling of 10 February 2021, the Regional Court in Ostrava rejected the legal action. The High Court in Olomouc confirmed the above
ruling on 29 June 2021 and the ruling is final and conclusive. The appeal is pending before the Supreme Court. The result of the dispute will not have
a significant impact on the Company.

He dispute initiated by Mapfre Esparia Compaiiia de Seguros y Reseguros, S.A. (“Mapfre”) against the Company and against MORAVIA STEEL a.s. (“MS*)
for the payment (jointly and severally) of an amount including fees and interest, representing, as claimed by Mapfre, the damage suffered by Mapfre by
paying damages on behalf of a customer of MS caused by alleged defective performance provided by the Company and MS. By the ruling of 21 April 2021,
the District Court in Frydek-Mistek rejected the lawsuit; the ruling is final and conclusive. Therefore, the Company is not obliged to pay anything to the
claimant in this case.

Environmental Liabilities
The Company was subject to an environmental audit, which highlighted the Company’s environmental obligations. Based upon the audit, the Company
entered into an agreement with the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic for the settlement of expenses involved in removing environmental
liabilities up to CZK 514 million that had arisen prior to privatisation.

Under the amendment to this contract concluded on 3 November 2008 with the Czech Republic — the Ministry of Finance, the guarantee of the Ministry
of Finance is capped at CZK 843.6 million. This guarantee covers environmental liabilities of the Company. For this reason, the Company does not create
a reserve for environmental burdens.

As of 31 December 2021, the Company used up funds in the amount of CZK 541,615 thousand (2020: CZK 540,796 thousand).
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Other
In 2021 and 2020, the Company was involved in the project of the Regional Economic Chamber of the Moravian-Silesian Region through which employee
education courses are provided. The support in this project is used in the de minimis mode.

In 2020, the Company was involved in the project “Education of REGRADA members as a joint path to the region’s development”, which is co-funded by
the European Union. Education as part of the project was provided at a discounted price and the remaining costs were funded by the subsidy’s recipient,
which is the Regional Development and Cooperation Council based in Tfinec.

3.16. POST BaLanGe SHeeT Events

On 15 February 2022, the Company sold its 46200/51330 share in MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM s.r.0.

The Company is assessing and trying to anticipate, as far as possible, the impact of the Russian-Ukrainian conflict, particularly in the area of iron ore
supplies from Ukraine and gas. The Company is aware of a threat in this area, with the possibility of a complete disruption of such supplies and is therefore
working to expand the range of iron ore suppliers.

In view of the rapid development of the situation, the Company continuously analyses these impacts, i.e., also at the time of preparing these financial
statements, and takes measures to eliminate the risks arising from these developments, including possible limitations on the Company’s production.
However, as of the balance sheet date, the Company continues to meet its obligations as they fall due and therefore continues to apply the going concern
basis of preparation.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - ASSETS (NCZKTHOUSAND

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
GROSS  ADJuSTment Net Net
TOTAL ASSETS 91716 686 -43 021259 48 695427 45357204
B. FIRBD aSSers 67357067 -42136 694 25220373 26385383
B.l. INTanGIBLE FIKED aSSers 593559 -405208 188 351 1296 487
B.LI. RESEARCH ano DEVELOPMENT 4553 -4553
B.l.2. VaLuaBLe RIGHTS 511495 -384 834 126 661 133154
B.l.2.l. SOFTWaRe 316 545 -256 499 60 046 57596
B.l2.2. OTHER VaLUGBLE RIGHTS 194950 -128 335 66615 75558
B.I.3. GOODWILL 315 -315
B.I4. OTHER INTANGIBLE FIKED @SSETS 69753 -15506 64247 1153 31
B.L.5. PREPAYMENTS FORINTANGIBLE FIHED aSSETS anb INTanGIBLE FIKED aSSETS UNDER CONSTRUCTION 7443 7443 10022
B.l5.2. INTANGIBLE FIHED @SSETS UNDER CONSTRUCTION 7443 7443 10022
B.II. TanGIBLE FIKED asSers 65732550 -41527 376 24205174 24258588
B.ILL Lano ano STRUCTURES 17369294 -8846234 8523060 8522268
B.ILLL Lano 798130 798130 795068
B.ILL2. STRUCTURES 16571164 -6846234 7724930 7727200
B.II.2. TanGIBLE MOVaBLE aSSETS anb SETS OF TanGIBLE MOVABLE aSSETS 47362088 -32594 818 14767270 14149107
B.Il4. OTHER TaNGIBLE FIKED asSers 101214 -78679 22535 23436
B..43.  SUNDRYTANGIBLE FIHED @SSETS 101214 -18679 22535 23436
B.ILG. PREPAYMENTS FOR TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSeTS anb TanGIBLE FIKED aSSETs UNDeR CONSTRUCTION 899 954 -7645 892309 1563777
B.ILG.I. PREPAYMENTS FOR TANGIBLE FIKED dSSETS 236552 236552 165999
B.1.5.2.  TANGIBLE FIHED @SSETS UNDER CONSTRUCTION 663402 -1645 695757 1397778

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - ASSETS (NCZKTHOUSAND)

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

GROSS  ADJuSTmMeEntT Net Net

B.IIL. NON-CURRENT FINanciaL assers 489471 -131718 357753 381867
B.IILI. EQUITY INVESTMENTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING ENTITY 461268 -113978 347290 371739
B.1I.3. EQUITY INVESTMENTS IN 8SSOCIATES 26202 -17740 8462 8127
B.IILG. OTHER NON-CURRENT SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS 200l 200l 2001
B.IV. GOODWILL onconsoLiparion 367023 -12392 294631 284 665
B.IV.I. POSITIVE GOODWILL 0N ConsoLiparion 381689 -74820 306769 29753
B.IV.2. NEGaTIVE GOODWILL 0N consoLiparion -14566 2428 -12138 -12 866
B.. SECURITIES anb eguITy INVeSTMENTS UNDER eouITY accounTting 174464 174464 163776
C. CURRENT asSets 24359619 -884 565 23475054 18 971821
C.l. InvenToRies 17403 933 -805880 16 598 053 13129606
C.LL MarTeRlaL 8393171 -914116 7879055 5949893
C.l.2. WORK IN PROGRESS anD SEMIFINISHED GOODS 5326297 -185739 5140558 4162 257
C..3. PRODUCTS ano GooDS 3673892 -106 025 3567867 3012128
C..3.L. PRODUCTS 3603905 -104126 3499779 2942434
C..3.2. G0ODS 69987 -1899 68 088 69694
C.l5. PREPAYMENTS FOR INVENTORIES 10673 10573 5328
C.II. RecelvasLes 5850571 -7565I 5774920 3995927
C.ILI. LONG-TeRM REceIvaBLeS 35934 35934 41476
C.ILLL TRaDE RECEIVaBLES 17218 17218 20568
C.ILLE. RECEIVaBLES - OTHER 18716 18716 20908
C..l5.2.  LONG-TERM PREPAYMENTS MaDE 1195 1195 1205

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - ASSETS INCZKTHOUSAND)
31.12.2021 31.12.2020
GROSS  ADJuSTMenTt Net Net
C.IlL5.4.  SUNDRYRECEIVABLES 17521 17521 19703
C.l.2. SHORT-TERM RECEIVaBLES 5649024 -75651 5573373 3763744
C.l.2.1. TRADE RECEIVABLES 9143958 -64422 5089536 3164091
Cll.2.2. RECEIVABLES - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING eNTITY 13184 13184 8016
C.ll.24. RECEIVaBLeS - OTHER 491882 -21229 470653 991637
C.ll.2.41. RECEIvaBLES FROM PARTNERS 6792
C.ll.2.43.  STaTe-TaK RECEIVaBLES 342883 342883 510574
C.Il.2.4.4.  SHORT-TERM PREPAYMENTS MaDe 17392 17392 9703
C.Il.2.45.  ESTIMATED RECEIVABLES 64653 64653 34 386
C..2.4.6.  SUNDRYRECEIVABLES 66 954 -21229 45725 30182
C.IL3. OTHEeR assers 165613 165613 190707
C.I1.3.1. DEFERRED EHPENSES 74252 74252 71104
C.l.3.2. COMPLEH DEFERRED EXPENSES 90719 90719 115952
C..3.3.  ACCRueDIncome 642 642 365l
C.IIL CURRENT FinanciaL assers 3034 -3034
C.lI.2. OTHER CURRENT FINANClaL aSSets 3034 -3034
C.IV. CasH 1102 081 1102 081 1846288
C.IV.1. CasSHOoNnHano 4245 4245 4220
C.v.2. CaSHaT Bank 1097836 1097836 1842 068
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CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - LIABILITIES & EQUITY (NCZKTHOUSAND

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 48695427 45357204
A. EQUITY 33595087 31394648
Al SHaRe caPiral 8109863 8109863
AlLL SHaRe CaPITaL 8109863 8109863
Al SHaRe PRemium anb caPiTal FUNDS -102 015 43466
All2. CapiraL Funos -102 015 43466
All2.l. 0THEeR CaPITaL FUNDS 113444 113 444
All.2.2. GaINS OR LOSSES FROM THE RevaLuation OF aSSets anb LIaBILITIES (+/-) -215459 -69978
Al FUNDS FROM PROFIT 3312852 3312852
AILL OTHBR RBSERVE FUNDS 3312 852 3312852
AIV. Rerainep earnings (+/-) 19340509 18 845478
AV, ACCUMULATeD PROFITS OR LOSSES BROUGHT FORWARD 19340509 18845478
AV. PROFITORLOSS FOR THe GURRENT PERIOD NET OF MINORITY INTERESTS 2254357 435652
AV PROFITOR LOSS FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD (+/-) 2211486 403469
AV.2. SHaRe OF INCOMe FROM aSSaciaTes 42 871 32183
AVIL. CONSoLIDATIoON RESERVeE FUND 679521 647337
B.+C. LiaBILITIeS 14792 393 13673 837
B. RESERIES 683 846 418103
B.I. RESERVES FOR PENSIONS anb SIMILAR LIABILITIES 4505 6207
B.3. RESERVES UNDER SPECIAL LeGISLATION 9915 4750
B.4. OTHBR RESERVES 669426 407146
C. PayaBLeS 14108 547 13255734
C.l. LONG-TeRM PayaBLES 4688 321 4456 055
C.l.2. PayaBLES T0 CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 2861157 2680662

e TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEET FULL VERSION - LIABILITIES & EQUITY (N GZK THOUSAND)
C.l4. TRADE PayaBLeS 41739 36815
C.1.8. DEFERRED TAK LIABILITY 1784830 1737783
C.1.9. PAyBLES - OTHER 595 795
C.1.9.3. SUNDRY PayaBLeS 595 795
C.Il. SHORT-TERM PaYyaBLES 9384271 8769749
c.l.2. PayaBLES T0 CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 1995596 1459965
C.I.3. SHORT-TERM PREPAYMENTS RECEIVED 34 363 39933
C.l1.4. TRADE PayaBLeS 5794680 5050046
C.I.8. 0THER PayaBLeS 1559632 2219805
C.I.8.. PayaBLeS T0 PARTNERS 4145
C.1.8.2. SHORT-TERM FINANCIaL BORROWINGS 139 23
C.1.8.3. PayaBLeS T0 emPLOYEES 601201 563392
C.1.8.4. SOCIaL SeCURITY anD HeaLTH INSURANCE PayaBLES 234242 232644
C.1.8.5. STate - Tak PayaBLEeS anb SUBSIDIBS 382813 1204788
C.I.8.6. ESTIMATED PAYaBLES 274075 159483
C.1.8.7. SUNDRY PayaBLeS 67162 55330
C.I. OTHER LIaBILITIES 35955 29930
C.IILL. ACCRUBD ERPENSES 25015 21174
Cc.l.2 DEFERRED INCOMeE 10940 8756
D. MINORITY 60UITY 307947 288719
DI MINORITY SHARE CaPITaL 58800 58800
D.2. MINORITY CaPITAL FUNDS 6874 5648
D.3. MINORITY PROFIT FUNDS INCLUBING aCCUMuLaTen PROFITS anD LOSSES BROUGHT FORWARD 219370 215141
D.5. MINORITY PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD 22903 9130
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT (NGZKTHOUSAND)

YeaR ennep 31.12.2021 YeaR enbep 31.12.2020

} SdLes OF PRODUCTS anb SERvICes 06 423204 45519599
L. SaLeS OF GOODS 303996 180767
A PURCHASED CONSUMABLES anb SERVICES 46319068 36303 323
Al COSTS OF GOODS SOLD 243629 147431
A2. CONSumen materliaL anb ENERGY 41854704 327449711
A3. SERvICeS 4220735 3410921
B. CHanGe ININTERNALLY PRODUCED INVENTORY (+/-) -1378154 -19015l
C. OWN WORH CaPITaLISED (-) -1311683 -830490
D. STAFFCOSTS 7720006 7380087
D.l. P@YROLL COSTS 5428266 5205676
D.2. SOCIaL SECURITY anp HEALTH INSURANCE COSTS anb 0THER CHARGES 2291740 2174411
D2l SOCIaL SECURITY anb HEALTH INSURANCE COSTS 1991400 1919151
D2.2. OTHER CHAaRGES 300340 295260
E. ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2162 858 2203430
El ADJUSTMENTS T0 VaLues OF INTanGIBLE anb TanGIBLE FIKED aSSeTS 2308844 2224527
ELL ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES OF INTaNGIBLE anD TanGIBLE FIRED aSSETS - PERManent 2257263 2211600
ELA. RELEASE OF POSITIVE CONSOLIDATION DIFFERENCE (GOODWILL) 22758 17429
ELB. RELEASE OF NEGATIVE CONSOLIDATION DIFFERENCE (GOODWILL) -728 -730
El2. ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES OF INTANGIBLE anD TANGIBLE FIHED aSSETS - TEMPORARY 2955 -3772
E2. ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES OF INVENTORIES -133919 -18573
E.3. ADJUSTMENTS TO VALUES OF RECEIVABLES -12.067 -2524

e TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT (N GZK THOUSAND)
M. OTHER OPERatInG Income 5781887 2762099
LI SALesS OF FIReD aSSets 71083 18206
M.2. SaLes OF maTeRliaL 207940 115559
.3. SUNDRY OPERATING INCOMe 5502 864 2628284
k. 0THER OPBRATING eXPENSeS 6259775 3019566
k. NETBOOK vaLue OF SOLD FIKeD aSSEeTS 11770 5089
F.2. NETBOOH vaLue OF SOLD maTerlaL 180 417 113699
k3. TaXes anb CHARGES 66 786 72349
k4. RBSEBRVES RBLATING TO OPERATING aCTIVITIES anD COMPLEX DEFERRED BHPENSES 290450 75602
F.5. SUNDRY OPERATING BHPENSEeS 5710 352 2752827
* OPERATING PROFIT OR LOSS (+/-) 2737217 576700
V. [NCOME FROM NON-CURRENT FINanclaL aSSets - eQUITY INVESTMENTS 271733 9267
IV.I. NCOME FROM eQUITY INVESTMENTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING ENTITY 27733 9267
VI, INTBRESTINCOMe anpb SiImILaR INCome 393 1105
VLI, INTERESTINCOME andb SIMILAR INCOME - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING ENTITY 75 77
Vi.2. OTHEBR INTERESTINCome anp SImILar INCOMe 318 1028
l. ADJUSTMENTS T0 vaLues anb RESERVES RELATING TO FInanciaL acTIvITIeS 66785 19674
J. INTEREST BHPENSES anb SIMILAR BHPENSES 37448 54055
J.2. OTHEBR INTEREST ERPENSES anD SIMILAR EXPENSES 37448 54055
VII. OTHER FInanciaL Income 205129 252035
K. OTHER FInanclaL e’Penses 184919 252 814
* FInanciaL PROFIT OR LOSS (+/-) -55897 -64136

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT (N CZK THOUSAND)
* PROFIT OR LOSS BEFORE TaH (+/-) 2681320 512564
L. INCOMe TaH 446931 99965
L.l pueincome Tak 431423 71446
L.2. DEFERRED INCOME TaK (+/-) 15508 28519
* PROFIT OR LOSS NET OF TaH (+/-) 2234389 412599
= CONnSoLIDATeD PROFIT OR LOSS NET OF SHARe OF INCOMe FROM assaciates 2234389 412599

CONSOLIDATeD PROFIT OR LOSS NET OF MINORITY INTERBSTS 2211486 403469
MINORITY PROFIT OR LOSS 22903 9130
* SHaRre OF Income FROM assaciaTes 42871 32183
PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD (+/-) 2277260 444782
o PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE GURRENT PERIOD NET OF MINORITY INTERESTS (+/-) 2254 357 435652
* NETTURNOVER FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD 62742 342 48724 872
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (NCZKTHOUSAND)

SHaRecaPITaL  CapITaLFUNDS FUNDS FROM RETaINeD PROFITOR  CONSOLIDATION SHaReOF  TOTALEQUITY

PROFIT, OTHER eaRNINGS LOSSFOR  RESERVEFUND  INCOME FROM

RESERVE FUNDS THE CURRENT assoclares

PERIOD

BALANCE aT 31 DECEMBER 2019 8109863 74585 3312852 18215435 630043 631481 15856 30990115
PROFIT FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD 403469 32183 435652

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT OR LOSS 630043 -630043 15,856 -15.856
REVALUATION OF ASSETS -31119 -31119
BALANCE a 31 DECEMBER 2020 8109863 43466 3312852 18845478 403469 647337 32183 31394648
PROFIT FOR THE CURRENT PERIOD 2211486 42871 2254357

DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT OR LOSS 403469 -403469 32183 -32183

RECLASSIFICATION/USE OF FUNDS -89294 89294

REVALUATION OF ASSETS -56 187 -56 187
OTHER 2268 ! 2269
BALANCE aT 31 DECEMBER 202! 8109863 102015 3312852 19.340509 2211486 67952! 42871 33595087
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT INCZKTHOUSAND)

YeaR enoep 31.12.2021 YeaR enbep 31.12.2020

P. oPeninG BaLance OF GasH anb CasH equivaLents 1837585 1009782
CasH FLOWS FROM ORDINGRY aCTIVITIES (OPERATING ACTIVITIES]
L PROFITOR LOSS FROM ORDINGRY aCTIVITIES BEFORE TaK 2681320 012 564
Al ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 2756473 2413402
ALl DEPRECIATION OF FIKED dSSETS ERCLUDING NET BOOK VaLUE OF FIKED aSSETS SOLD, aMORTISATIOoN OF THE vaLuarion 2279293 2228299
DIFFERENCE 0N aCOUIRED aSSETS anb GOODWILL anD GOODWILL 0N CONSOLIDaTion

Al2. CHanGe IN PROVISIONS @nb RESERVES 240800 70407
Al3. PROFIT/(LOSS) 0N THE SaLE OF FIRED aSSETS -69313 -13167
Al4. REVENUEes FROM PROFIT SHARES, EKCEPT FOR THOSE PalID FROM CONSOLIDATION ENTITIES -271733 -9267
Alb. INTEREST EKPENSE anD INTEREST INCOME 37055 52950
A6 ADJUSTMENTS FOR OTHER NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS -53 832 84180
AL7 COSTS OF BMISSION aLLOWance consumetion 340203

A" NeT 0PEeRartinG CasH FLOW BEFORE CHanGes in WORKING CaPITal 5437793 2925966
A2. CHAanGe In WORKING CaPITaL -4408714 683132
A2l CHanGe IN 0PERATING RECEIVABLES anb OTHER 8SSETS -2031055 270407
A2.2. CHanGe In OPERATING PAYaBLES anD OTHER LIABILITIES 995474 677260
A23. CHanGe In INVenToRIES -3373336 -264 412
A2.4. CHanGe IN CURRENT FINanclaL aSSets 203 -123
A NEeT CasH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE TaH 1029079 3609098
A3. INTEREST PaID -37193 -54298
A4 INTEREST RECEIVED 388 1162
AS. INCOME TaK PalD FROM ORDINGRY OPERATIONS 2034 40944
AG. RECEIVED PROFIT SHARES 99916 25124
A NeT 0PEeRartinG CasH FLOWS 1054224 3622020

Q TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (NCZKTHOUSAND)

YeaR ennep 31.12.2021 YeaR enoep 31.12.2020

CasH FLOWS FROM INVESTING acTiviTies

B.l. FIRED aSSETS EHPENDITURES -2323063 -2372959
B.2. PROCEEDS FROM FIKED aSSETS SOLD 76064 30464
B.3. L0ans anb BORROWINGS TO RELATED PARTIES -5164 1000
B.7. EMISSION aLLOWance EHPENDITURES -340203

B NeTinuesTment CasH FLOWS -2592 366 -2341495

CasH FLOW FROM FinancialL activiTies

C.l. CHanGe In PayaBLES FROM FINGNCING 800980 -443902
C.2. IMPaCT OF CHAaNGES In equiTy -4900 -8820
C.2.6. PROFIT SHARES PaID EHCEPT FOR THOSE PalD BETWEEN CONSOLIDATION ENTITIES -4900 -8820
(i NEeTFinanciaL casH FLOWS 796080 -452722
3 NeTincrease OR DECRease In CasH anb CasH eguivaLents -742062 827803
R. CLOSING BaLance oF CasH anb casH eouivaLents 1095523 1837585
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|. GENERAL INFORMATION

L.I. INCORPORATION @anD DESCRIPTION OF THe comPany

TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. s. (hereinafter the “Company”), was formed by the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic and was incorporated following
its registration in the Register of Companies of the Regional Court in Ostrava on 21 March 1991. The Company is primarily engaged in metallurgy with
a closed metallurgical cycle. In addition to the production of coke, pig iron and steel, the range of principal products provided by the Company involves the
products of rolling mills, namely blooms, slabs, billets, rods, reinforcing bars and thin, medium and heavy sections, rails including the production of plates,
clamps and jumpers for rails, steel tubes and drawing-quality steel.

The Company’s registered office is located at Pramyslova 1000, Staré Mé&sto, 739 61 Tfinec.

The Company’s issued share capital is CZK 8,109,863 thousand.

The sole shareholder of the Company is MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

1.2. GROUP IDENTIFIGATION

For the purposes of these notes to the consolidated financial statements, the Group includes (i) the Company, (ii) entity controlling the Company (hereinafter
the “controlling entity”) or entity holding an equity investment in the Company that is treated as part of “Equity investments in associates”, (iii) entities in
which the controlling entity, the Company or other entities controlled by them have an equity investment that is treated as part of “Equity investments —
controlled or controlling entity” (“hereinafter “subsidiaries”) or at least as part of “Equity investments in associates” (hereinafter “associates”).

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s., having its registered office at Primyslova 1000, Staré Mésto,
739 61 Ttinec, as the sole shareholder.

MORAVIA STEEL a.s. prepares the consolidated financial statements for the broadest group of reporting entities. These financial statements can be
obtained at the MORAVIA STEEL a.s.’s registered office.

The Company prepares the consolidated financial statements for the narrowest group of reporting entities. These financial statements can be obtained
at the Company’s registered office.

—
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1.3. BOARD OF DIREGTORS anbD SUPERVISORY BOARD @S OF 31 DEGEMBER 2021

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CHalRman Jan CzZunex SUPERVISORY BOARD CHaIRman TOMAS CHRENEK
ISTVICE CHaIRman CesLav Marex ISTVICE CHAIRman Jan MODER
2nDVICe CHAIRMan HENRYK HUCZaLa 2NDVICE CHAIRMaN EVZen BaLKO
MEMBER V0 Z1ZHa MEmBeR JOZEF BLASHO
MemBeR RADOMIRA PERARHOVA MemBeRr JanakanTorova

MemBeR MaRCEL PIBLESZ

During 2021, no changes were made in the composition of the Company’s Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board.

2. DEFINITION OF THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP, CONSOLIDATION SYSTEM
AND METHODS

2.1. ORGANISationdL STRUCTURE

The bodies of the Company are as follows:
— General Meeting;

— Supervisory Board; and

— Board of Directors.

The Company’s organisational structure is divided into individual levels, specifically the Chief Executive Officer and professional directors including HR
and External Relations Director, Finance Director, Production Director, Technical Director and Director for Investments and Strategy. Each professional
director’s division is further structured into professional sections and departments.

During 2021, no significant organisational changes were made.

—
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2.2.Names anb ReGISTeRED OFFICEeS OF SUBSIDIaRIeS anb ASSOCIATes INGLUDED In THe ConsoLiDaTen GROUP

The following companies were included in the consolidated group for the year ended 31 December 2021:

Subsidiaries:
Name OF THe comPany ReGISTERED OFFICE BUSINESS aCTIVITIES IE]
InvesTment
ar 31Dec 2021
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, 8.S. PRUMYSLOVA 1024, STARE MEST0,739 61 TRINEC ~ PRODUCTION anD DISTRIBUTION OF HEAT and LECTRICITY 100.00%
SLEVARNY TRINEC, &.5. PRUMYSLOVA 1001, STARE MESTO, 739 61 TRINEC ~ FOUNDRY INDUSTRY 100.00%
VUHZa.s. C.P.240,739 5/ DOBRE PRODUCTION, INSTALLATION @nD REPAIRS OF BLECTRONIC BQUIPMENT, 100.00%
FOUNDRY INDUSTRY, MODELLING
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL. S R.0. JIRASHOVA 987/50, 697 01 KYJOV RAILWAY ROUTE OPERATION, LOCKSMITHING, TOOL BNGINEERING, METALWORKING 100.00%
STROJIRNY @ STAVBYTRINEC,8.S.  PRUMYSLOVA 1038, STARE MESTO, 739 61 TRINEC ~ PRODUCTION OF MACHINERY anD TECHNOLOGY UNITS, MACHINERY BQUIPMENT, 100.00%
CONSTRUCTION WORK
METALURGIA“ SPOLKA AKCYJNA ULICA SWIETEJ ROZALIINR 10, LOK. 12, 97-500 PRODUCTION OF NAILS, WIRE anD WIRE PRODUCTS 100.00%
RADOMSKO, POLAND
,DED” DROTARU IPaR 6 ) 3527 MISHOLC, SaJ0SZIGETIUTCA 4., HUNGARY  PRODUCTION OF WIRE PRODUCTS 100.00%
KBRESHEDELMI Z4RTHORLEN
MUKODG RESZVENYTARSASAG"
ZDB DRATOVNA.S. JEREMENHOVA 66, PUDLOV, 735 51 BOHUMIN PRODUCTION OF DRAWN WIRE, STEEL CORD aND TUBULAR WIRE, ROPES, TISSUBS anD WeLDeD 100.00%
NETWORKS, SPRINGS, DRAW PLATES anD OTHER WIRE PRODUCTS
HZPas. DOLNI 3137/100, 796 01 PROSTEJOV PRODUCTION OF LEAF anD HELICAL SPRINGS FOR THE aUTOMOTIVE anD RAILWAY INDUSTRIES 100.00%
SV SERVISNI, S.R.0. DOLNI 3137/100, 796 01 PROSTEJOV ELBCTRICITY TRADING anD DISTRIBUTION, GAS TRADING anD DISTRIBUTION 100.00%
REFRASIL, S.R.0. PROMYSLOVA 720, KONSKA, 739 61 TRINEC PRODUCTION OF BUILDING MATERIALS, PORCELAIN, CERAMIC and PLASTER PRODUCTS 100.00%
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. C.P.10,565 43 ZAMRSH SMITHERY anD METALWORKING 100.00%
ReTézarRnaas. POLSHA 48,790 81 CESHA VeS PRODUCTION OF CHAINS, CHAIN PRODUCTS anD DRAWN WIRE 51.00%

Note: * hereinafter also “D&D” Drétaru Zrt.
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Associate:

Name OF THe company REGISTERED OFFICE BUSINESS acTIvITIES EQUITY
invesTment

daT31Dec 2021

VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.8 PRUMYSLOVA 726, KONSHA, 739 61 TRINEC PRODUCTION OF ISOSTATICALLY PRESSED HEAT-RESISTING PRODUCTS FOR CONTINUOUS STEEL CASTING 40.00%

No changes were made in the consolidation group in 2021.

The following companies were included in the consolidated group for the year ended 31 December 2020:

Subsidiaries:
Name OF THe comPany ReGISTEReD OFFICe BUSINESS acTivITIes EQuITY
InvesTmentar
31Dec 2020
ENERGETIKA TRINEC, .. PRUMYSLOVA 1024, STARE MESTO, 739 61 TRINEC ~ PRODUCTION @nD DISTRIBUTION OF HEAT aNnD ELECTRICITY 100.00 %
SLAVARNY TRINGC, .. PROMYSLOVA 1001, STARE MESTO, 739 61 TRINEC ~ FOUNDRY INDUSTRY 100.00 %
VUHZa.S. C.P.240,739 5 DOBRA PRODUCTION, INSTALLATION AND REPAIRS OF ELECTRONIC BQUIPMENT, FOUNDRY INDUSTRY, MODELLING 100.00 %
SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL.SR.0.  JIRASKOVA 987/50, 697 01 KYJOV RAILWaY ROUTE OPERATION, LOCKSMITHING, TOOL ENGINEERING, METALWORKING 100.00 %
STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINGC,a.S.  PRUMYSLOVA 1038, STARE MESTO, 739 61 TRINEC  PRODUCTION OF MACHINERY anD TECHNOLOGY UNITS, MACHINERY BQUIPMENT, CONSTRUCTION WORK 100.00 %
,METALURGIA“SPOLKA AKCYJNA  ULICA SWIETEJ ROZALIINR 10, LOK. 12, 97-500 PRODUCTION OF NAILS, WIRE anD WIRE PRODUCTS 100.00 %
RADOMSKO, POLAND
,DED” DROTARU IPaRl 6 ) 3527 MISKOLC, SaJ0SZIGETIUTCA 4., HUNGARY  PRODUCTION OF WIRE PRODUCTS 100.00 %
KBRESHEDELMI ZaRTHOR(EN
MUKODG RESZVENYTARSASAG*
ZDB DRATOVNAQ.S. JEREMENHOVA 66, PUDLOV, 735 51 BOHUMIN PRODUCTION OF DRAWN WIRE, STEEL CORD and TUBULAR WIRE, ROPES, TISSUES anD WELDED 100.00 %
NETWORHS, SPRINGS, DRAW PLATES @nD OTHER WIRE PRODUCTS
HZPa.s. DOLNI 3137/100, 796 01 PROSTAJOV PRODUCTION OF LBAF aNnD HeLICAL SPRINGS FOR THE QUTOMOTIVE and RAILWAY INDUSTRIES 100.00 %
SV SBRVISNI, S.R.0. DOLNI 3137/100, 796 01 PROSTAJOV ELECTRICITY TRADING aND DISTRIBUTION, GAS TRADING anD DISTRIBUTION 100.00 %
REFRASIL, S.R.0. PROMYSLOVA 720, KONSKA, 739 61 TRINEC PRODUCTION OF BUILDING MATERIALS, PORCELAIN, CERAMIC anD PLASTER PRODUCTS 100.00 %
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. C.P.10,565 43 ZAMRSHK SMITHERY anD METALWORKING 100.00 %
RET8ZaRNaa.Ss. POLSH4 48,790 81 CBSHA Ves PRODUCTION OF CHAINS, CHAIN PRODUCTS anD DRAWN WIRE 51.00 %

Note: * hereinafter also “D&D” Drétaru Zrt.
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Associate:
Name oF THe company ReGISTeReD OFFICe BUSINESS acTIvITIeS EQUITY
InvesTment at
31DeC 2020
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA,8.S.  PRUMYSLOVA 726, KONSKA, 739 61 TRINEC PRODUCTION OF ISOSTATICALLY PRESSED HEaT-ReSISTING PRODUCTS FOR CONTINUOUS STEEL CASTING 40.00 %

No changes were made in the consolidation group in 2020.
The consolidation methods were used in compliance with the consolidation rules of the consolidated group — full consolidation was applied in the case of
subsidiaries, consolidation under the equity method was used for associates.

2.3.THe BaLance SHeet DaTes ano ReGISTeRED OFFIGES OF THe ENTITIeS INCLUDEeD In THe CONSOLIDATeD GROUP

The financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated group were prepared as of and for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
“METALURGIA” SPOLKA AKCYJNA is based in Poland, “D&D” Drétaru Zrt. in Hungary, and other companies in the consolidation group are based in the
Czech Republic.

2.4. COmPanies ExGLUDED FROM consaoLipartion

Entities in which the Company has control or substantial influence are not included in the consolidated group if the share in the consolidation group is not

material in terms of giving a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidation group, when:

— The share of the recalculated consolidated assets of such subsidiary or associate in the total recalculated consolidated assets of the Company,
subsidiaries and associates is less than 1.5 percent, and the value of consolidated assets is recalculated using the percentage of the interest in the entity
which is owned by the Company;

— The share of the recalculated consolidated equity of such subsidiary or associate in the total recalculated consolidated equity of the Company,
subsidiaries, associates is less than 1.5 percent, and the value of consolidated equity is recalculated using the percentage of the interest in the entity
which is owned by the Company; and

— The share in the recalculated consolidated net turnover (revenues of account class 6) of such subsidiary or associate in the total recalculated
consolidated net turnover of the Company, subsidiaries, associates is less than 1.5 percent, and he value of the consolidated net turnover is recalculated
using the percentage of the interest in the entity which is owned by the Company.

If the entity exceeds any individual level of materiality for the inclusion in the consolidation group, there must be a real assumption for exceeding the
individual level of materiality for the following reporting period. An entity that does not meet the individual level of materiality for the inclusion in
the consolidation group, has to be included in the consolidation group if there is a real assumption of exceeding the level of materiality in the following
reporting period.

—
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The entities that meet the condition set out above for non-inclusion in the consolidated group, thereby not entering into consolidation based on
individual assessment, must also meet the group materiality criterion for non-inclusion. Under the group materiality criterion, these entities are taken
as one whole. This whole has to have (i) the share of the recalculated consolidated assets of this whole in the total recalculated consolidated assets of the
Company, subsidiaries, associates less than 1.5 percent, while the value of consolidated assets for these purposes is recalculated using the percentage
of the ownership share held by the Company (ii) the share of recalculated consolidated equity in total recalculated consolidated equity of the Company,
subsidiaries, associates less than 1.5 percent, while the value of consolidated equity for these purposes is recalculated using the percentage of the
ownership share held by the Company, and (iii) share of the recalculated consolidated net turnover (revenues of account class 6) in total recalculated
consolidated net turnover of the Company, subsidiaries, associates less than 1.5 percent, while the value of the consolidated net turnover for these
purposes is recalculated using the percentage of the ownership share held by the Company.

For calculating materiality levels, the Company, subsidiaries and associates with the exception of subsidiaries or associates in bankruptcy or liquidation
are taken into account.

3. BASIS OF AGCOUNTING AND GENERAL ACCOUNTING PRINGIPLES

The accounting records are maintained, and the consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with Accounting Act 563/1991 Coll.;
Regulation 500/2002 Coll. which provides implementation guidance on certain provisions of the Accounting Act for reporting entities that are businesses
maintaining double-entry accounting records, and Czech Accounting Standards for Businesses.

The accounting records are maintained in compliance with general accounting principles, specifically the historical cost valuation basis, the accruals
principle, the prudence concept and the going concern assumption.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company, accounting principles and policies used within the Group were
brought into line. Significant accounting principles and policies as they are used by individual companies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared on 1 March 2022. These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Czech
crowns (‘CZK)).

3.1. FinanCiaL RePORTING PERIOD

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were prepared as follows:
— The balance sheet contains comparative amounts as of 31 December 2020;

— The profit and loss account comprises comparative amounts for the year ended 31 December 2020;
— The statement of changes in equity contains comparative amounts as of 31 December 2020; and

— The cash flow statement comprises comparative amounts for the year ended 31 December 2020.

—
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AGCOUNTING POLICIES

4.l. TanGisLe anb INTanGIBLE FIKeD ASSeTS

Valuation
Tangible fixed assets include assets with an acquisition cost greater than CZK 40 thousand on an individual basis and an estimated useful life greater
than one year.

Intangible fixed assets include assets (such as software, valuable rights, research and development) with an acquisition cost greater than CZK 60
thousand on an individual basis and an estimated useful life greater than one year.

Tangible and intangible assets with an estimated useful life greater than one year and an acquisition cost equal to or lower than CZK 40 thousand and
CZK 60 thousand, respectively, are not treated as fixed assets. Such tangible assets are accounted for as inventory and when brought into use they are
charged to ‘Consumed material and energy’ in the profit and loss account. Intangible assets costing CZK 60 thousand and less are also expensed through
the account ‘Services’ in the year of acquisition.

The cost of tangible fixed asset improvements exceeding CZK 40 thousand on an individual basis increases the cost of the related tangible fixed asset
for the fiscal period.

The cost of intangible asset improvements exceeding CZK 60 thousand on an individual basis increases the cost of the related intangible fixed asset for
the fiscal period.

Starting from the reporting period beginning on 1 January 2022

- tangible and intangible fixed assets will include assets with the valuation exceeding CZK 80 thousand on an individual basis and useful life exceeding
one year;

— technical improvements on tangible and intangible assets, if exceeding CZK 80 thousand in individual assets in total for the reporting period, increases
the acquisition cost of fixed assets.

—
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Purchased tangible and intangible fixed assets are valued at cost. Tangible and intangible fixed assets developed internally are valued at direct costs,
incidental costs directly attributable to the internal production of assets (production overheads) and to the production period. Production overheads also
comprise costs for engineering activities. Costs of sale are not included.

The following tangible and intangible fixed assets are stated at replacement cost: tangible and intangible fixed assets acquired through donation,
intangible fixed assets internally generated, assets recently entered in the accounting records and an investment of intangible and tangible fixed assets,
except for cases where the investment is valued differently pursuant to a Memorandum of Association or a Foundation Deed.

The replacement cost is also applied to tangible fixed assets acquired under finance lease arrangements with an original cost exceeding CZK 1 million.
These assets are carried at replacement cost and recorded in the statutory books as fully depreciated. Replacement cost is determined by an expert
appraiser or through an estimate performed under the Group’s internal regulations.

The results of the research and development activities, if designed for trading or resale, are recognised through the balance sheet line ‘Development’.
Development results designed for internal purposes are not classified as intangible fixed assets and are recorded off balance sheet in the valuation of own
costs.

Greenhouse emission allowances (hereinafter also referred to as the “emission allowances”) are recognised as non-depreciable intangible fixed assets
and are stated at cost, or replacement cost when acquired free of charge. The use of emission allowances is accounted for at the balance sheet date as
a minimum, depending on the quantity of emissions of the entities included in the consolidation group in the relevant calendar year; a difference, if
any, arising from the verification of emissions by a verifier is recognised in the reporting period in which the verification was made. An initial free-of-
charge acquisition of the allowances is recognised as a subsidy not reducing the carrying amount of the intangible fixed assets. This ‘subsidy’ is released
into income on a systematic basis as the allowances are used and charged to expenses. The sale of free allowances is recorded as a component of ‘Other
operating income’ in the profit or loss account. In case of sale of purchased allowances, such sale is recorded as a component of ‘Sales of fixed assets’ in the
profit or loss account. The exchange of CER credits for allowances is recognised as a component of ‘Other intangible fixed assets’ against ‘Sundry operating
expenses’ and ‘Sundry operating income’.

As of the consolidated balance sheet date, emission allowances are valued according to the EUROPEAN ENERGY EXCHANGE rate. The decrease in
the valuation of allowances acquired on a free-of-charge basis as of the consolidated balance sheet date is recognised in the balance sheet lines ‘Other
intangible fixed assets’ and ‘State — tax payables and subsidies’. An upward revaluation of the allowances is not recognised. If there is a lack of allowances
at the consolidated balance sheet date, a reserve is presented in the balance sheet as part of ‘Other reserves’ and in the profit and loss account as part of
‘Reserves and provisions relating to operating activities and complex deferred expenses’. The reserve for the purchase of allowances is released in the
following accounting period when the missing allowances are purchased or used from the free of charge allocation of the following period.

Due to the mergers completed in prior reporting periods, emission allowances are reported on standalone ETS Registry accounts depending on the
locally-defined operation facility. For the purposes of reporting, the EUA allowances are recorded in a single sub-ledger account; in reporting the disposal
of emission allowances, the FIFO valuation method is applied.

—
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Depreciation for Accounting Purposes
Depreciation of fixed assets, other than land and assets under construction, is recorded on a straight line basis over the depreciation period indicated below:

CATeGORY OF aSSETS DePRecIation PERIOD IN Years

STRUCTURES 2-T71
MaCHINEs anb equIPment 2-42
VEHICLES 3-40
FURNITURE anD FIKTURES 6-15
SOFTWaRe 3-7

The depreciation period in years is established in terms of the estimated useful life of the fixed assets taking into account the operational conditions.

If the inventory count indicates that the estimated useful life of assets has changed, the depreciation period of the related asset is appropriately
adjusted.

The bulk of buildings and structures are depreciated over 45 — 60 years. The shorter depreciation period is applied to temporary structures and short-
term structures (lighting, fencing, energy grids, pipelines, etc.). A depreciation period over 60 years is applied to structures with a long useful life such as
railway and road bridges, conveying tunnels, and production and administrative buildings.

The bulk of machines and equipment are depreciated over 15 — 25 years. The shorter depreciation period is primarily applied to IT systems, management
systems, devices, etc.; the longer depreciation period is applied in exceptional cases to agglomeration equipment.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the net book value of
the asset at the sale date and is recognised through the profit and loss account.

Provisioning
Provisions against tangible assets are recognised in circumstances where the carrying value is greater than value in use, which is equal to the present
value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of fixed assets or anticipated income for the intended sale.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).
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4.2. NON-CURReNT FinancliaL ASSeTs

Non-current financial assets principally consist of equity investments in controlled entities, equity investments in associates, securities and equity
investments available for sale.

Valuation
Securities and equity investments are carried at cost upon acquisition. The cost of securities or equity investments includes direct costs of acquisition,
such as fees and commissions paid to brokers, advisors and stock exchanges.

At the consolidated balance sheet date:
Equity investments are valued at cost less provisions against equity investments.

Available-for-sale securities are valued pursuant to the Accounting Act (Section 27) at fair value, determined by reference to the market value or
a reasonable estimate. If the determination of fair value is not practicable, the securities are valued at cost.

At the consolidated balance sheet date, changes in the fair value of available-for-sale securities are recorded through balance sheet accounts ‘Other
non-current securities and equity investments’ and ‘Gains and losses from the revaluation of assets and liabilities’. A deferred tax is determined in respect
of the revaluation difference where the value of available-for-sale securities increases, and is recorded through accounts ‘Gains and losses from the
revaluation of assets and liabilities’ and ‘Deferred tax liability’.

Upon sale or any other disposal, they are valued on the basis of the weighted average of the costs.

Investments in enterprises in which entities consolidated using the full method have the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to
obtain benefits from their activities are treated as ‘Equity investments — controlled or controlling entity’.

Investments in enterprises in which entities consolidated using the full method are in a position to exercise significant influence over their financial
and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities are treated as ‘Equity investments in associates’.

Provisioning against equity investments
Investments are provisioned if there is a risk that the fair value of a non-current financial asset is lower than its carrying value.

In charging provisions against equity securities that are not fair valued, the Group refers to its detailed knowledge of the relevant entity, the results of
its operations and reflects its interest in the entity’s equity.
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4.3. Derlvartive FinanciaL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative financial instruments are designated as either trading or hedging. The criteria for a derivative instrument to be accounted for as a hedge are as

follows:

— At the inception of the hedge, a decision was made regarding hedged items and hedging instruments, risks to be hedged, the approach to establishing and
documenting whether the hedge is effective;

— The hedge is highly effective (that is, within a range of 80 percent to 125 percent); and

— The hedge effectiveness can be measured reliably and is assessed on an ongoing basis, the effectiveness is assessed at the derivative trade date and
subsequently at the balance sheet date.

If derivative instruments do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting referred to above, they are treated as trading derivatives.

Derivative financial instruments are concluded for the contracted transaction volume. Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value at the
consolidated balance sheet date. In determining the fair value, the Company has referred to the market value.

A cash flow hedge is a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk associated with a contract, a forecasted
future transaction, groups of assets, groups of liabilities, or contracts or forecasted future transactions with similar characteristics where the same type
and category of risk is the subject of the hedge. Gains or losses arising over the term of the hedge from changes in fair values of hedging derivatives
contracted under cash flow hedging that are attributable to the hedged risks are retained on the balance sheet. The gains or losses are taken to income
or expenses in the same period in which the income or expenses associated with the hedged item are recognised. Gains or losses arising from changes in
fair values of hedging derivatives contracted under cash flow hedging that are attributable to unhedged risks are recorded as expenses or income from
derivative transactions at the measurement date.

4.4. CURRENT FinanclaL ASSeTs ano CasH

Current financial assets principally consist of short-term debt securities with a maturity of less than one year and other securities available for sale.
Current financial assets are carried at cost upon acquisition.
Cash consists of cash on hand and cash at bank.

—
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4.5. INVeNTORY

Valuation
Purchased inventory is valued at acquisition costs. Acquisition costs include the purchase cost and indirect acquisition costs such as custom fees, freight
costs and storage fees during transportation, commissions and insurance charges.

Inventory is issued out of stock at costs determined using the weighted arithmetic average method.

Internally produced inventory is valued at cost using a costing formula in which the pure charge is valued at the actual cost and processing costs are
valued at planned rates of the particular year.

At the consolidated balance sheet date, the Company assesses the actual costs of the charge and the difference between the actual costs of the charge
and the valuation of the charge from the prior month is reflected only in the financial accounting records. In respect of processing costs, the difference
between the value of processing costs of the planned operations valued at planned rates of the particular year and the value of the actually completed
operations valued at planned rates of the particular year is reflected in the financial accounting accounts.

Provisioning
Provisions against the inventory of material are made in respect of inventory with low or no movement and a very low likelihood for processing following
an individual analysis.

Provisions against the inventory of finished products and semi-finished products are charged based on their realisability.

4.6. RECelVaBLeS

Upon origination, receivables are stated at their nominal value as subsequently reduced by appropriate provisions for doubtful and bad amounts.

Provisioning
The Group recognises provisions against receivables, the recoverability of which is doubtful.

Tax deductible provisions against receivables are made pursuant to Act No. 586/1992 Coll,, the Income Taxes Act, and Act No. 593/1992 Coll,, the
Provisioning Act.

Non-tax deductible provisions (other than intercompany) are created as follows:
a) Receivables past due for 1 year and more are provisioned in full; and
b) Receivables past due over six months but less than one year are provisioned at 50%.

In addition, provisions are recognised against specific receivables following an assessment of their collectability.
The Company also creates provisions against interest-free long-term receivables. This provisioning charge is calculated as equal to the difference
between the nominal value and the discounted value of these receivables.
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4.]. PayaBLeS

Trade payables and other payables are stated at their nominal value. Long-term bills of exchange to be settled are recorded at nominal value. Interest on
these bills is accrued over their maturity period.

4.8. PdYaBLES T0 CReDIT INSTITUTIONS

Payables to credit institutions are reported at nominal value. The portion of long-term payables to credit institutions maturing within one year from the
balance sheet date and revolving payables to credit institutions which are regularly rolled over to the following period are included in short-term payables
to credit institutions.

4.9. RBSERVES

Other reserves are created to provide for future risks known at the balance sheet date. In addition, a reserve is recorded for the restoration and
maintenance of a dump site and clean-up after termination of the operation of the site in accordance with Regulation of No. 294/2005 Coll. on Conditions
for Storing Waste in Dump Sites.

4.10. ACCRUALS anD DEFerRRaALS

Accrual and deferral accounts include deferred and accrued income and expenses. Deferred expenses include deferrals of only such items which are very
likely, or certain, to bring a specific measurable effect in the form of income or other economic benefits in the following years over which they are deferred.
Immaterial and regular expenses or income are not deferred. Comprehensive deferred expenses include the costs of research and development and
implementation of projects relating to software acquisition.

4.11. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Transactions in foreign currencies conducted during the year are translated using he exchange rate of the Czech National Bank prevailing on the date
preceding the transaction date.

Cash denominated in foreign currencies (foreign currency cash) is translated into Czech crowns using the fixed monthly exchange rate as notified by
the Czech National Bank as of the first day of the month in which it was recorded.

At the balance sheet date, the relevant assets and liabilities are translated at the Czech National Bank’s exchange rate prevailing as of that date.

Prepayments for tangible and intangible fixed assets received after 31 December 2020, if such prepayments are non-refundable, are considered as part
of the purchase price of the specific fixed asset at the consolidated balance sheet date and are not translated at the Czech National Bank’s exchange rate
as of the consolidated balance sheet date. Prepayments for fixed assets received before 1 January 2021, reported in a foreign currency at the consolidated
balance sheet date, are translated at the Czech National Bank’s exchange rate applicable at the consolidated balance sheet date.
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Exchange rate differences on provisions for newly created foreign currency receivables exceeding CZK 1 million are recognised individually through
financial profit or loss (account 563 foreign exchange losses or 663 foreign exchange gains). Below this amount, foreign exchange gains or losses on
provisions for foreign currency receivables continue to be reported in the operating profit or loss as the recognition or a release of the provision for
receivables.

4.12. Tararion
4.12.1. DBPRECIATION OF FIXED ASSETS FOR TaK PURPOSES

Depreciation of fixed assets is recorded on an accelerated basis for tax purposes under Section 32 of Act No. 586/1992 Coll., on Income Taxes, with

the exception of assets used in the Tube Rolling Mill (the VT operation), VZ - Sochorové valcovna plant and the Univerzalni trat plant and the Track
Fastenings Plant and assets used by ZDB DRATOVNA a.s. and Ret&z4rna a.s. which are depreciated using both the straight line and accelerated methods
for tax purposes. HZP a.s., SV servisni, s.r.o., Slévarny Ttinec, a.s., REFRASIL, s.r.o. and VUHZ a.s. use the straightline method for the calculation of
depreciation for tax purposes.

4.12.2. CURRENT Tak PayaBLe

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the reporting period. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the profit and loss account
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted by the balance sheet date.

4.12.3. DEFERRED TaR

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.

Under the liability method, deferred tax is calculated at the income tax rate that is expected to apply in the period when the tax liability is settled.

The balance sheet liability method focuses on temporary differences which are differences between the tax base of an asset or liability and its carrying
amount in the balance sheet. The tax base of an asset or liability is the amount that will be deductible for tax purposes in the future.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the profit and loss account, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

The deferred tax asset/liability reported by the Group is the sum of deferred tax assets/liabilities of individual companies of the consolidation group
that are reported by companies in their separate financial statements.

4.13. BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs arising from payables to credit institutions are included directly in expenses regardless of the purpose for which they were drawn.

—
IX NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 FINANCIAL SEGTION 121



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

4.14. COSTS RELATING TO EMPLOYEesS HIRED THROUGH aln EMPLOYMENT AGeNncY

The staff costs of employees hired through an employment agency who are temporarily assigned to perform work under an agreement with the
employment agency (agency employees) are reported as part of social costs (‘Other expenses’ in the profit and loss account) which include the actually
paid salaries including social security and health insurance costs. The costs of other aids and protective drinks for agency employees are reported
under ‘Consumed material and energy’. Other payments for the services of the employment agency, such as mediation fees or the employment
agency’s overheads, are reported under ‘Services’.

4.15. Révenue rRecoaniTion

Revenues are recognised when goods are delivered and accepted by the customer or when services are rendered and are reported net of discounts and VAT.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.
Profit share income is recognised when the Company’s General Meeting, i.e. the sole shareholder acting in the capacity thereof, adopts a decision on
profit distribution.
Insurance claims received are credited to income of the reporting period in which the amount of the claim is recognised by the insurer. If the claim has
not been recognised, an estimated receivable for claims received is made only for the actual expenses incurred to recover the consequences of the claim
in the relevant reporting period.

4.16. USEe OF ESTIMATes

The presentation of consolidated financial statements requires making estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities as of the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company has made these
estimates and assumptions on the basis of all the relevant information available to it. Nevertheless, pursuant to the nature of estimates, the actual results
and outcomes in the future may differ from these estimates.

4.17. ReSEaRCH anb DeveLoPMenT EXPENDITURE

Research and development expenditure is capitalised as part of cost and posted to the acquisition of tangible or intangible fixed assets if the research and
development projects result in fixed assets (tangible and intangible). The output of a research and development project is capitalised on the basis of the
results of opponent proceedings. A detailed analysis of the projects in progress is undertaken at the consolidated balance sheet date and the costs incurred
are charged to expenses or recognised as complex deferred expenses in the event that there is doubt over the completion or future utilisation of the project.

Permanent development is posted directly to expenses, taking into account repeatability and materiality. The materiality criterion is defined as follows:
“If the expenses on permanent development for the relevant reporting period do not exceed on average more than 50% of the expenses on permanent
development for the previous 2 reporting periods, all such expenses are posted to expenses in the relevant reporting period. If the abovementioned
threshold is exceeded, the entity will select the projects responsible for the materiality threshold being exceeded and, after analysis, capitalises them in
the complex deferred expenses”.
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4.18. SUBSIDIES

Operating subsidies received are credited to income on an accruals basis.

In accordance with Government Regulation no. 565/2020 Coll., on Conditions for the Provision of Compensations for Indirect Costs for Industrial Sectors
in which a Significant Risk of Carbon Leakage was Identified, as a Result of the Effect of the Costs relating to Greenhouse Gas Emissions on Electricity
Prices, these compensations are recognised in the reporting period in which the Ministry of Industry and Trade issues a resolution regarding the provision
of compensation.

Subsidies for the acquisition of fixed assets reduce the cost of assets.

4.19. CASH FLOW STaTement

The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect method.

For cash flow reporting purposes, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and duty stamps, cash at bank except for deposits with maturity
longer than three months, and current liquid assets easily convertible into cash in an amount agreed in advance where no significant changes in the value
of these assets are expected over time.

Cash and cash equivalents can be analysed as follows: (CZK THOUSAND)
CaSHONHano 4245 4220
CdSH aT Bank 1097836 1842 068
OTHER CURRENT FInanclaL aSSets 3034 3034
PROVISIONS @GAINST OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL aSSETs -3034 -3034
TOTAL CURRENT FinanciaL asSeTs ano casH 1102081 1846 288
CASH ano CasH equIvaLenTsS noT INCLUDED IN THE CasH FLOW -6558 -8703
T0TaL CasH anb GasH equivaLents 1095523 1837585

The difference between cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 reported in the cash flow statement as opposed to the current
financial assets and cash disclosed in the balance sheet represents blocked deposits that are restricted with regard to the free handling of the funds.
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4.20. consoLiDation RULES

The individual items of the balance sheets and the profit and loss accounts of subsidiaries consolidated under the full consolidation method were added
up in total amounts with the balance sheet and the profit and loss account of the Company. Furthermore, financial investments of the Company were
eliminated against acquired equity, inter-company supplies, receivables and payables, including profits from the sale of the fixed assets realised among
the consolidated group companies, and profit margins relating to inventories not yet consumed.

Under the equity consolidation method, financial investments of the Company were eliminated from the balance sheet against acquired equity. The
assets in the consolidated balance sheet include the item ‘Securities and equity interests under equity accounting’, whose balance is calculated as the share
in the equity of associates. This item was adjusted by a portion of the profit margin, reflecting the share in the equity of an associate, on intercompany
supplies of inventories not yet consumed. Liabilities of the consolidated balance sheet include the item ‘Share of income from associates’ which represents
the Company’s share in the current period’s results of associates, and the ‘Consolidation reserve fund’ comprising an associate’s accumulated profit/loss of
previous years.

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the difference between the cost of an investment in the consolidated entity and its value determined on
the basis of the Company’s interest in the fair value of equity which arises as a difference between the fair values of assets and the fair values of liabilities
as of the acquisition date or as of the date of a further capital increase (a further increase of investments). The acquisition date is the date from which the
effectively controlling entity starts to exercise influence over the consolidated entity.

From the reporting period beginning on 1 January 2018 onwards, the Company has amortised goodwill arising on consolidation reported in the
consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2017 over 20 years on a straight-line basis in compliance with Czech Accounting Standard No. 20.

Previously, positive (negative) goodwill arising on consolidation was measured at cost which was adjusted by accumulated losses (accumulated profits)
from the change in this value, with the testing of the change in the value performed on an annual basis. The method of reporting goodwill arising on
consolidation was based on International Accounting Standards and did not have a material impact on the Group’s profits or losses.

Amortisation charges of goodwill arising on consolidation are recognised in a special consolidated profit and loss account line item the release of
a positive consolidation difference (goodwill) or release of a negative consolidation difference (bargain purchase gain) with a charge against expenses or
a credit to income from common activities as appropriate.

The assets and liabilities of companies included in the consolidated group after 1 January 2003 were remeasured at fair value in accordance with the
accounting regulations applicable for consolidation.

The consolidation of the financial statements was performed using the direct consolidation method.

The financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 prepared by the companies included in the consolidated group, as well as
the financial statements of subsidiaries and associates not included in the consolidated group that were received by the Company as of the consolidated
financial statement preparation date are available in the registered office of the Company.

The consolidation rules for 2021 and 2020 (definition of the consolidated group, method of transformation of data from individual financial statements
into the consolidated financial statements) are available in the registered office of the Company.
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0. ANALYSIS OF IMPACTS ON PROFIT/LOSS

o.. CONSOLIDATeD PROFIT/LOSS FOR 2021

5.1.1. STRUCTURE OF THEe consoLiDaTeD PROFIT/LOSS FOR 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. S. 1306080
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - ENERGETIKA TRINEC, .. 49437
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - SLEVARNY TRINEC, @.S. -21512
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL. S R.0. 24665
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, .. 43238
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - VUHZ 4.S. 48 821
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - “METALURGIA” SPOLKA AKCYJNA 912568
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - “DED” DROTARU ZRT. 254124
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - ZDB DRATOVNA .S. 188502
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - HZP .. 44549
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - SV SERVISNI, S.R.0. 12187
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. 55579
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - REFRASIL, S.R.0. 8087
SHARE IN PROFIT OF THE CURRENT PERIOD RETEZARNA A.S. 23838
SHARE IN PROFIT OF THE CURRENT PERIOD UNDER THE 8QUITY METHOD 42871
ADJUSTMENTS WITHIN THE FULL METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION (SEE BeLOW) 114817
ADJUSTMENTS WITHIN THE 8QUITY METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION (See BELOW) -32184
consoLipateb PROFIT 2254357
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9.1.2. ADJUSTMENTS WITHIN FULL GONSOLIDATION FOR 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
ELIMINATION OF PROFITS aND LOSSES FROM UNREALISED INVENTORY FROM INTERCOMPANY SALeS OF INVENTORY In THE CONSOLIDATED ROUP, INCLUDING THE DEFERRED TaK IMPACT -30084
WRITE-OFF OF THE REVALUATION OF 3SSETS aT FaIR VaLug 1309]
WRITE-OFFS OF THE MaRGIN FROM THE SALE OF ASSETS VALUE INCLUDING THE DEFERRED TaK IMPACT -3792
ELIMINATION OF THE PROFIT FROM THE SALE OF BMISSION aLLOWANCeS 50 964
ELIMINATION OF DECLARED PROFIT SHARES OF THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP ENTITIES -292600
ELIMINTION OF PROVISIONING 3AINST “DED” DROTARU ZART. -95328
ELIMINATION OF PROVISIONING 3GAINST SLEVARNY TRINEC, 4., 142872
ELIMINATION OF PROVISIONING 36AINST SROUBARNA KYJOV, SPOL. S R.. 198 866
WRITE-OFF OF POSITIVE GOODWILL 8RISING 0N CONSOLIDATION OF DB DRATOVNA .. 14920
WRITE-OFF OF POSITIVE GOODWILL 8RISING 0N CONSOLIDATION OF BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. -7838
WRITE-OFF OF NEGATIVE GOODWILL 8RISING 0N CONSOLIDATION OF REFRASIL, S.R.0. 728
ELIMINATION OF THE RESERVE FOR BMISSION LLOWANCES INCLUDING THE DEFERRED TaK IMPACT 152 858
T07aL aDJUSTMeNTS 114817

5.1.3. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE PROFIT OR LOSS WITHIN THE EQUITY METHOD FOR 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
ELIMINATION OF PAID PROFIT SHARES OF VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, A.5. -30184
107aL aDJUSTMENTS -32184
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9.2. CONSOLIDATED PROFIT/LOSS FOR 2020

5.2.1. STRUCTURE OF THE COnSoLIDaTeDn PROFIT/LOSS FOR 2020 (CZK THOUSAND)
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, 8. S. 469 323
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - ENERGETIKA TRINEC, .. 9557
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - SLAVARNY TRINEC, 8.5. -33 65!
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - SROUBARNG KYJOV, SPOL. S R.0. 25548
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - STROJIRNY @ STAVBY TRINEC, 4.S. 35375
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - VUHZ &.. 46255
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - “METALURGIA” SPOEKA AKCYJNA 23000
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - “DED” DROTARU ZRT. 17036
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - ZDB DRATOVNA .S, 46888
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - HZP A.S. 38286
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - SV SERVISNI, S.R.0. 8307
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. 109426
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - REFRASIL, S.R.0. 13147
SHARE IN PROFIT OF THE CURRENT PERIOD - RETEZARNA A.S. 95602
SHARE IN PROFIT OF THE CURRENT PERIOD UNDER THE EQUITY METHOD 32183
ADJUSTMENTS WITHIN THE FULL METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION (SEE BELOW) -398674
ADJUSTMENTS WITHIN THE EQUITY METHOD OF CONSOLIDATION (SEE BELOW) -15856
consoLinaTen PROFIT 435652
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9.2.2. ADJUSTMENTS WITHIN FULL GONSOLIDATION FOR 2020 (CZKTHOUSAND)

ELIMINGTION OF PROFITS @nD LOSSES FROM UNREALISED INVENTORY FROM INTBRCOMPANY SALES OF INVENTORY INTHE CONSOLIDATED GROUP, INCLUDING THE DBFERRED TaK IMPACT -1236
WRITE-O0FF OF THE RevaLuartion OF aSSeTS aT Falr vaLue -28371
WRITE-0FFS OF THE MARGIN FROM THE SALE OF aSSETS vaLue INCLUDING THE DEFERRED TaK IMPACT 31864
ELIMINGTION OF THE PROFIT FROM THE SALE OF 8MISSION aLLOWaNCes -50964
ELIMINGTION OF DECLARED PROFIT SHARES OF THE CONSOLIDATED GROUP ENTITIES -295180
ELIMINGTION OF PROVISIONING @GAINST “DED” DROTARU ZRT. -6260
ELIMINATION OF PROVISIONING AGAINST SLEVARNY TRINEC, a.S. 42196
WRITE-OFF OF POSITIVE GOODWILL @RISING ON CONSOLIDATION OF ZDB DRATOVNA @.S. -12 447
WRITE-0FF OF POSITIVE GOODWILL @RISING 0N CONSOLIDATION OF BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. -4982
WRITE-0FF OF NEGATIVE GOODWILL @RISING 0N CONSOLIDATION OF REFRASIL, S.R.0. 730
ELIMINATION OF THE RESERVE FOR EMISSION aLLOWANCES INCLUDING THE DBFERRED TaK IMPACT -74014
TOTaLanJusTMentTs -398674
5.2.3. ADJUSTMENTS TO THEe PROFIT OR LOSS WITHIN THe EQUITY METHOD FOR 2020 (CZK THOUSAND)
ELIMINATION OF PAID PROFIT SHARES OF VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.5, 15856
T0TaL aDJUSTIMENTS 15 856
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6. ADDITIONAL CONSOLIDATED BALANGE SHEET INFORMATION

6.1. INTANGIBLE FIHED ASSETS

Cost (CZKTHOUSAND)

BaLance at ADDITIONS DISPOSALS IMPACT OF FOREIGN BaLance at

31Dec 2020 eHCHanGe DIFFEReNces dipec 2021
DeveLoPment 4553 0 0 0 4553
VaLuaBLe RIGHTS 496 889 20063 4683 -174 911495
GOODWILL 336 0 0 -2 315
OTHER INTANGIBLE FA 1168183 523506 1621936 0 69753
INTANGIBLE FA UNDER CONSTRUCTION 10022 359556 362101 -34 7443
PREPAYMENTS ManE FOR INTANGIBLE FA 0 0 0 0 0
ToTaL 1679983 903 125 1988720 -829 993559

Accumulated Amortisation

(CZK THOUSAND)

BaLancear ADDITIONS DISPOSALS IMPACT OF FOREIGN BaLancear

31Dec 2020 eHCHanaGe DIFFerRences dipec 2021
DeveLopment 4553 0 0 0 4553
VaLUdBLE RIGHTS 363735 26336 4698 -538 384 834
GOODWILL 336 0 0 -2 319
OTHER INTANGIBLE FA 14872 553 0 8l 15506
ToTaL 383496 26888 4698 -478 405208
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Net Book Value (CZK THOUSAND)
DeveLoPment 0 0
VaLuaBLe RIGHTS 133154 126 661
GOODWILL 0 0
OTHER INTANGIBLE FA 1153 311 94247
INTANGIBLE FA UNDER CONSTRUCTION 10022 7443
ToTaL 1296 487 188 351

Amortisation of Intangible Fixed Assets Charged to Expenses
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets amounted to CZK 26,646 thousand and CZK 22,506 thousand as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Other intangible assets primarily include allowances.

In 2021, 103,906 allowances for 2021 in the amount of CZK 164,211 thousand were acquired free of charge. At the balance sheet date, the use of
allowances for 2020 in the amount of CZK 299 thousand and the use of allowances for 2021 in the amount of CZK 5,452,290 thousand were recognised.

As of 31 December 2021, the total volume of allowances for 2021 has not been allocated to the Company. In April 2022 at the latest, the Company expects
to receive another 3,375,076 free allowances for 2021 based on the approval of the European Commission and the subsequent decision of the Ministry of
the Environment of the Czech Republic. For this reason, the Company does not create a reserve for the missing allowances as of 31 December 2021. The
Company reported the use of allowances and the use of subsidy for the missing allowances in the amount of CZK 3,645,754 thousand in the corresponding
account of other operating expenses and other operating income based on estimated amounts only in the profit and loss account.

In the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company acquired 3,466,718 emission allowances for 2020 in the amount of CZK 2,068,860 thousand free of
charge.

As of the consolidated balance sheet date of 31 December 2020, the Company additionally recognised the use of emission allowances for 2019 of CZK
1,602 thousand following a performed verification. As of the consolidated balance sheet date of 31 December 2020, the Company recognised the use of
emission allowances for 2020 of CZK 2,527,283 thousand.

Aggregate Balance of Low Value Intangible Assets not Reported on the Balance Sheet
The aggregate cost of low value intangible assets not reported on the face of the balance sheet was CZK 38,893 thousand and CZK 35,962 thousand as of 31
December 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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6.2. TANGIBLE FIReD ASSeTS

Cost (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance at ADDITIONS DISPOSALS IMPAcCT OF FOREIGN BaLanceat

31Dec 2020 eXCHanGe DIFFEeRENCes 31Dec 2021

Lano 795068 5094 967 -1065 798130

STRUCTURBS 16184 937 430247 24232 -19788 16571164

TANGIBLE MOVABLE @SSETS and THEIR SETS 45582479 2475484 641061 -b4814 47362088

OTHERTANGIBLE FA 103 060 3489 3183 -2142 101214

PREPAYMENTS FOR TANGIBLE FA 165999 250123 179531 -39 236 552

TaNGIBLE FA UNDER CONSTRUCTION 1402 652 2184069 2920 26l -3048 663 402

T0TaL 64234185 5348496 3769235 -80896 65732550

Accumulated Depreciation (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance at ADDITIONS DISPOSALS IMPAcCT OF FOREIGN BaLance at

31Dec 2020 eXCHanGe DIFFEeReNces 31Dec 2021

STRUCTURBS 8404537 426892 23676 -10 335 8797418

TANGIBLE MOVABLE @SSETS and THBIR SETS 31427083 1812915 641525 -41109 32557364

OTHERTANGIBLE FA 7958l 3477 3132 -1280 78646

T0TaL 39911201 2243284 668 333 -52724 41433428

Provisions (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance at ADDITIONS DISPOSALS IMPAcCT OF FOREIGN BaLanceart

31Dec 2020 eXCHanGe DIFFEeRENCEs 31Dec 2021

STRUCTURBS 53200 0 4384 0 48816

TANGIBLE MOVABLE @SSETS and THEIR SETS 6289 35141 3976 0 37404

OTHBRTANGIBLE FA 33 0 0 0 33

TaNGIBLE FA UNDER CONSTRUCTION 4874 4360 1589 0 7645

T0TaL 64 396 39501 9949 0 93948
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Net Book Value (CZKTHOUSAND)

Lano 795068 798130
STRUCTURES 7727200 7724930
TanGIBLE MOVABLE aSSETS and THEIR SETS 14149107 14767270
OTHER TANGIBLE FA 23436 22535
PREPEYMENTS FOR TANGIBLE FA 165 999 236552
TanGIBLE FAUNDER CONSTRUCTION 1397778 695767
ToTaL 24258 588 24205174
Principal additions to tangible fixed assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows: (CZK THOUSAND)
RECONSTRUCTION OF BLAST FURNACE NO. 6 563477
RESTORATION OF ZPO | 275201
HOTBLAST RECUPERATOR N0. 62 FOR BLAST FURNACE NO. 6 249166
NEW PIPELING KOP DN1200 (FROM BOREH T0 SS JIH) 81315
TECHNICAL IMPROVEMENTS 0N MECHANICAL WORKSHOP BUILDING 51426
KER/KEH 4.2 PRODUCTION LINE 26801
TECHNICAL IMPROVEMENTS 0N CeNTRAL LOCKER ROOMS FOR 300 PEOPLE 24817
MaCHING TOOL CNC 20C 21443
MaCHING TOOL CNC 20A 20949
MaCHING TOOLELHAE 19674
WINDER FOR SCREW WIRES MDI00 M.F.L. 16216
ROOFING OF PART OF E3 COL STORAGE 10740
SUBSTATION NULT2 BRV 10508
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Principal additions to tangible fixed assets under construction for the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows: (CZK THOUSAND)
New PEELING LINe IN THE ViJ - VALCOVNa DRATO @ JemNYCH PROFILU PLANT 68671
AKS 63 - H4 PRESS 19906
DEVICE FOR MeasuRING RalL DIMENSIONS WHen coLD 1249
KI9 macHine mopernisation 10835
STATIONARY UNLOADING BQUIPMENT INNOFREIGHT 10123
RAW MATeRIaLS STORAGE SILOS 5614

Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets Charged to Expenses
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets amounted to CZK 2,230,617 thousand and CZK 2,189,094 thousand as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Aggregate Balance of Low Value Tangible Assets Not Reported on the Balance Sheet
The aggregate costs of low value tangible fixed assets not reported on the face of the balance sheet were CZK 952,722 thousand and CZK 921,935 thousand
as of 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

6.3. ASSETS HeLD UNDEeR OPERATING LeaSe AGReemenTs

Operating Lease
Lease payments of CZK 69,127 thousand and CZK 71,392 thousand were made in the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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6.4. PLEeDGED FIReD ASSeTS

2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSETS 546578  L0An FROM CBSHA SPORITELN, .S.
STRUCTURES 108891
Lano 3458
TANGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 2058  L0an FROM CESKOSLOVENSHA OBCHODNI BanKa, a. .
Lano 39986
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSETS 629944  L0AN FROM CESHOSLOVENSHA OBCHODNI BANKa, a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSETS 713296  L0AN FROM CBSHOSLOVENSHa 0BCHODNI BanKa, a. S.
TANGIBLE FIED aSSETs 446908  L0AN FROM CESKOSLOVENSHA 0BCHODNI BaNKa, a. S.
Lano 96223
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSETS 423718 L0AN FROM ING BANK N. V.
Lano 11988
TANGIBLE FIED aSSETS 143603  L0AN FROM ING BANK N.V.
TANGIBLE FIED aSSeTs 1194887  L0AN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK A.S.
Lano 18538
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSETS 69587  COLLATERALFOR an INVESTMENT BaNK LOAN WITH UNICREDIT BANK CZBCH REPUBLIC aND SLOVAKIA, a.S.
TECHNOLOGIES 55301  RAIFFEISENBANK a.S. - PLEDGE FOR THE LONG-TERM BaNK LOAN FOR FUNDING THE MORE T4 - 110KV DISTRIBUTION POINT
TANGIBLE FIED aSSETS 57495  INVESTMENTLOAN FROM ING BANK N.V.
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTs* 105456  L0OAN FROM BaNK POLSKA KASa OPIEKI SPOLKA AKCYJNA, COLLATERALISED BY MACHINERY OF UP T0 PLN 19,500 THOUSAND
TaNGIBLE FIKED 3SSETS” 7301 LOAN FROM BNP PARIBAS BanK POLSKA S.A., COLLATERALISED BY MACHINERY OF UP TO PLN 1,350 THOUSAND
TANGIBLE FIKED aSSeTs* 21632  L0AN FROM BNP PARIBAS BANK POLSKA S.A., COLLATERALISED BY MACHINERY OF UP TO PLN 4,000 THOUSAND
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS” 80009  L0AN FROM BaNK POLSKA Kasa OPIBKI SPOLHA ARCYJNA, COLLATERALISED BY MACHINERY OF UP T0 PLN 14,795 THOUSAND
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 890  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK A.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 1255  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK A.S.

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

DESCRIPTION OF aSSETS NeTBOOKVaLue DESCRIPTION, SCOPE anb PURPOSE OF PLEDGE/LIEN

TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 642  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RaIFFEISENBANH @.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 12887  INVESTMENT LOAn FROM RalIFFEISENBANK @.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 1123 INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RalFFEISENBANHK a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 1473  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RalFFEISENBanH a.s.
TanGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 743 INVESTMENTLOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 6613 INVESTMENTLOAn FROM RaIFFEISENBANHK @.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 353  INVESTMENT LO@n FROM RalFFEISENBanH a.s.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 2895 INVESTMENTLO@N FROM RaIFFEISENBANK a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 976  INVESTMENT LOAn FROM RaIFFEISENBANK @.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 1527  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANH a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 35268 INVESTMENT LOan FROM RalFFEISENBANK a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 7975  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RaIFFEISENBaANH a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 4789  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RalFFEISENBaNH a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 293376  L0an FROM CITIBANH EUROPE PLC.

Lanp 4166

TECHNOLOGIES 197007

TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS* 43130 INvVeSTMenT Loan FROM ERSTE BanH HUNGARY ZRT.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS* 18990 INVESTMENT LOGN FROM K&H BanK ZRT.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSeTs” 34025 INVESTMenT Loan FROM KEH BanH ZRT.

Lano 4772  L0An FROM RaIFFEISENBaANH a.S.

TanGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 231760

Lano 283  L0an FROM CESHA SPORITELNA, a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 43247

TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 38241  LONG-TERM BaNK Loan FROM CESHOSLOVENSHA 0BCHODNI BanHa, a. .
ToTaL 5725263

Note:* translated using the Czech National Bank’s exchange rate as of 31 December 2021
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2020 (CZKTHOUSAND)

DEeSCRIPTION OF aSSeTs NeTBOOK vaLue DESGRIPTION, SCOPE anD PURPOSE OF PLEDGe/LIeN

TanGIBLE FIKED @SSeTsS 556192  L0An FROM CESHA SPORITELNA, a.S.

STRUCTURES 118323

Lano 3458

TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS 2194  L0an FROM CESKOSLOVENSKa 0BCHODNI BaNKA, a.S.

Lanp 39986

TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS 692199  L0aN FROM CBSKOSLOVENSKA 0BCHODNI BANKA, 4. S.

TANGIBLE FIED aSSeTs 764853  L0AN FROM CESHOSLOVENSHA OBCHODNI BanKa, a.s.

TANGIBLE FIKED ASSETS 513658  L0AN FROM CESKOSLOVENSKA 0BCHODNI BANKA, a.S.

Lanp 106 893

TanGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS 464716  L0AN FROM ING BANKN.V.

Lano 10465

TANGIBLE FIKED ASSETS 74232  COLLATERALFOR AN INVESTMENT BANK LOAN WITH UNICREDIT BanK CZECH REPUBLIC aND SLOVAKIA, .S.
TECHNOLOGIES 60142  RAIFFEISENBANK .S. - PLEDGE FOR THE LONG-TERM BaNK LOAN FOR FUNDING THE MORE T4 - 110KV DISTRIBUTION POINT
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS 71092  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM ING BaNK N.V.

TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS* 86325  L0AN FROM BANK POLSKA KASa OPIEHI SPOLHA AKCYJNA, COLLATERALISED BY MACHINERY OF UP TO PLN 15,000 THOUSAND
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS* 54132 L0@n FROM BNP PaRIBaS BanK POLSKA S.A., COLLATERALISED BY MACHINERY OF UP TO PLN 9,406 THOUSAND
TaNGIBLE FIKED ASSeTS* 85143  L0AN FROM BaNH POLSKA KASA OPIEKI SPOLKA AKCYJNA, COLLATERALISED BY MACHINERY OF UP T0 PLN 14,795 THOUSAND
TanGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 32 INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK a.S.

TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSEeTs, LanD 949  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK A.S.

TanGIBLE FIKED aSSEeTS, LanD 1330 INVESTMENT L0AN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK a.S.

TanGIBLE FIKED aSSeTs, LanD 422 INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK A.S.

TanGIBLE FIKED aSSeTs, LanD 12922  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK A.S.

TanGIBLE FIKED aSSeTs, LanD 1557  INVESTMENT L0@N FROM RAIFFEISENBANK a.S.

TanGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 1387  INVESTMENTLOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK a.S.

TanGIBLE FIKED aSSEeTs, LanD 826  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RAIFFEISENBANK A.S.

€ 14BLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

DESCRIPTION OF aSSETS

NeTBOOKVaLue DESCRIPTION, SCOPE anb PURPOSE OF PLEDGE/LIEN

TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 7004 InVeSTMenTL0an FROM RaIFFEISENBANK a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS, LanD 406 INVESTMENTLOan FROM RaIFFEISENBANH a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 3088 INVESTMENT LOGN FROM RalFFEISENBanH a.s.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 1124 INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RaIFFEISENBaANH a.S.
TanGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 1742 INVESTMENTLOaN FROM RaIFFEISENBANK a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 34367 INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RaAIFFEISENBANH a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 8989 INVESTMENT LOGN FROM RalFFEISENBanH a.s.
TaNGIBLE FIKED dSSETS 6539 INVESTMENT LOAN FROM RaIFFEISENBaANH a.S.
TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 162726  L0an FROM CITIBANH EURCPE PLC.

Lano 4166

TECHNOLOGIES 217180

TanGIBLE FIKED aSSeTs” 48417  INVESTMENT LO@N FROM ERSTE BanK HUNGARY ZRT.
TanGIBLE FIKED aSSeTs” 21267  INVESTMENT LOAN FROM KEH BaNK ZRT.

Lano 4772  L0dN FROM RalIFFEISENBANK a.S.

TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 240756

Lanpb 283 L0an FROM CESHA SPORITELNA, a.S.

TaNGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 43590

TANGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 41183  LONG-TERM BanK LoaN FROM CESHOSLOVENSHA OBCHODNI BanHa, a.s.
ToTaL 4571027

Note: * translated using the Czech National Bank’s exchange rate as of 31 December 2020
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6.5. NON-CURRENT FiNanclaL ASSeTS

Cost (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance at ADDITIONS DISPOSALS RevaLuarion IMPACT OF BaLance art
31Dec 2020 eHCHanGe Rarte 31DecC 2021
Gains OR LOSSes
EQUITY INVESTMEeNTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING BNTITY 418598 40170 0 2500 0 461268
EQUITY INVBSTMEeNTS In asSoclates 26202 0 0 0 0 26202
OTHBR NON-CURRENT SECURITIES anp eQuITY INVESTMEnTS 2001 0 0 0 0 2001
ToTaL 446 801 40170 0 2500 0 489471
Provisions (CZK THOUSAND)
BaLance at ADDITIONS DISPOSALS RevaLuartion IMPacCT OF BaLance at
31Dec 2020 eHCHanGe Rarte 31Dec 2021
Gains OR LOSSES
EQUITY INVBSTMEeNTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING BNTITY 46859 67119 0 0 0 113978
EQUITY INVEBSTMENTS IN aSSOCIaTes 18075 206 b4l 0 0 17740
OTHER NON-CURRENT SECURITIES anp eQuITY INVESTMENTS 0 0 0 0 0 0
ToTaL 64934 67325 541 0 0 131718
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6.6. SUMMarYy OF UNCONSOLIDATED FinancCiaL INVeSTMenTs
6.6.1. EQUITY INVESTMENTS - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING ENTITY

31 December 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
Name OF THe enTITY, REGISTERED OFFICE EQUITY EQuITY PROFIT OR LOSS PROVISION  FINanciaL income
INVESTMeNT % FOR THE PERIOD
TRINECKE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 40773 -1887 0 0
DOPRAVATZ a.S., TRINEC-STARE MESTO 100.00 47067 3206 0 10000
TRIALFA, S.R.0., TRINEC - Kanana 100.00 21089 461 0 0
MORAVIa SECURITY, 8.S., KONSKA, TRINEC 100.00 40727 2571 0 5000
MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM $.R.0., VITHOVICE, 0STRAVA 90.00 50276 1455 0 0
TRINECKA PROJEKCE, 8.5, Kanana, TRINeC 84.54 32223 2702 0 1727
“ZAMECZEK BEOGOCICE” SPOKA Z 0GRANICZONG ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA,CIESZYN (POL) 88.00 42303 370 -12522 0
TRISIA, 8.5., LYZBICE, TRINEC 66.00 40164 534 -15785 0
RETaze SLOVaKIa S.R.0., SKaLICa (SK) 80.00 12578 3134 0 1626
JUBO JBSENIK S.R. 0., JESENiK 80.00 6070 2732 0 480
RET8ZARNA SERVIS S.R.0., JESENIK 100.00 5103 3288 0 2900
IMOPRA S.R.0., NIVNICE 100.00 113636 4810 -8567I 6000
EKOSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, 8.S., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 20940 -9642 0 0
ENEZA, S.R.0., STARE MESTO, TRINEC* 52.50 92174 14227 0 0
ToTaL -113978 27733

Note: italics — preliminary results as of 31 December 2021
* economic results for the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 (fiscal year from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022)
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31 December 2020 (CZK THOUSAND)

Name OF THe enTITY, REGISTERED OFFICE EQUITY EQuITY PROFIT OR LOSS PROVISION  FINanciaL income
INVESTMeNT % FOR THE PERIOD
TRINECKE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 42660 -14787 0 0
DOPRAVATZ a.S., TRINEC-STARE MESTO 100.00 53861 23l 0 0
TRIALFA, S.R.0., TRINEC - Kanana 100.00 20629 683 0 0
MORAVIa SECURITY, 8.S., KONSKA, TRINEC 100.00 43430 2603 0 1000
MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM $.R.0., VITHOVICE, 0STRAVA 90.00 48820 1098 0 0
TRINECKA PROJEKCE, 8.5., Kanana, TRINeC 84.54 31563 2043 0 2993
“ZAMECZEK BLOGOCICE” SPOKA Z 0GRANICZONG ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA,CIESZYN (POL) 88.00 44645 495 -10547 0
TRISIA, .., LYZBICE, TRINEC 66.00 39630 -15323 -15658 0
RETaze SLOVaKIa S.R.0., SKaLICa (SK) 80.00 12069 2201 0 2900
JUBO JESENIK S.R. 0., JESENiK 80.00 3938 732 0 640
RETBZARNA SERVIS S.R.0., JESENIK 100.00 4715 3076 0 1734
IMOPRAS.R.0., NIVNICE 100.00 114826 485 -20654 0
EKOSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, 8.S., STARE MESTO, TRINEC 100.00 30583 -19.417 0 0
ToTaL -46 859 9267

6.6.2. EQUITY INVESTMENTS - ASSOCIaTes

31 December 2021 (CZKTHOUSAND)
Name OF THe enTITY, REGISTERED OFFICE EQUITY EQuITY PROFIT ORLOSS PROVISION  FINanciaL income
INVESTMENT % FOR THE PERIOD
0CBLARSKA UNIe a.S., NOVE MESTO, PRAHA | 40.44 42875 -919 -17740 0
HRAT, S.R.0., STARE MESTO, TRINEC* 23.26 3693 1533 0 0
ToTaL -17740

Note: italics — preliminary results as of 31 December 2021
* profit or loss for the period from 1 April 2021 to 31 December 2021 (period from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022)
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31 December 2020 (CZK THOUSAND)
Name OF THe enTITY, ReGISTERED OFFICE EQUITY EQUITY PROFITOR LOSS PROVISION  FInanciaL income
INVeSTMenNT % FORTHE PERIOD
0CELARSHA UnIe a.s., NOVe MESTO, PRAHA | 40.44 43171 -684 -18 075 0
HRAT, S.R.0., STARE MESTO, TRINEC* 23.26 2159 76l 0 0
T0TaL -18075 0

Note: * profit or loss for the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021

6.7. ACCOUNTING FOR GOODWILL ARISING ON COnsoLiparion

2021 (CZKTHOUSAND)
GROSS ADJusTment NeTt RecaaniTionin RecogniTionIn RecoaniTionin
eouity exprenses income
POSITIVE GOODWILL aRISING ON consoLiparion
ZDB DRATOVNA@.S. 261780 -52 356 209424 0 14920 0
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. 119809 -22464 97345 0 7838 0
ToTaL 381589 -74820 306769 0 22758 0
NeGarive GOODWILL aRISING on consoLipation
REFRASIL, S.R.0. -14 566 2428 -12138 0 0 728
ToTaL -14 566 2428 -12138 0 0 728

The gross value of the positive goodwill arising on consolidation of ZDB DRATOVNA a.s. amounts to CZK 261,780 thousand as of 31 December 2021, which,
starting from the 2021 reporting period, includes the overall deferred tax arising from the difference from the revaluation of assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date in the amount of CZK 20,703 thousand.

In 2021, the Company recognised a write-off of the positive goodwill arising on consolidation of ZDB DRATOVNA a.s. of CZK 14,920 thousand.

The gross value of the positive goodwill arising on consolidation of BOHEMIA RINGS s.r.o. amounts to CZK 119,809 thousand as of 31 December 2021,
which, starting from the 2021 reporting period, includes the overall deferred tax arising from the difference from the revaluation of assets and liabilities
at the acquisition date in the amount of CZK 45,256 thousand.

In 2021, the Company recognised a write-off of the positive goodwill arising on consolidation of BOHEMIA RINGS s.r.o. of CZK 7,838 thousand.

As of 31 December 2021, the gross amount of the negative goodwill arising on consolidation of REFRASIL, s.r.0o. amounts to CZK 14,566 thousand.

In 2021, the Company recognised a write-off of the negative goodwill arising on consolidation of REFRASIL, s.r.o. of CZK 728 thousand.
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2020 (CZKTHOUSAND)
GROSS ADJusTment Ner RecaaniTionin RecogniTionIn RecoaniTionin
eouity esprenses income
POSITIVE GOODWILL aRISING ON consoLiparion
ZDB DRATOVNA&.S. 249039 -37436 211603 0 12447
BOHEMIA RINGS S.R.0. 100654 -14 626 85928 0 4982
ToTaL 349593 -52062 29753l 0 17429 0
NeGarive GOODWILL ariSInG on consoLiparion
REFRASIL, S.R.0. -14 566 1700 -12 866 0 0 730
ToTaL -14 566 1700 -12 866 0 0 730

The gross value of the positive goodwill arising on consolidation of ZDB DRATOVNA a.s. amounts to CZK 249,039 thousand as of 31 December 2020. The
positive goodwill arising on consolidation includes the deferred tax arising from the difference from the revaluation of assets and liabilities. In 2020, the
Company recognised a year-on-year change in this deferred tax of CZK 570 thousand. Total deferred tax in 2020 amounts to CZK 7,962 thousand.

In 2020, the Company recognised a write-off of the positive goodwill arising on consolidation of ZDB DRATOVNA a.s. of CZK 12,447 thousand.

The gross value of the positive goodwill arising on consolidation of BOHEMIA RINGS s.r.0. amounts to CZK 100,554 thousand as of 31 December 2020. The
positive goodwill arising on consolidation includes the deferred tax arising from the difference from the revaluation of assets and liabilities. In 2020, the
Company recognised a year-on-year change in this deferred tax of CZK 6,704 thousand. Total deferred tax in 2020 amounts to CZK 26,001 thousand.

In 2020, the Company recognised a write-off of the positive goodwill arising on consolidation of BOHEMIA RINGS s.r.o. of CZK 4,982 thousand.

As of 31 December 2020, the gross amount of the negative goodwill arising on consolidation of REFRASIL, s.r.o. amounts to CZK 14,566 thousand.

In 2020, the Company recognised a write-off of the negative goodwill arising on consolidation of REFRASIL, s.r.0. of CZK 730 thousand.

6.8. SECURITIES anD EQUITY INVeSTMEeNTS Uunber EQUITY AGCOUNTING (CIKTHOUSAND)
SBCURITIES aND eQUITY INVESTMENTS UNDER QUITY aCCOUNTING | a2 2020

VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.. 174464 163776
ToTaL 174464 163776
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6.9. PLEDGED NoN-CURRENT FINancliaL ASSeTs

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the consolidated Group has non-current financial assets pledged as collateral in the nominal value of CZK 1,144,302
thousand and CZK 1,144,302 thousand, respectively.

6.10. INVENTORY

As of 31 December 2021, “METALURGIA” SPOEKA AKCYJNA has pledged the inventory of up to PLN 19,500 thousand (CZK 105,456 thousand) with BNP
Paribas Bank Polska S.A. in relation to the drawn loan and inventory of up to PLN 10,500 thousand (CZK 56,784 thousand) with Bank Polska Kasa Opieki
Spoétka Akcyjna in relation to the drawn loan.

As of 31 December 2020, “METALURGIA” SPOLKA AKCYJNA has pledged the inventory of up to PLN 13,000 thousand (CZK 74,815 thousand) with BNP
Paribas Bank Polska S.A. in relation to the drawn loan and inventory of up to PLN 10,500 thousand (CZK 60,428 thousand) with Bank Polska Kasa Opieki
Spotka Akcyjna in relation to the drawn loan.

6.1. ReCeIVaBLeS
6.I1.1. LONG-TERM RECEIVaBLeS

Long-term trade receivables generally include retained receivables from customers during guarantee periods.
As of 31 December 2021, the Company recorded long-term receivables with maturity period greater than five years of CZK 581 thousand
(2020: CZK 89 thousand).

6.1.2. SHORT-TERM ReCelvaBLeS
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, gross short-term trade receivables past their due dates amounted to CZK 345,417 thousand (net CZK 290,589 thousand)
and CZK 273,543 thousand (net CZK 203,060 thousand), respectively.

Other Receivables
Short-term prepayments made principally involve prepayments for supplied services.

As of 31 December 2021, State — tax receivables predominantly included a receivable arising from value added tax and prepayments for fees under Act
No. 201/2012 Coll., the Air Protection Act.

As of 31 December 2020, this item predominantly included a receivable arising from value added tax, prepayments for the corporate income tax and
prepayments for fees under Act No. 201/2012 Coll,, the Air Protection Act.

As of 31 December 2021, sundry receivables principally include a receivable arising from an indisputable claim for a subsidy, receivables from
individuals, a receivable arising from an unused donation and a receivable from a contribution under the employment protection programme “Antivirus”.
As of 31 December 2020, this item principally included a receivable arising from an indisputable claim for a subsidy, receivables from individuals,

a receivable arising from the group registration for VAT and a receivable from a contribution under the employment protection programme “Antivirus”.
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As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, estimated receivables principally included amounts due from anticipated insurance proceeds, from utilising an
operating subsidy and from the refund of the value added tax paid abroad.
Receivables typically mature within 30 days.

6.11.3. PLEDGED RecelvaBLes

As of 31 December 2021, “METALURGIA” SPOLKA AKCYJNA records pledged receivables of PLN 11,222 thousand (CZK 60,686 thousand) with BNP Paribas
Faktoring Sp. z o. 0. and pledged receivables of PLN 3,209 thousand (CZK 17,355 thousand) with Pekao Faktoring Sp. z 0.0. As of 31 December 2020, pledged
receivables amounted to PLN 4,860 thousand (CZK 27,970 thousand) with BNP Paribas Faktoring Sp. z 0. 0. and PLN 2,446 thousand (CZK 14,080 thousand)
with Pekao Faktoring Sp. z o.0.

As of 31 December 2021, “D&D” Drétaru Zrt. records pledged receivables of HUF 20,767 thousand (CZK 1,398 thousand) with ING BANK N.V. Bucharest and
pledged receivables of HUF 81,715 thousand (CZK 5,503 thousand) with Credit Agricole Bank Polska S.A.

6.11.4. INTERCOMPANY RecelvaBLeS

Short-term Receivables (CZK THOUSAND)
Name OF THe enTITy ReLaTIon T0 THe comPany BaLancear31Dec2021  BalLancear 31Dec 2020
- TRADE RECEIVaBLES
DOPRAVATZ as. CONTROLLED NTITY 3551 2401
JUBO JESeniK S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 4732 5999
MORAVIA SECURITY, .. CONTROLLED entITY 146 102
MORAVIA STEELA.S. CONTROLLING eNTITY 2847744 1603557
TRIALFA, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 6224 1092
TRINECKA PROJEKCE, 8.5. CONTROLLED enTITY 157 164
TRINBCHE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0. CONTROLLED ENTITY 2076 1735
TRISIA, .S. CONTROLLED nTITY 107 65
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.S. Assoclate 5780 6612
BESHYDSKA GOLFOVA, a.5. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 10 13
NEOMET SP.Z 0.0. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 29 24
MATERIALOVY A METALUGRICKY VYZKUM S.R.0. CONTROLLED eNTITY 12 10

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

Name OF THe entITy ReLation 10 THe compPany BaLancear31Dec2021  BaLancear 31Dec 2020
M STEEL PROJECTS A.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 8 15
SECURITY MORaVA, S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 9 9
MORAVSHOSLEZSKY KOVOSROT, .. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 1940 1286
KOVARNAVIVA.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 504 506
MINERFIN a.S. GROUP eNTITY | |
BARRANDOV STUDIO @.. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 230 242
ReTaze SLOVaKIa, S.R.0. CONTROLLED NTITY 0 1253
RET8Z4RNa SERVIS S.R.0. CONTROLLED eNTITY 0 3l
IMOPRA S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy |
EKOSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED eNnTITY 625 1538
MSV MeTaL STUDENKa, a.. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 376 48
ENEZA, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITy 1276 0
ToTal 2875537 1626714
- RECEIVABLES - CONTROLLED OR CONTROLLING BNTITY

TRINBCHE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0 CONTROLLED enTITY 7518 8016
EKOSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, 8.S. CONTROLLED eNTITY 5 666 0
ToTaL 13184 8016
- SUNDRY RECEIVABLES

MORAVIA STEELA.S. CONTROLLING eNTITY 40 0
ToTal 40 0
T0TaL SHORT-TERM INTERCOMPANY ReCeIvVaBLeS 288876l 1634730
OTHER THan INTERCOMPaNY RECEIVaBLES 2684612 2129014
T0TaL SHORT-TERM RECEIVaBLES 5573373 3763744

As of 31 December 2021, no long-term intercompany receivables were recorded.

—
IX NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANGIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 FINANCIALSECTION 145



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

6.12. EQUITY

Gains and losses from revaluation comprise the gain or loss from the revaluation of available-for-sale securities net of the deferred tax liability.
The sole shareholder of the Company decided to distribute the net profit of the Company after tax generated by the Company in 2020 in the amount of
CZK 469,323 thousand as follows: the entire amount was transferred to retained earnings brought forward.

Share Capital
The Company’s share capital is composed of 8,109,863 ordinary registered shares in the certificate form, fully subscribed and paid up, with a nominal value
of CZK 1 thousand per share.

Proposal for the Allocation of Profit for 2021

In 2021, the Company generated net profit after tax of CZK 1,306,080 thousand. It is proposed to be allocated as follows:
— Share of profit assigned to the sole shareholder: CZK 500,000 thousand,

— Retained earnings brought forward: CZK 806,080 thousand.

6.13. RBSERVES

Other reserves principally consist of reserves for employee bonuses, risks arising from business relations, including warranty claims.

6.14. PAQYaBLES
6.14.1. LONG-TERM PayaBLeS

Long-term trade payables as of 31 December 2021 primarily include payables arising from retention fees from suppliers according to concluded contracts.
As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Company recorded long-term trade payables with maturities exceeding 5 years in the amounts of
CZK 810 thousand and 2,073 thousand, respectively.

6.14.2. SHORT-TERM TRADE PaYaBLES
As of 31 December 2021, short-term trade payables past their due dates amount to CZK 55,781 thousand (2020: CZK 49,354 thousand).
Payables typically fall due for settlement within 60 days.

6.14.3. OTHER PayaBLES

In the year ended 2021, the category ‘State — tax payables and subsidies’ principally comprised a payable arising from corporate and personal income tax.
In the year ended 31 December 2020, the category principally comprised received subsidies for emission allowances and a payable arising from personal
income tax.
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As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, estimated payables mainly consist of an estimated payable intended to cover all so far unrecognised
payments relating to staff costs, an estimated payable for fees under Act No. 201/2012 Coll., on Air Protection, and an estimated payable arising from
unbilled inventory including services.

As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, sundry payables primarily include payables arising from the Group’s registration for value added tax and
contributions to employees.

6.14.4. INTERCOMPaNY payaBLES

Long-Term Payables
As of 31 December 2021, the Consolidated Group recorded no long-term intercompany payables.

Other than intercompany long-term payables as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 primarily include a deferred tax liability of CZK 1,784,830 thousand and
CZK 1,737,783 thousand, respectively, and payables to credit institutions of CZK 2,861,157 thousand and CZK 2,680,662 thousand, respectively.

Short-term Payables (CZK THOUSAND)
Name OF THe enTtITy ReLaTIon 10 THe comPany BaLancear3iDec2021  BalLance at 31Dec 2020
- TRADE PayaBLeS
ReTaze SLOVaKIa, S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 0 88
RETEZARNA SERVIS S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 2613 3056
DOPRAVATZ a.s. CONTROLLED entITY 13156 13865
0CELARSHA UnIe, .. AssoclaTe 835 832
MORAVIA STEEL @.S. CONTROLLING eNTITY 3226017 2807718
MORAVIA SECURITY, .. CONTROLLED enTITY 1395 10005
SECURITY MORaVa, S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 1980 1928
TRIALFA, S.R.0. CONTROLLED entITy 15809 16978
TRISIA, .. CONTROLLED eNnTITY 463 1135
TRINECKA PROJEKCE, .. CONTROLLED enTITY 596! 3267
TRINECKE GASTROSLUZBY, S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 9854 12186
VESUVIUS CESKA REPUBLIKA, 8.S. Assoclate 8196 19395
BESHYDSKA GOLFOVA, a.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIaRY 3630 4598
MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM S.R.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 225 1773
,ZAMECZEK BEOGOCICE“ SP.Z 0.0. CONTROLLED enTITY 9l 97
MORAVSKOSLEZSKY KOVOSROT, a.. FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 179916 152 286

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

Name OF THe enTiTy ReLation 10 THe company BalLancear31Dec2021  BaLancear 3iDec 2020
HRAT,S.R.0. ASSOCIaTe 0 |
MORAVIA STEEL SLOVENIJA D.0.0. FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 687 325
MORAVIA STEEL IBERIA, S.A. FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 477 479
MORAVIA STEEL UK LIMITED FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 133 1221
MORaVIa STEEL DEUTSCHLEND GMBH FELLOW SuBSIDIaRY 1302 137
NEOMET SP.Z0.0. FELLOW SuBSIDIaRY 94400 98240
MSV MeTaL STUDENH, a.S. FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 983 0
ENEZA,SR.0. CONTROLLED ENTITY 11024 0
ToTaL 3589047 3149610
- ACCRUED EHPENSES

MORAVIA STEEL @.S. CONTROLLING €NTITY 2887 0
MORAVIA STEEL IBERIA, S.A. FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 338 0
MORAVIA STEEL SLOVENIJA D.0.0. FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 16 0
ToTaL 3241 0
- ESTIMATED PayaBLES

MORAVIA STEEL @.S. CONTROLLING €NTITY 479 4269
MORAVIA STEEL ITALIAS.R.L. FELLOW SuBSIDIaRY 29l b8
MORAVIA STEEL SLOVENIVA D.0.0. FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 0 347
MORAVIA STEEL IBERIA, S.A. FELLOW SUBSIDIGRY 68 28
ToTaL 798 4702
- OTHER P@4YaBLES

MORAVIA STEEL @.S. CONTROLLING ENTITY 45375 3369
ToTaL 45375 33691
T0TAL SHORT-TERM INTERCOMPANY PayaBLES 3638461 3188003
OTHER THaN INTERCOMPANY PayaBLES 5745810 5581746
TOTaL SHORT-TERM PayaBLeS 9384271 8769749

Short-term payables outside of the group as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 predominantly include payables to credit institutions of CZK 1,995,596 thousand
and CZK 1,459,965 thousand, respectively, and tax payables and subsidies of CZK 382,813 thousand and CZK 1,204,788 thousand as of 31 December 2021

and 2020, respectively.
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6.15. DEFERRED INGOMeE Tak
6.15.1. DBFERRED TaK LIaBILITY

In determining the deferred tax liability amount, the Group used the tax rate in line with the legislation of each state for the period in which

the deferred tax liability is anticipated to be realised. (CZKTHOUSAND)

DeFerReD TaH BasIS TdR RaTe BaLance at BaLance ar

N % 31Dec 2021 31Dec 2020
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN TaH anb aCCOUNTING NET BOOH VaLUE OF FIRED aSSETS 19 -11208 346 -10 662 598
DIFFERENCE BETWEEN TaK anb aCCOUNTING NET BOOK VaLUE OF FIReD aSSeTS 9 -65 302 -57505
REMEaSUREMENT OF SECURITIES AvaILaABLE FOR SaLe 19 54 b4
REMEdSUREMENT OF aSSETS TO FAIR VaLUE CHARGED aGainsT equiTy 19 -232596 -101180
REMEASUREMENT OF aSSETS T0 FaIR VaLUE CHARGED aGaINST EQUITY 9 -30317 -31742
REMEASUREMENT OF dSSETS T0 FAIR VALUE CHARGED aGaINST THE GOODWILL @RISING ON CONSOLIDATION 19 0 -178753
ACCOUNTING RESERVES 19 832010 384385
PROVISIONS 19 835965 947063
PROVISIONS 9 0 -5909
EHPENSES 70 BE dLLOWABLE IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS 19 237456 133992
UTILIS@BLE TaK LOSS 19 93795 72859
UNREALISED GAINS ON THE INTRAGROUP SALE OF INVENTORY 19 4869 11550
UNREALISEeD GAins 0N INTRAGROUP SALES OF TANGIBLE @nb INTANGIBLE FIKED aSSETS 19 4459 291044
UNREALISED Gains 0N INTRAGROUP SALES OF TanGIBLE @ND INTANGIBLE FIKED dSSETS (EQUITY) 19 -169 -7l
TOTaL TaH Base -9444168 -9196 31
DeFeRrReD TaH LIaBILITY -1784 830 -17371783
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(CZKTHOUSAND)

AnaLysis OF movements

31Dec 2020 -1737783
CURRENT CHanGes CHaRGED T0 THE PROFIT anD LOSS account -15508
CURRENT CHAanGes RECOGNISED IN EQUITY 457
RECOGNITION aGaINST THE GOODWILL @RISING On consoLIpation -31996
dipec 2021 -1784 830

6.16. PAYaBLEesS T0 GREDIT INSTITUTIONS

Long-Term Payables to Credit Institutions (CZK THOUSAND)
TYPe OF PayaBLE CURRENCY  BalLanceatr BaLancear FORM OF COLLATERaL as OF 31DeCeMmBER 2021
31Dec2021  31Dec 2020
INVEeSTMenT Loan CZK 60000 240000 ImmovaBLe anD MOvaBLe aSSETS, NSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
InvesTmenT Loan EUR 7952 25184  HERMES GuaranTee INSURER
[nvesTment Loan EUR - 14544  0DLGUARanTee INSURER
InvesTment Loan CZK 1080000 - ImmOvaBLe anb mOvaBLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
ACOUISITION LOaN EUR 124 300 306192  SECURITIES, PROMISSORY NOTE
InvesTmenT Loan EUR 775694 880091 ImmOvaBLE anD MOVaBLe aSSeTS, NSURANCE RECEIVABLES
[nvesTment Loan CZK 400000 628571 IMMOVaBLE anD MOVABLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVaBLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
INVEeSTMenT Loan CZK 3865 6307 PLEDGE OF REaL eSTaTe anb MOvVaBLe aSSETS
INvesTmenT Loan EUR 13429 23132  PLEDGE OF ReaL eSTaTe anb MovaBLE aSSETS
InvesTmenT Loan CZK 6650 2827 NOCOLLATeRaL
InvesTment Loan CZK 52803 79167  BLaNK PROMISSORY NOTE, PLEDGE OF MOVABLE aSSETS

° TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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° CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

TYPe OF PayaBLe CURRENCY  BalLancear BalLancear FORM OF COLLAaT@RAL as OF 31 DECEMBER 2021
3iDec2021  3iDec2020
INVESTMEnT Loan CZK 47333 65333 BL@NHPROMISSORY NOTE
[NVESTMENT Loan CZK 11400 26600 PLEDGE OF aSSETS, BLaNK PROMISSORY NOTE
One-Time INvesTmenT Loan EUR - 21753  MOVaBLE anb ImmovaBLe aSSEeTS
one-Time nvestment Loan* EUR - 25668 MOVaBLE anb ImmOvaBLE aSSeTs
one-Time investment Loan EUR 78132 109979  MOVaBLE anb IMMmOVaBLE aSSETS
INvesTment Loan EUR - 10733  BLanH PROMISSORY NOTE, PLEDGE OF MOVABLE @SSETS
INvesTment Loan EUR 17105 29649  BLanH PROMISSORY NOTE, PLEDGE OF MOVABLE @SSETS
SPECIAL PURPOSE LO@N CZK 25000 45000 PLEDGE OF MOvaBLe aSSETS
INVESTMEnT Loan EUR - 6561 BLANHPROMISSORY NOTE
INvesTment Loan EUR 11585 - BLanH PROMISSORY NOTE
[NVESTMenT Loan CZK 10561 26403 2HBLAaNK PROMISSORY NOTE
[NVESTMEnT Loan EUR 2486 6561 PLEDGE OF IMMOVABLE aSSETS, BLaNK PROMISSORY NOTE, RESTRICTION OF THE RIGHT OF DISPOSAL OF IMMOVABLE aSSET
INvesTment Loan EUR 365l 7498  PLEDGE OF IMMOVaBLE @SSETS, BLaNK PROMISSORY NOTE, PLEDGE OF RECEIVABLES aRISING FROM INSURANGE
INvesTmenT Loan EUR 33622 48402 BLanH PROMISSORY NOTE
INVESTMEnT Loan EUR 61709 - BLanK PROMISSORY NOTE
[NVESTMENT Loan EUR 7966 15143  MORTGaGe, INSURANCe SecurITy
INvesTment Loan EUR 9338 8876  MORTGAGE, INSURANCE SECURITY
INVESTMEnT Loan EUR 12569 18099 MORTGAGE, INSURANCE SECURITY
[NVESTMenT Loan PLN - 2389  PLEDGE - MaCHINERY anb equIPMenTt
INVESTMENT Loan PLN 14894 - COLLATEeRALISED WITH TaNGIBLE @SSETS (MACHINERY, EQUIPMENT) @LONG WITH INSURANCE
INvesTment Loan PLN 3213 - COLLATeRALISED WITH TanGIBLE aSSETS (MACHINERY, EQUIPMENTI ALONG WITH INSURANCE
ToTaL 2861157 2680662

Note: * translated from CZK to EUR as of 30 September 2019
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Short-Term Payables to Credit Institutions (CZK THOUSAND)

TYPe OF LOan CURRENCY  BdlLancear BalLancear FORM OF COLLATeRAL at 31DEC 2021
dipec2021  31Dec 2020
[NVESTMENT LOan EUR 15904 16790 HERMES GUARaNTEE INSURER
INVESTMENT LOan EUR 6215 6561 BLANHPROMISSORY NOTE
[NVESTMENT LOan EUR 5817 - BLANK PROMISSORY NOTE
OVERDRaFT PLN 44035 29454  PLEDGE-GOODS, MATERIAL, PRODUCTS anb INSURANCE
INVeSTMenT Loan PLN - 3033  SECURED WITH TaNGIBLE aSSETS (MACHINERY, BQUIPMENT) anD INSURANCE
OVERDRaFT PLN 54006 33969 PLEDGE - MACHINERY, BQUIPMENT, INCLUDING INSURANCE, aSSIGNMENT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES
INVESTMENT LOan PLN 2245 4696 PLEDGE - MaCHINERY anb eQuIPmeENT
[NVESTMENT LOan PLN 4255 - COLLATERALISED WITH TaNGIBLE aSSETS (MACHINERY, EQUIPMENT) ALONG WITH INSURANCE
INVeSTmenT Loan PLN 2268 - COLLATeRALISED WITH TANGIBLE aSSETS (MACHINERY, EQUIPMENT) ALONG WITH INSURANCE
One-Time INvesTmenT Loan EUR 20605 21753  MOVaBLE anb ImMOovaBLE aSSETS
OVERDRAFT - CREDIT CARDS CZK 46 6 NOCOLLaTERaL
one-Time nvestment Loan * EUR 24313 25668 MOVABLE anb ImMMOVaBLE aSSETS
one-Time investment Loan EUR 26044 27495 MOVaBLE anb IMMOVaBLE aSSeTs
INVESTMENT LOaN CZK - 240000 ImmOvaBLE and MOVABLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
INVeSTMenT Loan EUR 13776 29087 0ODLGUaRaNTee INSURER
INVESTMENT LOan EUR 221627 97788 ImMMOVaABLE anb MovaBLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES
(NVESTMENT LO0an CZK 180 000 240000 ImmovaBLE and mOVaBLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, BLANK PROMISSORY NOTE
ACQUISITION LO@N EUR 165733 174967  SECURITIES, PROMISSORY NOTE
INVESTMENT LOan CZK 228571 228572  IMMOVaBLE and MOVaBLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
INvesTmenT Loan CZK 120000 - IMMmOvaBLe anb MOVaBLE aSSETS, INSURANCE RECEIVABLES, PROMISSORY NOTE
OVERDRaFT CZK 65937 - PROMISSORY NOTE
OVERDRaFT CZK 65805 - NOCOLLaTeRaL
OVERDRaFT CZK 66 124 - PROMISSORY NOTE
OVERDRaFT CZK 71043 - PROMISSORY NOTE
OVERDRaFT CZK 70841 - PROMISSORY NOTE
SHORT-TERM LO@N CZK 9 - NOCOLLaTEeRaL
INVESTMENT LOanN CZK 244 2441 PLEDGE OF ReaL BSTaTE anb MOVaBLE aSSETS

Q TABLE CONTINUES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE
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e CONTINUATION OF THE TABLE FROM THE PREVIOUS PAGE

TYPe OF LO@N CURRENCY  Balancear BalLancear FORM OF COLLATERAL AT 31Dec 2021
dipec2021  31Dec 2020

INVeSTMenT Loan EUR §482 8954 PLEDGE OF REdL ESTATE anb MOVABLE aSSETS

INVESTMENT LOan CZK 1900 314 NOCOLLaTERAL

INVESTMENT Loan CZK 15200 16200 PLEDGE OF aSSETS, BLANK PROMISSORY NOTE

CREDIT CaRDS CZK 6 I NOCOLLaTeRaL

SPECIAL PURPOSE LOGN CZK 10000 - PLEDGE - MOVABLE @SSETS

INVESTMENT LOan CZK 26 364 26364 BLaNK PROMISSORY NOTE, PLEDGE OF MOV@BLE aSSETS

INVESTMENT LOan CZK 18000 18000 BLANK PROMISSORY NOTE

INVESTMENT LOan EUR 10166 14310  BLAnNK PROMISSORY NOTE, PLEDGE OF MOVABLE aSSETS

OVERDRaFT CZK 39562 2799 NOCOLLaTERaL

OVERDRaFT CZK 44570 16677  BLAaNH PROMISSORY NOTE

INVESTMeNT Loan EUR 10980 - BLanH PROMISSORY NOTE, PLEDGE - MOVABLE aSSETS

OVERDRaFT CZK 70494 - NOCOLLAaTERaL

INVESTMENT LOan CZK 15842 15842 2 HBLaNH PROMISSORY NOTE

OPERATING LOAN CZK 14638 27183  PLEDGE OF IMMOVaBLE aSSETS, TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP TITLE TO MOVABLE aSSETS @S SECURITY, BLANK PROMISSORY
NOTE, RESTRICTION OF THE RIGHT OF DISPOSAL OF IMMOVABLE aSSET

[NVESTMENT LOan EUR - 20340 PLEDGE OF IMmOVaBLE aSSETS, TRANSFER OF OWNERSHIP TITLE TO MOVABLE aSSETS @S SECURITY, BLANK PROMISSORY
NOTE, RESTRICTION OF THE RIGHT OF DISPOSAL OF IMMOVaABLE 8SSET

INVESTMeENT LOan EUR 3729 3937 PLEDGE OF REAL ESTATE, BLANH PROMISSORY NOTE, RESTRICTION OF THE RIGHT OF DISPOSAL OF IMMOVABLE 8SSET

INVESTMENT LOan EUR 3552 3749  PLEDGE OF ReaL ESTaTe, BLanK PROMISSORY NOTE, PLEDGE OF RECEIVABLES aRISING FROM INSURANCE

OPERATING LOAN CZK 187026 76412 BLaNH PROMISSORY NOTE

[NVESTMENT LOan EUR 12227 12908  BLANH PROMISSORY NOTE

INVeSTMenT Loan EUR 11187 - BLanH PROMISSORY NOTE

INVESTMENT Loan EUR 6373 6730 MORTGAGE, INSURANCE SECURITY

INVESTMENT LOan EUR 3067 3239 MORTGAGe, INSURANCE SeCURITY

INVESTMENT LOan EUR 4571 4826 MORTGAGe, INSURANCE SECURITY

ToTaL 1995596 1459 965

Note: * translated from CZK to EUR as of 30 September 2019

Repayments of long-term payables to credit institutions with maturities exceeding five years amount to CZK 120,000 thousand.
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6.17. OFF BaLance SHeeT ASSeTs ano LIaBILITIES anD LeGalL DISPUTES

TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. s.

Provided Guarantees

31 December 2021
TYPe ToTaL amount BaLance at 31Dec 2021
GlUaRranrees
TO OTHER BNTITIES EUR 3,449 THOUSAND CZK 85,749 THOUSAND
31 December 2020
TYPe ToTaLamount BaLance at 31 Dec 2020
GlUaRranrees
TOOTHER enTITIeS EUR 3,249 THOUSAND CZK 85,277 THOUSAND

Received Guarantees

31 December 2021
TYPe ToTaL amount BaLance at 31Dec 2021
GUaRranrees
FROM OTHBR ENTITIES USD 52 THOUSanD CZK 1,131 THOUSanD
EUR 5,709 THOUSAND CZK 141,915 THOUSanD
CZK 86,937 THOUSAND CZK 86,937 THOUSAND
31 December 2020
TYPe ToTaL amount BaLance at 31Dec 2020
GlUaRranrees
FROM OTHBR ENTITIES USD103 THOUSanD CZK 2,204 THOUSAND
EUR 4,007 THOUSAND CZK'105,158 THOUSAND
CZK 120,697 THOUSAND CZK 120,697 THOUSAND
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As of 31 December 2021, the Company records in off-balance sheet records both promissory notes issued by the Company in favour of credit institutions
and promissory notes received, issued in favour of the Company to collateralise financial payables under the Revolving Credit Agreements.

As of 31 December 2021, the Company records in its favour a pledge on receivables as a means of collateralising financial debts under the Credit
Agreement.

Legal Disputes

Dispute initiated by certain former shareholders of the Company for reviewing the adequacy of the payments, provided by MORAVIA STEEL a.s., that belong
to former shareholders according to the resolution of the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 31 July 2013, on the transfer of the shares
of the Company owned by other shareholders to MORAVIA STEEL, a.s., as the majority shareholder. The Company is referred to as another participant in
the proceedings. Through its ruling of 8 June 2018, the Regional Court in Ostrava determined that the amount of an adequate payment per each share with
the nominal value of CZK 1,000 thousand issued by the Company is CZK 2,284. The High Court in Olomouc confirmed the above ruling on 11 September
2019 in an appeal proceedings and the ruling is final and conclusive. The Supreme Court rejected the appeal. A constitutional complaint is pending before
the Constitutional Court.

Dispute initiated by the insolvency trustee of the debtor VITKOVICE GEARWORKS a.s., regarding the ineffectiveness of the agreement on
the extinguishment of mutual obligations concluded between the Company, Strojirny a stavby Tfinec, a.s., and this debtor, based on which the
Company’s obligation to pay an amount to this debtor, the settlement of which is now being sought by the plaintiff, ceased to exist. The Regional Court
in Ostrava rejected the lawsuit. On 23 May 2018, the Head Court in Olomouc revoked the ruling of the Regional Court in Ostrava and referred the matter
back to the court for additional proceedings. Following the completion of the debtor’s restructuring, the dispute is ongoing after the insolvency trustee of
VITKOVICE POWER ENGINEERING a.s. became the new plaintiff. The Regional Court in Ostrava rejected the legal action again on 17 April 2019. The High
Court in Olomouc cancelled the judgement of the Regional Court in Ostrava on 17 December 2019 and referred the matter back to the court for further
proceedings. By the ruling of 10 February 2021, the Regional Court in Ostrava rejected the legal action. The High Court in Olomouc confirmed the above
ruling on 29 June 2021 and the ruling is final and conclusive. The appeal is pending before the Supreme Court. The result of the dispute will not have
a significant impact on the Company.

The dispute initiated by Mapfre Espafia Compariia de Seguros y Reseguros, S.A. (“Mapfre”) against the Company and against MORAVIA STEEL a.s. (“MS*)
for the payment (jointly and severally) of an amount including fees and interest, representing, as claimed by Mapfre, the damage suffered by Mapfre by
paying damages on behalf of a customer of MS caused by alleged defective performance provided by the Company and MS. By the ruling of 21 April 2021,
the District Court in Frydek-Mistek rejected the lawsuit; the ruling is final and conclusive. Therefore, the Company is not obliged to pay anything to the
claimant in this case.

—
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Environmental Liabilities
The Company was subject to an environmental audit, which highlighted the Company’s environmental obligations. Based upon the audit, the Company
entered into an agreement with the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic for the settlement of expenses involved in removing environmental
liabilities up to CZK 514 million that had arisen prior to privatisation.

Under the amendment to this contract concluded on 3 November 2008 with the Czech Republic — the Ministry of Finance, the guarantee of the Ministry
of Finance is capped at CZK 843.6 million. This guarantee covers environmental liabilities of the Company. For this reason, the Company does not create
a reserve for environmental burdens.

As of 31 December 2021, the Company used up funds in the amount of CZK 541,615 thousand (2020: CZK 540,796 thousand).

Other
In 2021 and 2020, the Company was involved in the project of the Regional Economic Chamber of the Moravian-Silesian Region through which employee
education courses are provided. The support in this project is used in the de minimis mode.

In 2020, the Company was involved in the project “Education of REGRADA members as a joint path to the region’s development”, which is co-funded by
the European Union. Education as part of the project was provided at a discounted price and the remaining costs were funded by the subsidy’s recipient,
which is the Regional Development and Cooperation Council based in Tfinec.

Other entities included in the consolidation group

ENERGETIKA TRINEC, a.s.

Collateral for payables (CZK THOUSAND)
BLaNK PROMISSORY NOTES - COLLATERAL FOR OWN OVERDRAFTS 450000 450000
BLANK PROMISSORY NOTES - COLLATERAL FOR OWN LONG-TERM LOANS 235000 235000
ToTaL 685000 685000

Other payables and receivables not discussed in the accounting and legal disputes of entities included in the consolidation croup are described in detail in
separate financial statements of these entities. These payables, receivables and legal disputes are not significant from the group’s perspective.

6.18. COVID-19

When preparing the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2021, the Company considered the impact of the coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2). The
impact is not significant and does not pose a threat to the Company’s going concern.
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7. ADDITIONAL GONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS AGCOUNT INFORMATION

7.1. InCOMe FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES anD SOLD GOODS
7.1.1. THE GROUP’S INCOME FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AND SALE OF GOODS FOR 2021

(CZKTHOUSAND)

ACTIVITIES IN-COUNTRY CROSS-BORDER ToTaL
METALLURGIC PRODUCTION 43407627 5822064 49229691
OTHER PRODUCTION 1986114 4290034 6276148
SaLe OF GOODS 43036 260960 303996
SBRVICES 773069 144296 917365
T0TaL 46209846 10517 354 56727200
7.1.2. THe GROUP’S INCOMe FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES anD SaLe OF GOODS FOR 2020 (CZK THOUSAND)
ACTIVITIES IN-COUNTRY CROSS-BORDER ToTaL
METALLURGIC PRODUCTION 34 824 857 4357370 39182 227
OTHBR PRODUCTION 1708157 3729314 5437471
5aLe OF GOODS 24343 156 424 180767
SBRVICES 730835 169 066 899901
T0TaL 37288192 8412174 45700366

—
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71.2. GRANTS anD SUBSIDIES

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company drew a subsidy for the acquisition of environmental and other investments of CZK 34,002 thousand.

In the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company drew a subsidy for the acquisition of environmental and other investments of CZK 145,969 thousand.

In 2020, ENERGETIKA TRINEC, a.s., received a subsidy for the Replacement of Compressed Air Source — Vodarna 1 project of CZK 9,300 thousand.

In 2021, Strojirny a stavby Tfinec, a.s. continued to draw a subsidy for the acquisition of fixed assets under the Enterprise and Innovations for
Competitiveness Operational Programme in the Energy Savings project in Strojirny a stavby T¥inec, a.s. in the amount of CZK 444 thousand.

In 2020, Strojirny a stavby T¥inec, a.s. received a subsidy for the acquisition of fixed assets in the Enterprise and Innovations for Competitiveness
Operational Programme in the Energy Savings project in Strojirny a stavby Tfinec, a.s. of CZK 21,836 thousand.

In 2021, BOHEMIA RINGS, s.r.o0. received an investment subsidy in the amount of CZK 321 thousand for the purchase of new energy-efficient lighting in
production halls.

In 2020, BOHEMIA RINGS s.r.o. received an investment subsidy of CZK 837 thousand for the acquisition of a new economical heating in production halls.

Subsidies for operating purposes and allowances amounting to CZK 27,188 thousand utilised in the year ended 31 December 2021 include subsidies for
research and development, a subsidy for operations of the museum, a subsidy for environmental projects, a subsidy under the “Antivirus” employment
support programme - an allowance aimed to partially compensate for payroll costs, an allowance for self-sampling COVID-19 testing.

Subsidies for operating purposes of CZK 22,733 thousand utilised in the year ended 31 December 2020 include subsidies for development, a subsidy
for operations of the museum, a subsidy for environmental projects, subsidies for professional education and the “Antivirus” employment support — an
allowance aimed to partially compensate for payroll costs.

1.3. TOTAL Remuneration CHarGeD BY THe AUDITOR (C2KTHOUSAND

Year enoeo Year enoeo

3iDecemBer2021  3iDecemser 2020

OBLIGATORY QuDIT OF THE FINGNClaL STaTements 9943 10110
OTHER dSSURANCE SERVICES 301 236
Tax abVISORY 23 b6
OTHER NON-QUDIT SERVICES 32 289
ToTaL 10588 10691
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7.4. OTHER ERPENSEes ano Income

Other operating income as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 predominantly includes the drawing of the grant for allowances of CZK 5,114,072 thousand and
CZK 2,528,885 thousand, respectively.

Other financial income in 2021 and 2020 predominantly includes foreign exchange gains of CZK 200,608 thousand and CZK 251,254 thousand,
respectively.

Other operating expenses as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 predominantly include the use of emission allowances of CZK 5,451,864 thousand and CZK
2,528,885 thousand, respectively.

Other financial expenses as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 predominantly include foreign exchange losses of CZK 174,009 thousand and CZK 237,932
thousand, respectively.

Financial gifts are reported in operating expenses. The total amount of the gifts provided in 2021 was CZK 26,503 thousand (2020: CZK 33,151 thousand).

In the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company received and reported the compensation for indirect costs associated with greenhouse gas emissions
reflected in the price of electricity for the calendar year of 2020 in the amount of CZK 203,891 thousand.

1.5. TOTAL ReSearCGH anb DeveLoPmMent COSTS (CZKTHOUSAND)

DEVELOPMENT COSTS (LESS SUBSIDIES) 38043 34029

1.6. RéLaTeD PARTY TRANSACTIONS
7.6.1. Income GeneraTen WITH RELATED PaRTIES

The income generated with related parties amounted to CZK 42,426,203 thousand in the year ended 31 December 2021 of which income generated with
MORAVIA STEEL a.s. amounted to CZK 42,138,625 thousand (2020: CZK 33,975,956 thousand of which CZK 33,882,903 thousand with MORAVIA STEEL a.s.).
All intragroup transactions were under arm’s length basis.

The income generated from profit shares received from entities in the group in the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is disclosed in Note 6.6.

7.6.2. PURCH@SeS FROM ReLaTeD PaRTIES

Total purchases from related parties amounted to CZK 35,375,712 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2021 of which CZK 31,181,115 thousand from
MORAVIA STEEL a. s. (2020: CZK 26,101,530 thousand of which CZK 23,381,215 thousand from MORAVIA STEEL a.s.). All intragroup transactions were under
arm’s length basis.
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8. EMPLOYEES, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BOARDS OF ENTITIES
IN THE GONSOLIDATION GROUP

8.1. STAFF GOSTS anb NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

31 December 2021 (CZK THOUSAND)
EMPLOYEES 11805 7398976
management 140 321030
ToTaL 11945 7720006

31 December 2020 (CZK THOUSAND)
EMPLOYEES 12063 7142927
manaGement 140 237160
T0Tal 12203 7380087

The number of employees and company management members is based on the average recalculated number of employees and company management
members.

For the purposes of these notes to the consolidated financial statements, the category of management includes the members of the Supervisory Board,
the members of the Board of Directors and professional directors. In respect of the Company, they also include managers of operations and specialised

units, plant director.
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8.2. L0@NS, BORROWINGS, anb OTHER BENEeFITS PROVIDED

The amount of other supplies provided to managers and members of the Supervisory Boards: (CZKTHOUSAND)
USE OF manaGgement Cars (THE FIGURE INCREASES THE TaK BASE OF EMPLOYEES) 11185 10149
CONTRIBUTION FOR LIFE INSURANCe 247 256
LIGBILITY INSURANCE 747 647

9. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 15 February 2022, the Company sold its 46200/51330 share in MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM s.r.0.

The Company is assessing and trying to anticipate, as far as possible, the impact of the Russian-Ukrainian conflict, particularly in the area of iron ore
supplies from Ukraine and gas. The Company is aware of a threat in this area, with the possibility of a complete disruption of such supplies and is therefore
working to expand the range of iron ore suppliers.

In view of the rapid development of the situation, the Company continuously analyses these impacts, i.e., also at the time of preparing these consolidated
financial statements, and takes measures to eliminate the risks arising from these developments. However, as of the balance sheet date, the Company
continues to meet its obligations as they fall due and therefore continues to apply the going concern basis of preparation.
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REPORT ON
ELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
-OR THE YEAR
2021

This Related Party Transactions Report between TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. s., with its registered
office at Prumyslova 1000, Staré Mésto, 739 61 Tfinec, corporate ID: 18050646, recorded in File B,
Insert 146 of the Register of Companies held by the Regional Court in Ostrava (hereinafter “TZ” or the
“Company”) and the controlling entity, and between TZ and entities controlled by the same controlling
entity has been prepared in line with Section 82 of Act No. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Companies

and Cooperatives (hereinafter the “Act on Business Corporations”) for the 2021 reporting period
(hereinafter the “reporting period”).

|. DEFINITION OF THE CONTROLLING ENTITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
AND THE STRUCTURE OF THE RELATIONS BETWEEN THESE ENTITIES

A. CONTROLLING ENTITY

MORAVIA STEEL a.s., registered office: Primyslova 1000, Staré Mésto, 739 61 T¥inec,
Corporate ID: 63474808
Relation: In the reporting period, MORAVIA STEEL a.s. was in the position of the controlling entity of TZ.

B. ENTITIES CONTROLLED BY THE SAME CONTROLLING ENTITY

Moravskoslezsky kovosrot, a.s., registered office: Bozkova 936/73, Pfivoz, 702 00 Ostrava,
Corporate ID: 26855097
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

M Steel Projects a.s., registered office: Primyslova 1000, Staré Mésto, 739 61 Tfinec,
Corporate ID: 28602331
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

Barrandov Studio a.s., registered office: Prague 5 — Hlubocepy, KfiZeneckého ndm. 322/5, 152 00,
Corporate ID: 28172469
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

—
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Beskydska golfové, a.s., registered office: no. 415, 739 61 Ropice; Corporate ID: 25352920
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MS - Slovensko s.r.0., registered office: Namestie Ludovita Stdra 2, Bratislava 811 02, Slovakia, Corporate ID: 35900601
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MORAVIA STEEL IBERIA, S.A., registered office: Campo Grande, 35 — 9. A, P-1700 Lisbon, Portugal
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MORAVIA STEEL ITALIA s.r.l1,, registered office: Corso Sempione 39, 20145 Milano, Italy,
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MORAVIA STEEL SLOVENIJA d.o.0., registered office: Valvazorjeva 14, 3000 Celje, Slovenia
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

Moravia Steel Deutschland GmbH, registered office: Cliev 19, 51515 Kiirten-Herweg, Germany
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MORAVIA STEEL UK LIMITED, registered office: 5 Bradwall Court, Bradwall Road, Sandbach, Cheshire, CW11 1 GE, UK
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MORAVIA STEEL ISRAEL Ltd., registered office: 23 Efal St., Petach Tikva 49 511, P.O.B. 3286 Israel
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

Moravia Steel Middle East FZCO, registered office: Jebel Ali Free Zone, Jafza 17, office no. 325, P.O. Box: 263224, Dubai, United Arab Emirates
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s. pursuant to Section 75 (2) of the Act on Business Corporations
(until 10 November 2021).

“NEOMET” SPOEKA Z OGRANICZONA 0DPOWIEDZIALNO§CIJ}., registered office: UL. BATALIONOW CHEOPSKICH 2, 42-680 TARNOWSKIE GORY, Poland
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MORAVIA MINING PLC, registered office: Addis Ababa, Bole 03, 5/001 - 405 A, Ethiopia
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

Kovarna VIVA a.s., registered office: Vavreckova 5333, 760 01 Zlin Corporate ID: 46978496
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL.

—
X REPORTON RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS FOR THE YEAR 2021 FINANCIALSECTION 163



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

MSV Metal Studénka, a.s., registered office: R. Toma&ka 859, 742 13 Studénka, Corporate ID: 47675942,
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

M Steel Projects, s.r.o registered office: Na Brane 8665/4, Zilina 010 01, Slovakia, previously at Vojtecha Tvrdého 793/21, Zilina 010 01, Slovakia,
Corporate ID: 46685570
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

AHP HYDRAULIKA, a.s., registered office: Vojtecha Tvrdého 793/21, Zilina 010 01, Slovakia, Corporate ID: 31563104
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MSProjects International s.r.o0., registered office at ndm. Svobody 526, LyZbice, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 03587649
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

w’x

Barrandov Productions s.r.o., registered office: Kfizeneckého ndmésti 322/5, Hlubocepy, 152 00 Prague 5, Corporate ID: 25621025
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

FILMOVA NADACE, registered office: KfiZeneckého ndmésti 322/5, Hlubo&epy, 152 00 Prague 5, Corporate ID: 27437213
Relation: The sole founder of the entity is Barrandov Studio a.s. which was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s. in the reporting period.

“MSK POLSKA” SPOEKA Z OGRANICZONA ODPOWIEDZIALNO.".:‘;CIJ-)., “in liquidation”, registered office: BATALIONOW CHEOPSKICH 2,
42-680 TARNOWSKIE GORY, Poland
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s. (until 2 November 2021).

Hotel Golf Ropice a.s., registered office: no. 415, 739 61 Ropice, Corporate ID: 27844919
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s. (until 27 August 2021 when it was dissolved due to a merger by
amalgamation with Beskydska golfov4, a.s., as the successor company.

Moravia Steel Nepremic¢nine d.o.0., registered office: Ljubljanska cesta 3A, 3000 Celje, Slovenia
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

ALPER a.s., registered office: Vrahovicka 4530, 796 01 Prosté&jov, Corporate ID: 27126226
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

MSYV Servis s.r.o0., registered office: R. Tomdaska 859, 742 13 Studénka, Corporate ID: 28607767
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.
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KUZNIA OSTROW WIELKOPOLSKI SPOEKA Z OGRANICZONA ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA registered office: WROCEAWSKA 93, 63-400,
Ostréw Wielkopolski, Poland,
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s.

B.A. Zlin, s.r.0., registered office: Vavreckova 5333, 760 01 Zlin, Corporate ID: 26301687
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s. (from 22 September 2021).

C. ENTITIES CONTROLLED BY TZ

ENERGETIKA TRINEG, a.s., registered office: Primyslova 1024, Staré Mésto, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 47675896
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Slévarny Tfinec, a.s., registered office: Primyslova 1001, Staré Mé&sto, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 25830716
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Tfinecké gastrosluzby, s.r.o., registered office: Primyslova 1035, Staré Mé&sto, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 25838148
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Doprava TZ, a.s., registered office: Tfinec-Staré Mé&sto, Primyslova 1008, 73965, Corporate ID: 25398083
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

TRIALFA, s.r.0., registered office: Tfinec-Kanada, ul. Miru 272, 73965, Corporate ID: 25839888
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Retézarna a.s., registered office: Polska 48, 790 81 Ceska Ves, Corporate ID: 47672081
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Retaze Slovakia, s.r.0., registered office: Nddrazné 30, 909 01 Skalica, Slovakia, Corporate ID: 34143483,
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

JuBo Jesenik s. r. 0., registered office: U Jatek 600/2, 790 01 Jesenik, Corporate ID: 48391514
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Retézarna servis s.r.o. registered office: U Jatek 600/2, 790 01 Jesenik, Corporate ID: 05644267
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.
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TRISIA, a.s., registered office: ndm. Svobody 526, LyZbice, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 64610152
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

REFRASIL, s.r.0., registered office: Primyslova 720, Konsk4, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 48395862
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

VUHZ a.s., registered office: Dobra 240, 739 51 Dobr4, Corporate ID: 27768953
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

MATERIALOVY A METALURGICKY VYZKUM s.r.0., registered office: Pohrani¢ni 693/31, Vitkovice, 703 00 Ostrava, Corporate ID: 25870807
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Sroubdrna Kyjov, spol. s r.o0., registered office: Jirdskova 987/50, 697 01 Kyjov, Corporate ID: 42293588
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Moravia Security, a.s., registered office: Primyslova 725, Konskd, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 27835481
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Security Morava, s.r.0., registered office: Jirdskova 987, 697 01 Kyjov, Corporate ID: 28346262
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

Strojirny a stavby T¥inec, a.s., registered office: Primyslova 1038, Staré Mésto, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 47674539
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

“METALURGIA” SPOEKA AKCYJNA, registered office: SWIETEJ ROZALII 10/12, 97-500 Radomsko, Poland
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

“ZAMECZEK BEOGOCICE” SPOEKA Z OGRANICZONA ODPOWIEDZIAI.NOQCI}}., registered office: Stefana ZEROMSKIEGO 1, 43-400 Cieszyn, Poland
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

“D&D” Drétaru Ipari és Kereskedelmi Zartkériien Mik6d8 Részvénytarsasag, registered office: Sajészigeti utca 4, 3527 Miskolc, Hungary
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

TRINECKA PROJEKCE, a.s., registered office: Miru 274, Kanada, 739 61 Tfinec, Corporate ID: 47677741
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.
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ZDB DRATOVNA a.s., registered office: Jeremenkova 66, Pudlov, 735 51 Bohumin, Corporate ID: 29400066
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ.

HZP, a.s., registered office: Dolni 3137/100, 796 01 Prosté&jov, Corporate ID: 26955342
Relation: In the reporting period the entity was controlled by TZ.

SV servisni, s.r.o0., registered office: Dolni 3137/100, 796 01 Prost&jov, Corporate ID: 60725974
Relation: In the reporting period the entity was controlled by TZ.

IMOPRA s.r.0., registered office: U Dvora 217, 687 51 Nivnice, Corporate ID: 26277697
Relation: In the reporting period the entity was controlled by TZ

BOHEMIA RINGS s.r.0., registered office: 10, 565 43 Zamrsk, Corporate ID: 49685643
Relation: In the reporting period the entity was controlled by TZ.

ELEKTROSTROJIRENSTVI TRINEC, a.s., registered office: Priimyslova 1038, Staré Mésto, 739 61 Tfinec Corporate ID: 08730377
Relation: In the reporting period the entity was controlled by TZ.

ENEZA, s.r.o., registered office: Primyslova 1021, Staré Mé&sto, 739 61 Tfinec Corporate ID: 25855344
Relation: In the reporting period, the entity was controlled by TZ (from 24 May 2021).

The registered office addresses disclosed in Chapter I have been outlined in accordance with the status as of 31 December 2021.

II. ROLE OF TZ AND THE METHODS AND MEANS OF CONTROL

In line with Chapter I, TZ’s role in the structure of transactions with its related parties involves acting as a manufacturing company, the principal business
activities of which comprise the production of metallurgical products.

TZ is directly controlled by MORAVIA STEEL a.s. (hereinafter also “MS”). In the reporting period, MS was the controlling entity of TZ and its sole shareholder
with a 100% equity investment and 100% of TZ’s voting rights. MS exercised controlling influence over TZ in its role as the sole shareholder acting in the
capacity of the General Meeting of TZ.

TZ acts as a controlling entity in relation to a part of a business group which primarily includes other manufacturing companies. TZ exercised controlling
influence over these entities that are directly controlled by TZ in its role as the majority shareholder under Sections 73 and 74 (3) of the Act on Business
Corporations, in that it used its shareholding in the voting rights of the controlled entities at their General Meetings, or that it exercised its role as the sole
owner or the sole shareholder acting in the capacity as the General Meeting of the relevant controlled entities.

—
X REPORTON RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS FOR THE YEAR 2021 FINANGIAL SECTION 167



@ TRINECKE ZELEZARNY

lII. LISTOF AGTS AND CONTRAGTS

A.LIST OF aCTS anD muTuaL CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ and THE CONTROLLING ENTITY anD BETWEEN TZ anb enTITIeS CONTROLLED BY
THE Same CONTROLLING enTITY:

a) In the reporting period, TZ recorded no acts at the initiative or in the interest of the controlling entity or entities controlled by the controlling entity
that would relate to assets exceeding 10% of the equity of TZ identified according to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 in
accordance with Section 82 (2) d) of the Act on Business Corporations.

b) The list of mutual contracts for the reporting period between TZ and the controlling entity and between TZ and entities controlled by the same
controlling entity in accordance with Section 82 (2) e) of the Act on Business Corporations, except for entities controlled by TZ under Section C Chap. 1., is
listed below in Sections B. through J. of this Chapter, i.e. a list of such contracts between TZ and

— MS is given in part B,;

- Beskydska golfova, a.s., in part C;

— Moravskoslezsky kovosrot, a.s., in part D;

— M Steel Projects a.s. in part E;

- “NEOMET” SPOEKA Z OGRANICZONA ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA in part F;

— Barrandov Studio a.s. in part G;

— MSProjects International s.r.o. in part H;

— Kovarna VIVA a.s. in part I; and

— MSV Metal Studénka, a.s., in part J.

c) Relations defined by Section 82 (2) d) and e) of the Act on Business Corporations that may have arisen in the reporting period between TZ and entities
controlled by TZ according to part C. of Chapter I., are subject to the reports on related party transactions of these entities.

d) In part C. of this Chapter, the Related Party Transactions Report also reports on any relations to Hotel Golf Ropice a.s. that was dissolved on 27 August
2021 due to a merger by amalgamation with Beskydska golfovi, a.s., as the successor company, with the effective date of 1 January 2021.
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B.LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ ano MS
B.I. PURCHASE anD SaLe OF METALLURGICAL PRODUCTS, MATeRIALS and RAW MaTerIaLs

In the reporting period, the business relations between TZ and MS concerning the purchase and sale of metallurgical products, materials and raw

materials were amended under:

— Master contract for the supply of metallurgical products of 21 December 2020; and

— Master contract for the supply of raw materials and input materials of 21 December 2020.

The individual performances are presented in the partial purchase contracts executed pursuant to the above contracts for a particular product, amount,

shape and type, the agreed upon price and performance deadline.

The agreed upon prices respect the specific features of purchases and sales in the metallurgic industry and take into account the elimination of foreign

exchange risks, the adjustment of payment conditions, and business risks.

B.2.CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATes T0 THe PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY TZ I FAVOUR OF MS

1.

w

© © N o Uk

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.

Master contract for the supply of metallurgical products of 21 December 2020 and partial contracts of purchase under this Master contract — the sale of
metallurgical products.

Licence contract for using the trademark “Three hammers in a circle” of 30 June 2002.

Service level agreement of 29 June 2018 — provision of security and asset guards, fire protection, filing office, documenting and archiving services,
forwarding and customs clearance, IT services, pricing services, payroll and HR services, dispatching management, selected technical services,
environmental protection and selected accounting services.

Lease contract of 9 March 2000 - lease of yielded premises, movable assets and lease of parking places in the area of TZ in Tfinec.

Lease contract of 1 January 2004 - lease of offices in the administration building in Bustéhrad and lease of movable assets — office equipment.
Contracts for lease of non-residential premises of 23 January 1997 — lease of garage parking in the area of TZ in Tfinec.

Contract for lease of non-residential premises of 22 July 2002 - lease of non-residential premises and the parking place in the area of TZ in Bohumin.
Lease contract of 1 January 2011 - lease of non-residential premises and movable assets in the area of TZ in Ostrava - Vitkovice.

Contract for the placement of equipment of 1 April 2011 - placement of the technology equipment for the transfer of data within the
telecommunications building in the area of TZ in Tfinec.

Contract for lease of non-residential premises of 20 December 2011 - lease of non-residential premises in a building located in Staré Mésto.
Accommodation contract of 28 April 2005 — accommodation in a building of TZ in Prague 4 — Nusle, accommodation unit no. S4.

Framework accommodation contract of 20 August 2018 — accommodation of employees on business trips in a building of TZ in Prague — Nusle.
Contract on the provision of telecommunication services of 31 December 1998.

Contract on Internet connection via the network of TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a.s., of 20 July 1999.
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15.
16.

17.

18.
19.

20.
21.
22.
23.

24,
25.

26.

217.

28.

29.

30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
30.

Consignment agreement of 13 August 2007 on representing the committer in customs proceedings - customs proceedings services.

Consignment agreement of 3 January 2005 on representing the committer in customs proceedings — customs proceedings services.

Contract on transport of employees in 2021 of 18 January 2021.

Contract on business cooperation in the supplies of rails for Dopravni podnik hl.m. Prahy, a.s., of 7 April 2016.

Master purchase contract of 30 January 2008 and partial purchase contracts concluded pursuant to this master contract — sale of goods

from inventory.

Master purchase contract of 17 June 2020 and partial purchase contracts concluded pursuant to this master contract — sale of goods from inventory.
Contract on the provision of services of 11 August 2003 - services related to smart cards.

Assignment contract on representation in customs proceedings of 19 July 2017.

Contract on business cooperation in the supplies for the public tender “Rail supplies — R260 steel class for investment events (CNM II)”

of 10 October 2018.

Contract of mandate of 29 June 2011 - dealing with issues related to the supervision of the transfer of goods between the EU Member States.
Contract on business cooperation in the supplies for the public tender “Rolled track fastenings 2019-2021" for Sprava zelezni¢ni dopravni cesty, state
organisation, of 10 June 2019.

Contract on business cooperation in the supplies for the public tender “Flat steel spliced bars 2019” for Sprava Zelezni¢ni dopravni cesty, state
organisation, of 10 June 2019.

Contract on business cooperation in the supplies for the public tender “Flat steel spliced bars 2021” for Sprava Zeleznic, state organisation, of 1 April
2021.

Contract on business cooperation in the supplies for the public tender “Rail supplies — R260 steel class” for Sprava Zelezni¢ni dopravni cesty, state
organisation, of 27 February 2019.

Contract on business cooperation in the supplies for the public tender “Rail supplies — R260 steel class” for Sprava Zeleznic, state organisation,

of 6 April 2021.

Contract on business cooperation in the supplies of track fastenings for Zeleznice Slovenské republiky of 6 April 2021.

Contract on the supply of the Tfinecky hutnik weekly in 2021 of 19 January 2021.

Contract on securing bus transport for convalescence stays of 10 September 2021.

Contract on project counselling of 28 June 2019.

Contract on receipt of products of 11 February 2021.

Contract on supply of fire extinguishers of 10 September 2021.

Contracts of 4 December 2020 and 26 November 2021 - technical norms and related services.

Contracts of 21 December 2020 and 7 December 2021 — Hospodaiské noviny and other press.

Contracts of 4 December 2020 and 13 December 2021 - services related to the handling of the postal agenda.

Contracts of 29 March 2021 and 25 March 2021 - supplies of material.
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B.3.CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATes T0 THe PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY MS IN FaVOUR OF TZ

1.

© © N o Uk

Master contract on the supply of raw and input materials of 21 December 2020 and partial purchase contracts based on this master contract — purchase
of raw materials and materials.

Master contract on the conditions of the freight transportation of goods of 8 August 2019 and partial contracts concluded based on this master contract
— securing the transportation of goods and acts necessary for such transportation.

Contracts of mandate of 8 August 2019 — handling business affairs related to the purchase of work and services, technical and overhead material,
spare parts, metallic waste and fuel.

Master purchase contract of 6 January 2014 and partial purchase contracts concluded in line with this master contract — supplies of advertising items.
Contract for the provision of invoicing services of 1 January 2017.

Framework agreement on conditions for the settlement of selected costs of 8 June 2018 and partial contracts based on this master contract.

Contract on the conditions of cooperation for the re-sale of packaging material of 4 September 2018.

Contracts on securing samples transfer of 29 January 2021 and 27 May 2021.

Contracts on securing transfer of 9 December 2020 and 8 February 2021.

10. Mandate contract of 16 June 2020 — purchase of fluidised lime.

B.4. 0THER CONTRACTS

1.

oW N

Agreement on the method of payment of trade payables dated 17 December 2008.
Agreement on publishing contracts pursuant to Act No. 340/2015 Coll., of 9 May 2017.
Agreement on mutual rights and obligations of VAT Group members of 3 January 2017.
Agreement on electronic approval and conclusion of contracts of 28 February 2018.
Approval of concluding contracts on electronic invoicing of 1 April 2019.

C.LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ anD BESHYDSKA GOLFOVA, a.S.
C.I. CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELaTeS T0 THEe PROVISION OF PRODUCTS ann/oOR SERVICES BY TZ IN FAVOUR OF BESHYDSHA GULFU\IE’], d.S.

1.

oo E W

Contract on the maintenance of network and telecommunication devices of 5 January 2021.

Contract on the provision of services of 29 June 2018 - filing office, IT and HR services.

Contract on the provision of access to Internet services via the network of TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a.s. of 31 July 2009.

Master purchase contract on the supply of goods from inventory of 27 October 2020 and partial purchase contracts based on this master contract.
Contract of 25 January 2021 - recipient’s card for receiving postal items.

Contract on the provision of services of 29 June 2018 - filing office. On 27 August 2021, the rights and obligations under this contract were transferred
from Hotel Golf Ropice a.s. to Beskydska golfova, a.s. due to a merger by amalgamation.
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C.2.CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATES TO THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY BESHYDSHA GOLFOVA, @.S. IN FaVOUR OF TZ
1. Advertising contract for 2021 of 28 December 2020.
2. Lease contract of 31 May 2006 — lease of an apartment in the clubhouse located at the golf course Ropice.

C.3. 0THEeR CONTRACTS

1. Memorandum of understanding of 27 March 2020.

2. Agreement on the electronic approval and conclusion of contracts of 28 February 2018.

3. Agreement on electronic invoicing of 20 March 2019.

4. Agreement on the electronic approval and conclusion of contracts of 28 February 2018. On 27 August 2021, the rights and obligations under this
contract were transferred from Hotel Golf Ropice a.s. to Beskydska golfov4, a.s. due to a merger by amalgamation.

D. LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ anD MORAVSKOSLEZSKY KOVOSROT, ..
D.1. CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATES T0 THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY TZ IN FAVOUR OF MORAVSHOSLEZSKY KOVOSROT, a.S.

1. Lease contract of 10 June 2013 - lease of scrap yard and non-residential premises in a building in T¥inec.

2. Master contract of 4 January 2010 and partial contracts concluded pursuant to this master contract — sale of waste.

3. Contract on takeover, utilisation or removal of waste of 11 January 2021 - iron metal filings and chips.

4. Contract on takeover, utilisation or removal of waste of 11 January 2021 - iron and steel.

5. Contracts on services related to the supply of scrap — verification of the chemical composition, transfer, weighing and placement of vehicles based on
the master contract on the supplies of metal waste of 7 January 2015.

6. Contract on the provision of access to Internet network services of 18 October 2018.

7. Service level agreement of 10 October 2018.

D.2.CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATES T0 THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS ann/OR SERVICES BY MORAVSKOSLEZSHY HOVOSROT, @.S. IN FAVOUR OF TZ

1. Master contract on the supplies of metal waste of 7 January 2015 and partial purchase contracts concluded pursuant to this master contract.

D.3.0THER CONTRACTS

1. Agreement on electronic invoicing of 29 April 2014 — invoices issued by Moravskoslezsky kovosrot, a.s.
2. Agreement on electronic invoicing of 28 June 2021 - invoices issued by TZ.
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E. LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN T2 and M STEEL PROJECTS a.S.
E.I. CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATES T0 THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY TZ IN FAVOUR OF M STEEL PROJECTS a.S.

Lease contract of 1 October 2010 — lease of non-residential premises and movable assets in the area of TZ in T¥inec.

Contract on the provision of services of 29 June 2018 - filing office services, IT services, asset security and protection and road maintenance.
Contract on postal services in 2021 of 11 January 2021.

Mandate contract of 30 December 2009 - procurement of matters related to customs clearance.

Contract on the provision of access to internet services through the computer network of TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a.s., of 15 March 2016.
Framework accommodation agreement of 25 July 2018.

N oE wDN P

Consignment agreement on representation in customs proceedings of 9 July 2021.

E.2. OTHER CONTRACTS

1. Agreement on the electronic approval on conclusion of contracts of 28 February 2018.
2. Agreement on electronic invoicing of 11 May 2021.

F.LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ anD “NEOMET” SPO£KA Z 0GRANICZONA 0DPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA

F1.CONTRACT THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATES T0 THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY TZ IN FAVOUR OF “NEOMET” SPOLKA Z 0GRANICZONA
ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA

1. Contracts on services related to the supply of scrap — verification of the chemical composition, transfer, weighing and placement of vehicles based on
the master contract on the supplies of metal waste of 7 January 2015.

F.2. CONTRACT THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATEs T0 THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY “NEOMET” SPOLKA Z 0GRANIGZONA ODPOWIEDZIALNOSCIA IN
FAaVvOUR OF TZ

1. Master contract on the conditions of supplies of scrap waste dated 7 January 2015 and other partial contracts concluded pursuant to this master
contract.

F.3. 0THER CONTRACTS

1. Agreement on electronic invoicing of 17 June 2014.
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G.LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ anD BaRRANDOV STUDIO a.S.
G.I. CONTRACT THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATES TO THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS aND/OR SERVICES BY TZ IN FAVOUR OF BARRANDOV STUDIO a.S.

1. Contract on the provision of services of 29 June 2018 - IT services.

H. LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ anb MSPROJECTS INTERNATIONAL S.R.0.
H.1. CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATES TO THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY TZ IN FAVOUR OF MSPROJECTS INTERNATIONAL S.R.0.

1. Contract on the provision of services of 29 June 2018 - filing office services.
2. Contract on the provision of services — recipient’s card for 2021.

H.2. 0THER CONTRACTS

1. Agreement on the electronic approval on conclusion of contracts of 28 February 2018.
2. Agreement on electronic invoicing of 11 May 2021.

1. LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ anD KOVARNA VIVA .S.
1. CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RELATES TO THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY TZ IN FAVOUR OF KOVARNA VIVA4.S.

1. Contract on the provision of access to the Internet network services of 23 July 2018.

2. Service level agreement of 1 October 2018.

3. Contracts on the provision of services of 28 January 2021, 7 May 2021, 26 May 2021, 25 June 2021, 30 November 2021 - verification of the chemical
composition and diagnostic measurement.

4. Contract on the provision of software of 23 December 2019.

J.LIST OF CONTRACTS BETWEEN TZ anD MSV MeTaL STUDENH, a.S.
J.1. CONTRACTS THE SUBJECT OF WHICH RBLATES TO THE PROVISION OF PRODUCTS anD/OR SERVICES BY TZ IN FAVOUR OF MSV METAL STUDENKA, a.8.

1. Contract of 1 September 2021 — monitoring of employees on sick leave.
2. Contract of 16 December 2020 - supply of material.
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V. ASSESSMENT OF RELATIONS

This Related Party Transactions Report lists all significant facts that are requirements of the Related Party Transactions Report, covering the relations
between TZ and the entity that controls it, and between TZ and entities controlled by the same controlling entity in accordance with Section 82 of the Act
on Business Corporations.

Performances and counter-performances received and provided by TZ on the basis of contracts listed in parts B. through J. of Part IIL. of this Related Party
Transactions Report, were provided under standard business conditions.

The prices agreed between TZ and the controlling entity and between TZ and entities controlled by the same controlling entity do not differ from prices
that would be agreed by independent entities; the transactions between TZ and the controlling entity and between TZ and entities controlled by the same
controlling entity are conducted under the arm’s length principle.

TZ considers the relations with the controlling entity and entities controlled by the same controlling entity as beneficial and TZ faces no other risks than
standard market risks arising from business in relevant sectors due to these relations.

TZ incurred no detriment from relations with the controlling entity and entities controlled by the same controlling entity in the reporting period.

In Tfinec on 1 March 2022

Jan Czudek Radomira Pekarkova
Chairman of the Board of Directors Member of the Board of Directors
TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. s. TRINECKE ZELEZARNY, a. s.
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